# CERTIFICATO DI FIRMA DIGITALE

Si certifica che questo documento informatico

## phd\_unisi\_093827.pdf

composto da nº48pagine

È stato firmato digitalmente in data odierna con Firma Elettronica Qualificata (FEQ), avente l'efficacia e gli effetti giuridici equivalenti a quelli di una firma autografa, ai sensi dell'art. 2702 del Codice Civile e dell'art. 25 del Regolamento UE n. 910/2014 eIDAS (electronic IDentification Authentication and Signature).

## PROCESSI INFORMATICI COMPLETATI

- Apposizione di Firma Elettronica Qualificata Remota emessa da Intesi Group S.p.A. in qualità di prestatore di servizi fiduciari qualificati autorizzato da AgID, per garantire con certezza l'autenticità, l'integrità, il non ripudio e l'immodificabilità del documento informatico e la sua riconducibilità in maniera manifesta e inequivoca all'autore, ai sensi dell'art. 20 comma 2 del CAD - D.lgs 82/2005.
- Apposizione di Marca Temporale Qualificata emessa da Intesi Group S.p.A. in qualità di prestatore di servizi fiduciari qualificati autorizzato da AgID, per attribuire una data e un orario opponibile a terzi, ai sensi dell'art. 20 comma 3 del CAD - D.lgs 82/2005 e per far sì che la Firma Elettronica Qualificata apposta su questo documento informatico, risulti comunque valida per i prossimi 20 anni a partire dalla data odierna, anche nel caso in cui il relativo certificato risultasse scaduto, sospeso o revocato.
- Apposizione di Contrassegno Elettronico, l'unica soluzione tecnologica che permette di prorogare la validità giuridica di un documento informatico sottoscritto con firma digitale e/o marcato temporalmente, rendendolo inalterabile, certo e non falsificabile, una volta stampato su supporto cartaceo, ai sensi dell'art. 23 del CAD - D.lgs 82/2005.



Per risalire all'originale informatico è necessario scansionare il Contrassegno Elettronico, utilizzando l'applicazione HONOS, disponibile per dispositivi Android e iOS.



# UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI SIENA DIPARTIMENTO DI BIOTECNOLOGIE, CHIMICA E FARMACIA

# DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN CHEMICAL AND PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES XXXV° CICLO

Coordinatore del corso: Prof. Maurizio Taddei

## ROLE OF LIPOOLIGOSACCHARIDE IN *NEISSERIA* GONORRHOEAE IMMUNE RESPONSE

Settore scientifico-disciplinare: CHIM/02

Candidata

Rossella Cuffaro

Supervisore Prof. Alessandro Donati Università di Siena

Co-supervisori Dott.ssa Maria R. Romano GSK Vaccines Dott. Filippo Carboni GSK Vaccines

ANNO ACCADEMICO 2021/2022

#### Abstract

In 2017, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (*Ng*) was listed by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a high-priority pathogen for which new therapeutics and prophylactic tools are urgently needed. In this panorama, renewed interest has been directed towards the development of GMMA- or OMV-based vaccines. GMMA (Generalized Module for Membrane Antigens) are outer membrane vesicles (OMV) shed from a strain genetically designed with different aims; among them, removing or reducing the expression of undesired antigens as in the case of lipopolysaccharide or lipooligosaccharide (LPS/LOS) removal to decrease the GMMA reactogenicity. Moreover, GMMA can be exploited for the expression new antigens and/or to enhance the expression of desired ones, as well as to increase the release of vesicles, thus improving the production yield.

Lipooligosaccharide (LOS) is the most abundant antigen on the gonococcal membrane and plays a crucial role in pathogenesis being involved in bacterial adhesion to human cells and serum resistance. Moreover, antibody responses to LOS can mediate complement activation and bactericidal and opsonic activity. Despite these promising properties, the heterogeneity of LOS structures remains a challenge. Indeed, the glycan extensions of LOS oligosaccharide chains are determined by the expression of glycosyltransferases, some of which encoded by phase variable genes (*lgtA*, *lgtC*, *lgtD*, and *lgtG*). Therefore, the impact of different LOS epitopes expressed on a GMMA-based vaccine on functional immunogenicity requires further examination.

In this study, GMMA derived from a mutant strain (FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$ ) engineered to express a highly truncated LOS have been tested *in vivo*. The resulting mouse sera showed low or negative bactericidal (hSBA) activity for the majority of tested strains, suggesting a role for anti-LOS antibodies in the hSBA functional response. Indeed, the corresponding GMMA from the parental isogenic strain having a functional *lgtF* gene, are able to elicit a functional response, thus confirming LOS truncation is abolishing the response. In addition, a library of 8 gonococcal MS11 isogenic mutant strains suitably engineered to express distinct LOS structures was used to dissect the contribution of the different LOS epitopes on GMMA immunogenicity. Competitive hSBA experiments and *in vivo* mice studies highlighted a direct correlation between the LOS  $\alpha$ -chain structure and GMMA-mediated cross-functional activity.

Moreover, to investigate the role of LOS in the absence of other antigens, liposomes formulated *ad hoc* to mimic a GMMA membrane have been exploited as *naked* LOS carriers. The crucial role of anti-LOS antibodies in the functional response was confirmed by immunizing mice with the liposome-LOS vaccine and performing hSBA on the derived sera.

In conclusion, data indicated that GMMA-mediated cross-strain bactericidal antibody responses were referable to LOS epitopes contained in the long  $\alpha$ -chain with respect to shorter  $\alpha$ -chains, while the presence of a  $\beta$ -chain was shown to be dispensable. Furthermore, elicited functional activity was maintained by testing liposomes as LOS carriers, suggesting that LOS an important role in the elicitation of functional antibodies following GMMA immunization. Furthermore, this result underlines the importance of further exploring these lipid-based vesicles as carriers to deliver anti-gonococcal antigens and, hence, paves the way towards the design of new strategies to develop or improve vaccines against this concerning anti-microbial resistant pathogen.

II

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIS	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS VI		
INT	RODUCTION	1	
I.1	Bacteria and Immune System: General Principles of Vaccination	1	
I.2	Infectious Diseases: AMR and the Importance of Vaccines	5	
I.3	Gonococcal Disease: Natural History, Epidemiology and Antimicrobial Resistance	9	
I.4	Neisseria Species And Neisseria gonorrhoeae	12	
I.4.1	Gonococcal antigens and major virulence factors	13	
I.4.2	Pathogenesis of gonococcal disease	16	
I.4.3	Interactions with host innate immune system	18	
I.5	Gonococcal Lipooligosaccharide	22	
I.5.1	Relevance of LOS epitopes as potential antigenic target	26	
I.5.2	Gonococcal LOS sialylation	29	
I.6 Vac	Current Status of <i>Neisseria gonorrhoeae</i> Vaccines: Feasibility, Promising Antigen and cine Technologies Approaches	34	
I.7	Promising Vaccine Technology for Development of a Neisseria gonorrhoeae Vaccine	40	
I.7.1	OMV and GMMA technology	40	
I.7.2	Liposomes	43	
CH	APTER 1	48	
1.1	Aim of the Study	48	
1.2	Materials and Methods	50	
1.2.1	Bacterial strains	50	
1.2.2	2 GMMA Production and Purification	56	
1.2.3	GMMA characterization and LOS quantification	57	
1.2.4	LOS extraction, physicochemical and immunochemical characterization	58	
1.2.5	in vivo studies and functional assays	61	
1.3	Results	64	
1.3.1	Development of physicochemical and immunochemical techniques for LOS characterization	64	
1.3.2	2 Importance of the variable oligosaccharide moiety on the gonococcal GMMA immunogenicity	73	
1.3.3 gonc	Evaluation of the impact of $\alpha$ -chain length on the elicitation of functional bactericidal titers by becoccal GMMA	82	
1.4	Discussion	94	

Ш

CHAPTER 2	
2.1 Aim of the Study	97
2.2 Materials and Methods	
2.2.1 LOS extraction and Western Blot	99
2.2.2 Preparation of LOS-liposomes	99
2.2.3 Liposome characterization	100
2.2.4 In vivo studies and functional assays	101
2.3 Results	102
2.3.1 Liposome as <i>naked</i> carrier: LOS exposed in an antigen-free delivery system	102
2.4 Discussion	112
CONCLUSIONS	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
DISCLAIMER	

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	Antibody
Alum-OH	Alum hydroxide
AMR	Antimicrobial Resistance
BCA	Bicinchoninic Acid Assay
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CDC	Centers for Disease Control
CFU	Colony-Forming Unit
cmR	Chloramphenicol resistance
DLS	Dynamic Light Scattering
DMPC	1,2-dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
DMPE-	1,2-dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-methoxy-polyethylene
mPEG2000	glycol-2000
DMPG	1,2-dimyristoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoglycerol
DMSO	Dimethlyl sulfoxide
DPBS	Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline
FFR	Flow Rate Ratio
GMMA	Generalized Modules for Membrane Antigens
Нер	Heptose
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
hSBA	Human Serum Bactericidal Assay
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
kanR	Kanamycin resistance cassette
KDO	2-keto-3-deoxy-mannooctulosonic acid
КО	Knock-out
LNnT	Lacto-N-neotetraose
LOS	Lipooligosaccharide
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MADLS	Multi angle dynamic light scattering
MW	Molecular weight
Ng	Neisseria gonorrhoeae
NHS	Normal human serum
Nm	Neisseria meningitidis
	Outer membrane
	Oligosaccharide
PANIP	Painogen-associated molecular pattern
PBS	Phosphale-bullered same
PDI DEC	Polyalspersity index
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
	Paduction modifiable protein
	Somicorbazida
SDS DACE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamida gal alastropharasia
SDS-FAGE SF HDI C	Sourium douceyr sunate-poryaer ylannue ger electrophoresis
SUV or I UV	Small or large unilamellar vesicle
TEM	Transmission electron microscony

TFR	Total flow rate
WB	Western blot
WHO	World Health Organization
WT	Wild-type
xg	Units of gravity

#### INTRODUCTION

#### I.1 Bacteria and immune system: general principles of vaccination

Bacterial pathogens are responsible for an enormous variety of infectious diseases. Bacteria are unicellular prokaryotic organisms of a few micrometers in length, composed of a plasma membrane and a semipermeable barrier consisting of phospholipids and proteins surrounding the cytoplasm. The cell wall forms a rigid structure around the plasma membrane, providing structural support and protection, and establishing the characteristic shape of the cell (rod, coccus, or spiral). The peculiarity of bacteria is the presence of an external dense carbohydrate coating called *glycocalyx*, which makes bacteria resistant to phagocytes and delays the protective action of specific immunological systems. Cell surface polysaccharides are polymers formed from a single monosaccharide unit (homopolymers) or more complex repetitions of oligosaccharides (heteropolymers). These polysaccharides can be charged or neutral, covalently linked to proteins or lipids to form *glycoproteins* and *glycolipids* respectively. [1]

Based on their ability to react to the staining method developed by Christian Gram in 1884, bacteria are divided into two classes: *Gram-positive* and *Gram-negative*. [2] Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria are characterized by different cell wall structures, as shown in **Figure I.1**. [3]



**Figure I.1.** Schematic representation of the cell envelope of gram-negative (*on the right*) and gram-positive (*on the left*) bacteria. [3]

The gram-negative bacterial envelope is composed of an outer membrane, containing lipopolysaccharides, lipoproteins and phospholipids; a peptidoglycan-containing compartment called *periplasm*; and an internal membrane. The peptidoglycan is a polymer consisting of alternate units of

*N*-acetylglucosamine and *N*-acetylmuramic acid. Gram-positive bacterial cell walls are characterized by the presence of a relatively thick carbohydrate outer surface layer, generally consisting of a capsule, which plays a key role in many molecular recognition processes.

The immune system is an important defense mechanism for our organism, capable of recognizing infected cells (*non-self*) from the healthy cells (*self*) and triggering an immune response against them. A foreign substance that is recognized as dangerous and capable of triggering an immune response is known as *antigen*. Immune responses can be distinguished into innate and adaptive immunity. The first recognizes pathogens in a rapid and non-specific manner and can be considered the first line of defense. The latter is delayed but directed against a specific antigen involving the participation of different types of cells called lymphocytes, which belong to leukocyte class.

Adaptive immunity is characterized by some advantages: specificity and diversity in the recognition of antigens, owing to the production of specialized lymphocytes and specific antibodies, and the ability to discriminate between *self* and *non-self* cells and to remember antigens that have already been encountered. The practice of vaccination is based on the potential of adaptive immunity. It is based on the principle that exposure to a disease-causing microorganism, or to a portion of it, creates pathogen-specific cells; when infections are resolved, some of these cells survive in the body to form immunological memory ready to attack the same pathogen rapidly and more efficiently when it is encountered a second time. Vaccination mimics natural infection without causing the related diseases. Vaccine-induced immune effectors are called *antibodies*; they are produced by B lymphocytes and are capable of recognizing and specifically binding to a toxin or a pathogen (or to a portion representative of it).

The main factors responsible for the immune response are B and T lymphocytes. Both have a plasma membrane surrounded by receptors recognizing specific antigens. When cell-antigen interactions occur, B lymphocytes generate plasma cells and secrete specific antibodies against a particular antigen, therefore B lymphocytes are responsible for the humoral response. T-lymphocytes produce T-cytotoxic and T-helper cells, which are involved in both humoral and cell-mediated immunity. These two lymphocyte types cooperate in a process that leads to the formation of memory B cells. When a second exposure to the same antigen occurs, memory B cells generate specific antibodies with combinatory sites capable of binding the structural-complementary antigens. They usually recognize only a small superficial part of the molecule, called *epitope*.

The activation of B cells to create memory B cells requires the participation of macrophages or Thelper cells, and it can be stimulated only by T-dependent antigens, such as proteins. Protein antigens interact with antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as dendritic cells, macrophages, and B cells, and are then internalized. After being processed, they are re-exposed as small peptides and presented to T lymphocytes in association with Major Histocompatibility Complex class II (MHC II) molecules. Interaction with T cells induces B cells to differentiate into plasma cells and memory B cells, thus initiating downstream adaptive immune responses. T-dependent antigens are immunogenic in infancy and the induced immune response can be boosted enhanced by adjuvants, and it is characterized by an antibody class switch with production of antigen-specific IgG.

On the other hand, the long polysaccharide chains found in the bacterial capsule are T-cell independent antigens and do not require T-cell activation for the induction of specific B-cell responses. T-independent antigens can provoke humoral immunological responses without the collaboration of macrophages or T helper cells; therefore, the memory B cells formation does not occur. In general, the antibody response to bacterial polysaccharides is poorly affected by adjuvants. IgM represents the major class of elicited antibodies and, since this type of immune response does not induce memory, it is not boosted by subsequent immunizations. Moreover, a pre-existing memory B-cell pool can be depleted by immunization with unconjugated polysaccharides, with the risk of hypo-responsiveness on subsequent immunizations. [4] However, polysaccharides can be covalently linked to carrier proteins that are used as sources of T-cell epitopes. The resulting glycoconjugates bind to the B-cell receptor specific to the polysaccharide and are transported into the endosomes. Once inside the cell, the protein portion is digested by proteases to release peptide epitopes, which are exposed on the surface in association with MHC II and presented to the  $\alpha\beta$  receptor of CD4+ Tcells. Peptide/MHC II-activated T-cells release cytokines to stimulate B-cell maturation into memory cells and induce immunoglobulin class switching from IgM to polysaccharide-specific IgG, resulting in the production of large amounts of high-affinity IgG antibodies upon exposure to the same carbohydrate antigen. Consequently, immunization with glycoconjugates induces long-lasting protection against encapsulated bacteria, even in infants and people in high-risk groups. [4] Furthermore, the immune response against glycoconjugates is boosted by subsequent vaccinations. (Figure I.2)



**Figure I.2.** The immune response to polysaccharide (A) and protein–polysaccharide conjugate (glycoconjugate) vaccines (B). Polysaccharides stimulate B cells by cross-linking the B-cell receptor (BCR) leading to production of antibodies. This process results in a lack of production of new memory B cells. On the other side, the protein in the glycoconjugate vaccines is processed by the polysaccharide-specific B cell, and peptides are presented to carrier-peptide-specific T cells, resulting in T-cell help for the production of both plasma cells and memory B cells (Figure created with Biorender.com, adapted from Pollard *et al.*, 2009). [5]

Immunity to infectious agents can be achieved *via* active or passive immunization. This means that it can be acquired either by natural processes, such as the transfer from mother to fetus or previous infections, or by artificial processes, when there is a risk of infection and antibodies are administered because the body does not have time to develop its own immune response. Passive immunization is short-term because the antibodies are naturally decomposed. Active immunization results in immunological memory and can be achieved by infection with a microorganism or acquired by administration of a vaccine. Generally, this is a long-term response as leads to the formation of memory B cells.

#### I.2 Infectious diseases: AMR and the importance of vaccines

Despite enormous progress achieved in modern medicine, numerous diseases still have a profound impact on public health. Among them, infectious diseases are currently a leading cause of death worldwide.

They are generated by pathogenic microorganisms such as viruses, parasites, fungi or bacteria. These pathogens enter the host humans and animals, where they can produce disease symptoms through a variety of mechanisms.

Infectious diseases are communicable diseases, those diseases that can be spread directly or indirectly from one individual to another. Before the development and introduction of effective preventive and therapeutic strategies, life expectancy was estimated to be <50 years and infectious diseases were highly responsible for this limit. In the last century, this number has increased considerably, and this result has been achieved primarily by improving hygiene and with the use of antibiotics and vaccines. These measures have represented the most effective medical interventions to reduce death burden caused by infectious diseases. [6, 7]

The discovery in 1928 by Alexander Fleming of a substance isolated from the mold Penicillium notatum, defined as benzylpenicillin (penicillin G), gave rise to the "golden era" of antibiotics (1945-1960). [8] Since then, antimicrobials have enabled the treatment of potentially life-threatening infectious diseases, saving millions of lives every year and improving the health of many patients worldwide. Unfortunately, only a decade later, in 1940, the first case of a penicillin resistant E. coli strain was documented and by the late 1960s over 80% of S. aureus strains acquired the same resistance. [9-11] In fact, pathogens have shown to quickly acquire resistance phenotypes after only few years from the introduction of new antibiotics and the rising number and global distribution of drug-resistant pathogens is nowadays one of the major health challenges, compromising the ability to prevent and cure a wide range of infectious diseases that were once treatable. [12] The emergence of the antimicrobial resistance (AMR) results in drug inefficiency and persistent infections, leading to a high risk of severe disease and transmission. AMR is an ancient and natural mechanism developed by microorganisms as a defense against antimicrobials and chemicals present in the environment that are produced by other microorganisms, however, the overuse and misuse of antimicrobials in different areas, including the hospital and the agricultural settings, has greatly accelerated the spread of new resistance mechanisms. [12, 13]

AMR has become an endemic and widespread problem especially in low and medium income countries but also in high-income countries, with more than 2.8 million antibiotic-resistant infections

occurring in the U.S. each year and more than 35,000 deaths as a result, according to CDC's 2019 Antibiotic Resistance (AR) Threats Report. [14]

Moreover, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, this condition has worsened during the Covid-19 pandemic. Covid-19 has led to increased hospitalization, including mechanical ventilation, and extended duration of stay, thus highly increasing the risk of acquiring AMR infections. Bacterial coinfections and secondary infections following Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) disease have been reported and a recent study from India shows that co-infection rates are higher and are leading to increased mortality. [15] Moreover, many bacterial and fungal infections were potentially undiagnosed and/or untreated because of the Covid-19 pandemic, leading to a tremendous slowing in the detection and reporting of AMR data.

This may have been the case for sexually transmitted infections such as gonorrhea. This disease, if left undetected and untreated can cause serious health complications and can continue circulating in a community, thus increasing the chances of developing resistance to the available treatments. [16] In the past few years, enormous efforts have been made to highlight AMR as an urgent global health threat. The Review on Antimicrobial Resistance, commissioned by the UK Government, has declared that, by 2050, 10 million people could die every year from drug-resistant infections, and World Health Organization (WHO), together with numerous researchers, agree that AMR burden is an urgent issue requiring a global action plan to tackle. [14, 17, 18]

The development of preventative therapies, including more efficient vaccines, novel antibiotics, and treatments, together with innovative diagnostic tools, is required to effectively combat the spread of AMR and all other associated drawbacks. In particular, vaccination plays a central role in the fight against AMR and is considered by the World Health Organization to be the most cost-effective strategy for controlling infectious diseases, as it should confer long-term protective immunity in the population. By acting as prophylactic tools, vaccines are able to prevent or reduce the number of infectious diseases, both mitigating severe consequences and also decreasing antibiotic use with the potential to diminish the emergence of AMR. Furthermore, if sufficient vaccine coverage is achieved in a population, vaccination may lead to indirect protection (*herd immunity*) further preventing the spread of resistant strains. In fact, vaccines have been used for decades with a much lower probability of resistance emergence compared with antibiotics, due to their intrinsic mechanism of action (**Figure 1.3**). [19]



**Figure I.3.** Effects of vaccination on AMR. The spreading of AMR pathogens can lead to ineffectiveness of the treatment with first-line antibiotics. Second-line antibiotics are often required to resolve the infection, possibly leading to AMR isolates resistance to them (A). Vaccines could prevent or reduce the incidence of diseases, thus reducing the use of antibiotics (both first-line and second-line drugs). If sufficient vaccine coverage is achieved in a population, indirect protection (herd immunity) further prevents spread of AMR strains. (Figure created with Biorender.com, adapted from Micoli *et al.*, 2021). [12]

In this panorama, although vaccination represents an unquestionable solution against disease, preventing 700 million of cases and more than 150 million of deaths during the last century [20], other tools such as monoclonal antibodies, bacteriophages, microbiota targeting and innovative diagnostic tools are emerging strategies that can complement vaccines in the fight against AMR.

# I.3 Gonococcal disease: natural history, epidemiology and antimicrobial resistance

In AMR panorama, gonococcal disease represents one of the most serious challenges. In 2017, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, the etiological agent of the gonorrhea disease, have been listed by the WHO as high priority pathogen for the research and development of new antimicrobial and vaccines. [21] According to the WHO, about one million new cases of sexually transmitted infections occur every day worldwide and approximately 87 million of people were diagnosed with gonorrhea out of the 376 million globally reported cases of sexually transmitted infections (STIs; including chlamydia, gonorrhea, syphilis and trichomoniasis) that occurred among 15–49-year-olds in 2016 (**Figure I.4**). [22] Gonorrhea is the second most reported bacterial STI in the United States, just behind Chlamydia, and often these infections happen together. [23]



**Figure I.4.** Estimated new global cases (in millions) of gonorrhea in adults (15–49 years of age) in 2016 by WHO region. The highest incidence was in the African region, while the lower in the region of Europe. The World Bank Income Classification is also shown (Figure from Unemo *et al.*, 2019). [24]

The epidemiological surveillance of Gonococcus highlighted the variability of the geographical distribution in the rates of reported gonorrhea cases, with differences related to several factors,

including socioeconomic conditions, access to sexual education and prevention measures, but also gender, sexuality and ethnicity disparities. [24] Furthermore, it is important to consider that the rates of gonorrhea are likely to be underestimated due to the high frequency of asymptomatic infections and to incomplete reporting, especially during the Covid-19 pandemic. [15]

One of the main challenges related to *N. gonorrhoeae* is the rapid development of resistance to antibiotics. Indeed, antibiotics have been tremendously successful for treating gonorrhea, but treatment is now severely compromised by the emergence of strains resistant to all the available antibiotic treatments. In 2020, about half of all infections were estimated to be resistant to at least one antibiotic. [23] Based on isolates collected in the Gonococcal Isolate Surveillance Project (GISP), since 2010, almost all gonococcal circulating strains in the United States have remained susceptible to ceftriaxone, the primary treatment for gonorrhea; only 0.1% of isolates displayed elevated ceftriaxone minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) in 2020. In 2020, 5.8% of the isolates showed elevated azithromycin MICs (**Figure I.5**). [23]



**Figure I.5.** *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* percentage of isolates with elevated Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs) to Azithromycin, Cefixime, and Ceftriaxone during 2011-2020 (Figure from Gonococcal Isolate Surveillance Project (GISP), 2011–2020). [23]

In 1990, the WHO established a worldwide surveillance laboratory network, the WHO Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Programme (GASP), which has been collecting data on gonococcal antimicrobial susceptibility since that time. However, since several factors limited the GASP data collection, such as variability in sampling strategies, laboratory techniques and interpretative criteria, recently an innovative project, the Enhanced Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Programme

(EGASP), was born under the Global Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System (GLASS). This program seeks to gather more detailed information to strengthen sentinel surveillance for gonococcal antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in selected countries. [25, 26]

Despite the positive intentions of global initiatives and funding for new treatments, the current pipeline is dismal. The rapid acquisition of antibiotic resistance has made *N. gonorrhoeae* an increasingly urgent global health threat, ushering in an era of potentially untreatable gonorrhea. Therefore, in recent years, the interest in developing a vaccine to tackle this AMR bacterium has been revived and prevention through vaccination is now a priority.

During the last decade, progress on gonorrhea vaccines has been discouraged for several reasons, including the antigenically variable nature, unclear mechanism of protection from infections and the ability to evade host immune defenses. Moreover, immune responses directed against conserved antigens fail to elicit protection and robust immune responses are not elicited during natural infections making repeated gonococcal infections common. These mechanisms represent a challenge for the identification of vaccine targets.

Nevertheless, a case control study conducted in New Zealand on epidemic of *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B reported that MeNZB<sup>®</sup> (Group B meningococcal outer membrane vesicle (OMV) vaccine) may give a 31% cross-protective efficacy against gonorrhea, thus making possible to think again that a vaccine against this pathogen is feasible. [27] Therefore, in the last years, optimism about the development of a gonococcal vaccine has been revived because of accumulating observational data and recent evidence of a cross-protective effect from Serogroup B Meningococcal Vaccines against *N. gonorrhoeae*, leading to a renewed hope for vaccine development. [28-34]

#### I.4 Neisseria species and Neisseria gonorrhoeae

The family Neisseriaceae comprises the genus *Neisseria* and other genera such as *Kingella* and *Eikenella*. [35-37] The *Neisseria* genus consists of 23 species, that can be commensal or pathogenic. Among them, half are human-restricted species and some are animal-restricted; a part of them can infect both the human and the animal. [37] The two human pathogenic *Neisseria* species, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Neisseria meningitidis* are genomically, morphologically and phenotypically closely related. *Neisseria meningitidis* is commonly found as a commensal in the nasopharynx of approximately 15% of the population, but it can sporadically cause fatal septicemia or meningitis. [35-38] These two pathogenic *Neisseria* species have evolved from commensal *Neisseria* species. Indeed, there is a strict correlation between the pathogenic and commensal *Neisseria*, and the latter also contain many of the pathogenic and virulence factors of *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis*, although they do not normally cause pathology, as they are unable to induce substantial polymorphonuclear leukocyte-based inflammation and lack several additional factors and mechanisms of interaction with host molecules, cells and tissues. [39, 40]

Gonorrhea is one of the oldest diseases known to humans. Evidence that gonococcal infections exist as sexually transmitted disease dates back to Egyptian papyrus (1500-3000 BC) [41], but the history is full of references to this venereal disease. The etiological agent of gonorrhea, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (also known as Gonococcus), is an obligate human pathogen transmitted through sexual contact or perinatally from the mother to the newborn during birth.

Gonococcus causes infections principally at the mucosal epithelium of the male and female genitourinary tracts; however, anorectal, nasopharyngeal and ocular mucosal surfaces may be also infected. [42-46] In men, major symptoms of infection include urethral discharge and dysuria. Untreated infections may lead to acute epididymitis [47] and consequent infertility. In women, infection is frequently asymptomatic and half of all affected women do not develop clinical symptoms [48], hence leading to chronic complications. When symptomatic, infections of the ectocervix and endocervix lead to mucopurulent cervicitis. Asymptomatic gonorrhea in women is often associated with cervicitis accompanied by its subsequent spread to the upper reproductive tract (URT). [42, 49-51] Ascending gonococcal infection may result in pelvic inflammatory disease syndrome (PID), which consists of fallopian tube scarring leading to a condition of infertility, ectopic pregnancy and chronic pelvic pain. [52] Rectal or pharyngeal gonorrhea is often asymptomatic. If untreated, *N. gonorrhoeae* can enter the bloodstream and disseminate bringing to a condition of bacteremia, known as disseminated gonococcal infection (DGI). Although rare, it is associated with arthritis, endocarditis, and/or meningitis [53]. Moreover, neonates can be infected by vertical transmission

during birth, and this may cause the so called *ophthalmia neonatorum* (neonatal conjunctivitis), which may lead to irreparable corneal tissue damage and blindness; more rarely, abscesses, meningitis and sepsis are observed in infected newborns. Furthermore, septic abortion, premature delivery and low neonatal weight have been correlated with maternal gonorrhea.

#### I.4.1 Gonococcal antigens and major virulence factors

*N. gonorrhoeae* is a gram-negative  $\beta$ -proteobacterium, belonging to the Neisseriaceae family, firstly isolated by Albert Neisser in the gram-stained microscopy of urethral discharge in 1879. [54, 55] Gonococcus is a facultative non-spore-forming and non-motile anaerobe [56], that is frequently encountered as diplococcus. Similar to other Gram-negative bacteria, its cell envelope consists of an inner cytoplasmic membrane, a middle space containing peptidoglycan and the periplasmic space and an outer membrane (OM). The gonococcal OM is constituted by an inner leaflet of phospholipids and an outer layer formed by a complex combination of phospholipids, lipooligosaccharide (LOS) and proteins, organizing an asymmetric bilayer.

The majority of the structures on this membrane represent virulence factors most involved in the pathogenesis of this bacterium (**Figure I.6**).



**Figure I.6.** *N. gonorrhoeae* cell envelope structure (Figure created with Biorender.com, adapted from Unemo *et al.*, 2019). [24]

*N. gonorrhoeae* uses an array of virulence factors to adhere to and possibly invade host cells and to evade the immune system. Among them, type IV pili, opacity (Opa) proteins, lipooligosaccharide and porins play crucial roles.

The outer membrane-localized porin (PorB or Por or Protein I) represents the most abundant outer membrane protein (OMP), accounting for up to 60% of gonococcal OMPs. [57, 58] The porin channel is assembled as homotrimeric protein, in which each monomer is organized as  $\beta$ -barrel with eight surface-exposed loops varying in length with a molecular weight ranging between 32 and 35 kDa. [58, 59] PorB functions as an ion-channel, allowing the exchange of small nutrients and waste products between the bacteria and the environment and hence, it constitutes an essential factor for bacterial viability, contributing to the homeostasis of the bacterial energy metabolism. [60] Moreover, PorB is involved in bacterial pathogenesis through other mechanisms, including serum resistance via interaction with classical and alternative pathway regulators [61-65], induction or inhibition of apoptosis [66-69], invasion [70] and interference with the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by neutrophils. [71, 72] PorB is highly heterogeneous between strains and this property makes it an excellent marker for strain classification. Immunological and biochemical data have shown that there are two main distinct structural variants of the porin protein, PorB.1A and PorB.1B [57], which are further subclassified into serovars according to their reactivity to a panel of anti-PorB monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) [73] able to recognize epitopes localized in the eight loops and encoded by PorB variable regions. [74] PorB does not undergo high frequency variation mechanisms; when low-frequency variations are present, these are largely restricted to surfaceexposed regions of the porin protein.

Another important membrane component is the type IV pilus. Pili are long, thin filamentous appendages composed of the main subunit, Pilin (PilE), and the PilC portion. Gonococcal pili are grouped into type IV pili according to the presumed amino acid sequence from the gene sequence and the mechanism of assembly. Pili are required for efficient mucosal colonization: indeed, since they are dynamic structures that can be retracted, they mainly function as adhesins, mediating adherence to host cells and tissues, as well as self-adherence and adherence to other Gonococcus cells. Additional type IV pili functions include biofilm formation, DNA uptake from the extracellular milieu, thus increasing transformation frequency and therefore genetic adaptability [75] and finally, a flagella-independent system of bacterial movement over surfaces known as *twitching motility*. [76] These protein structures are subjected to phase and antigenic variation mechanisms, switching from a piliated to a non-piliated state under different *in vitro* conditions. [77] Interestingly, the presence of pilus allows Gonococcus to adhere better to mucosal cell surfaces, thus making these phenotypes more virulent with respect to non-piliated variants.

Among the surface components involved in pathogenesis, Opa proteins are a family of integral outer membrane proteins that can act as adhesins, binding a variety of receptors on many different cells and tissues, mediating a more intimate attachment in the first steps of colonization, after initial contact with type IV pili. Most Opa proteins bind to one or more carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecules (CEACAMs), a family of surface-exposed protein receptors present on epithelial cells, lymphocytes and PMNs, thus leading to cell signaling events. [78] Opa expression undergoes both phase and antigenic variation. Expression of Opa proteins is stochastically controlled [79] and each gonococcal isolate harbors 11 distinct opa genes [80], whose expression is controlled by independent molecular events that modulate the expression of each gene. A single gonococcal strain may express no Opa proteins, a single one, or a combination of several Opa proteins simultaneously. [81]. Changes in Opa expression pattern result in antigenic variation. In addition, despite the sequence of the 11 Opa proteins being 70% identical, conserved regions are not exposed on the membrane and some surface-exposed loops show sequence variations. [79, 80, 82] Opa proteins mediate selfadherence between gonococci by interaction with the lacto-*N*-neotetraose (Galactose β1-4-*N*-acetylglucosamine  $\beta$ 1-3-galactose  $\beta$ 1-4-glucose) saccharide portion of lipooligosaccharide on the opposing bacterium [83] and, in addition, Opa can promote adherence and invasion to host cells. Moreover, their expression is associated with different gonococcal pathogenesis: Opa<sup>+</sup> gonococci are often associated with localized infection in the urogenital, cervical and rectal mucosae, whereas Opagonococci are mainly related with DGI. [84]

Furthermore, lipooligosaccharide (LOS) molecules account for the majority of the membrane components. These are complex glycolipids, localized to the outer leaflet of the OM and are similar in structure to other lipopolysaccharides, although they lack the O-antigen portion. LOS is subjected to a phase variation mechanism, that can enable a single cell of gonococci to produce up to six antigenically different structures simultaneously, enabling the bacteria to adapt to different host environmental conditions [85]. LOS mediates several mechanisms of gonococcal infection such as adhesion, invasion and escape from the host immune system when sialylated [86]. LOS structures and roles will be widely discussed further on in this work.

Another component of the gonococcal outer membrane is the reduction-modifiable protein (Rmp or Protein III). Rmp is a highly conserved surface protein non-covalently associated with PorB, which is present in pathogenic *Neisseria* spp [87-89]. Anti-Rmp antibodies are elicited after gonococcal infection and are able to block the binding of anti-PorB and anti-lipooligosaccharide bactericidal antibodies [90] present in the immune serum and, furthermore, anti-Rmp antibodies are able to enhance the susceptibility to repeat infection. [91] Natural antibodies to the carboxyl-terminal portion

of enterobacterial OmpA proteins cross-react with Rmp and also block the bactericidal action of normal human serum and human immune serum against gonococci. [92]

Moreover, since gonococci require iron as an essential nutrient, three membrane transport complexes (LpbA–LpbB, HpuA–HpuB and TbpA–TbpB) are present on the membrane and contribute to the iron-scavenging mechanism. Finally, five efflux pump systems (FarA–FarB–MtrE, NorM, MtrC–MtrD–MtrE, MacA–MacB–MtrE and MtrF) can protect gonococci from antimicrobials and fatty acid stress. [93]

#### I.4.2 Pathogenesis of gonococcal disease

The gonococcal pathogenesis is a complex mechanism, in which several components may take part (**Figure I.7**).



Figure I.7. *N. gonorrhoeae* infection and pathogenesis steps (Figure created with Biorender.com, adapted from Quillin and Seifert, 2018). [93]

The transmission can occur at different sites; indeed, *N. gonorrhoeae* infections mainly involve the mucosal epithelium of the urogenital tract, but they can also occur at the rectum, pharynx or conjunctiva mucosa. Gonococcal transmission occurs from an infected individual by direct contact between the mucosal membranes, usually through unprotected vaginal, anal or oral sexual activity,

with transmission rates that may vary: indeed, during vaginal sex, transmission rates are higher from men to women than the opposite. [94] It is known that *N. gonorrhoeae* is easily transmitted from infected men to their partners through ejaculates, that contains a high number of bacteria [93], however, the mechanism by which the organism is effectively transmitted from vaginal, rectal or pharyngeal locations is less understood. Of note, gonococcal infection may increase the risk of acquisition and transmission of other STIs, particularly HIV. [95, 96]

Moreover, *N. gonorrhoeae* can spread perinatally from mothers harboring gonococci to their child during birth (intrapartum), but not during pregnancy. Indeed, as reported before, the child's conjunctiva may be infected during transit of the birth canal and it may result in ophthalmia neonatorum, leading to childhood blindness.

Gonococci require mucous membranes for colonization and the transmission of the bacteria is limited by different host defense barriers, including the skin and ciliary action of some epithelia. However, peptidoglycan fragments and lipooligosaccharide released by gonococci can disrupt the ciliary action of the epithelium and may promote colonization. [97, 98]

After transmission, the initial step in establishing an infection is the bacterial adherence to the epithelium of the mucosa [99-102], mediated through distinct bacterial surface components. First, type IV pili mediate the initial cellular adhesion and subsequently retract and bring the bacteria close to the cell membrane. [103] After this step, Gonococcus replicates and forms microcolonies on the cell surface. (**Figure I.7**, step 1 and 2). Afterwards, adherence is mostly mediated by Opa proteins interacting with receptors like carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule (CEACAMs), expressed by epithelial cells and immune cells such as neutrophils [104], and other molecules like polysaccharide-like heparin sulfate. [105] In addition, Opa proteins are involved in the subsequent colonization of the mucosal epithelium of the genital tract and other infection sites. Porin and lipooligosaccharide are other surface factors that affect colonization.

In addition to colonization, *N. gonorrhoeae* can also invade epithelial cells. Although this process is still unclear, it has been demonstrated that lipooligosaccharide needs to be desialylated to allow gonococci to invade non-ciliated cervical epithelial cells and the urethral epithelial cells. [42] Moreover, it has been reported that LOS interaction with the asialoglycoprotein receptors (ASGP-R) promotes invasion of urethral epithelial cells [106] and that the invasion in the lower cervical genital tract is mediated by complement receptor 3 (CR3). [107] This invasion and the resulting transcytosis of the epithelium can lead to disseminated gonococcal infection (DGI). The relevance of these mechanisms in uncomplicated infections remains unclear. Of note, the multitude of receptors that mediate gonococcal invasion highlights the complex, multifaceted nature of tissues lining the genital

tract. This represents one of the main difficulties in establishing appropriate animal and tissue culture models for studying this pathogen.

During these primary stages of infection, gonococci release peptidoglycan fragments, lipooligosaccharide and outer membrane vesicles (OMV), thereby activating Toll-like receptor (TLR) and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein (NOD) signaling in epithelial cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs) (Step 3). In response, these cells activate inflammatory transcription factors and release cytokines and chemokines (Step 4). *N. gonorrhoeae* also releases heptose-1,7-bisphosphate (HBP), which activates TRAF-interacting protein with FHA domain-containing protein A (TIFA) immunity (Step 5). The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines recruits polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNLs), or neutrophils, to the site of infection, where they interact and phagocytose *N. gonorrhoeae*. The influx of neutrophils constitutes a purulent exudate that then facilitates transmission (Step 6). [93]

Therefore, once colonization is established, nutrient acquisition is required from the extracellular environment for bacterial growth and replication. *N. gonorrhoeae* requires uptake of nutrients from the host, such as iron, zinc, and manganese. At this level, a process of host defense against the pathogen called *nutritional immunity* limits the nutrients acquisition. [108, 109] However, during symptomatic colonization, the pathogen overcomes this host defense by relying on the influx of neutrophils, which promotes nutrient acquisition by causing leakage of serum components, thereby allowing the uptake of intracellular nutrients by the bacterium [110, 111].

#### I.4.3 Interactions with host innate immune system

The innate immune system comprises the complement system and phagocytic cells, whose combined action represents the first line of defense against infecting pathogens, including *N. gonorrhoeae*. However, this pathogen possesses a repertoire of pathogenic mechanisms to avoid the host immune response, as indicated by the recurrence of gonococcal infections along with long-term complications like DGI. [42, 112]

#### I.4.3.1 Interaction with complement system: *serum resistance*

One of the principal mechanisms of human host defense is represented by the complement-mediated bactericidal activity of human serum, which is involved in the clearance of both pathogenic *Neisseria* species. The fundamental role of the complement system is highlighted and confirmed by the increased susceptibility to *Neisseria* infections in patients affected by an overall deficiency in complement proteins expression [51, 113, 114].

The complement system is an essential component of the innate immune response comprising several fluid-phase and membrane-associated proteins that act both as enzymes, regulators or substrates and structured to trigger an extracellular proteolytic cascade. Depending on the different stimuli during pathogen infections, complement activation occurs via three distinct pathways. The classical pathway (CP) represents a mechanism triggered by the binding of the antibody to an antigen, forming complexes on the pathogenic cell surface recognized by hexameric C1q. In contrast, the lectin pathway (LP) is a process specifically activated by oligosaccharidic residues present on the microbial surface, whereas the alternative pathway (AP) represents a less specific system that can be activated by C3b binding to any type of external surface macromolecule, such as lipids, proteins, and carbohydrate structures of microorganisms. After the initial trigger, all the three complement pathways converge at the level of complement component 3 (C3) deposition. The formation of the C3 convertase enzymes cleaves the C3 producing the active complement component C3b. The C3b molecules deposit on the pathogen surface and act as opsonin, inducing recognition by phagocytic cells. Downstream activation of complement results in the formation of the complement component 5 (C5) convertase enzyme, which leads to the generation of the C5b-9 complex, also called the membrane-attack complex (MAC). MAC is a group of proteins formed by complement components C8 and C9 that form pores in the membrane of microorganisms and kill the bacteria. The activity of the complement system must be strictly modulated to avoid any accidental activation of the complement components. Under physiological conditions, the complement cascade is kept under control by inhibitors such as C4b-binding protein (C4BP), factor H (FH) and vitronectin [115]. In order to evade the host immune system, N. gonorrhoeae exploits different mechanisms targeting all the three complement pathways, involving LOS and the PorB (Figure I.8).



**Figure I.8.** During infection, *N. gonorrhoeae* can invade and modulate the innate immune system preventing complement activation, opsonization and bacterial killing. Indeed, *N. gonorrhoeae* bind host factors such as factor H (FH) and C4bp-binding protein (C4BP) blocking respectively the alternative and classical complement pathways (Figure created with Biorender.com, adapted from Quillin and Seifert, 2018). [93]

The ability to avoid complement recognition and killing permits effective colonization of the host by this bacterium, as shown by the observation that *N. gonorrhoeae* resists the action of the human complement system, but it is sensitive to animal complement systems. [65] *In vitro* studies have reported the ability of this bacterium to interact with several complement components. [116]

Complement-mediated killing evasion strategies implemented by *N. gonorrhoeae* mainly occur through two general processes: binding to and inactivating complement cascade components and mimicking the host molecules on the bacterial surface presenting itself as part of the host and binding to complement regulatory proteins.

The inactivation of the complement cascade by gonococci is mediated by the binding of C3b to the gonococcal LOS lipid A, followed by a rapid inactivation by factor I mediated- cleavage to iC3b. [117] Moreover, *N. gonorrhoeae* binds to the alternative complement pathway receptor CR3 and the receptor for iC3b in the cervical epithelium, possibly facilitating epithelial cell invasion (**Figure I.8**). [107, 118]

In addition, Gonococcus shields itself from complement recognition, suppressing complement activation in both the cervical epithelium and human serum.

In this process of immune system evasion, the importance of gonococcal LOS is demonstrated by several studies reporting that LOS undergoes to *in vivo* sialylation at the terminal galactose of LOS structures [119, 120] and this mechanism confers serum resistance by inhibiting all the three complement pathways [121]. Sialylated LOS has been associated with the so called *unstable serum resistance* [122]. When sub-cultured *in vitro*, some strains, mainly related to symptomatic pelvic inflammatory infection and classified as *serum sensitive* (SS), lose their ability to resist to the complement-mediated killing [123], which is restored after the supplementation in the growth media of exogenous cytidine monophospho-*N*-acetylneuraminic acid (CMP-NANA), a nucleotide sugar of sialic acid used as substrate for the enzymatic sialylation of glycans [124]. In the cervical epithelium, gonococci sialylated LOS shields itself from complement recognition, binding to the alternative complement pathway regulator factor H (FH) (Figure 1.8).

Another important component in this resistance mechanism is the porin. *Stable serum resistance* is usually related to DGI and concerns *serum resistant* (SR) gonococcal strains which, when grown in *in vitro* conditions, remain resistant to the bactericidal activity of normal human serum (NHS), even in the absence of gonococcal LOS sialylation. [124] SR strains are the result of mechanisms that involve Por motifs that can bind to the complement pathway regulators factor H and C4-binding protein (C4BP), which downregulate the alternative and the classical complement pathways respectively. In particular, PorB.1A has the ability to bind factor H at the level of the surface-exposed loop 5 peptide, thus inhibiting the alternative pathway. [61] However, it can also block the classical

pathway by sequestering the C4b-binding protein [63], *via* loop 1 of the porin. [125, 126] This mechanism can also occur in PorB.1B bearing gonococci, that can bind the C4BP through loops 5 and 7, albeit to a lesser extent than the PorB.1A strains. [127] Nevertheless, these mentioned mechanisms are not exhaustive in explaining the gonococcal serum resistance, since some PorB.1B strains subvert complement-mediated killing even in the absence of FH and C4BP binding, and this remains unclarified so far. [127]

#### I.4.3.2 Resistance to neutrophil killing

During host invasion, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* triggers a strong, local inflammatory response that is characterized by the recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection. [128] Neutrophils, also known as polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN), are terminally differentiated phagocytic cells that, in response to chemotactic cues, extravasate from the bloodstream to the peripheral tissue to reach the target site. During gonococcal symptomatic infection, mucosal epithelial cells, dendritic cells and macrophages release proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, including interleukin-8, interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , and interleukin-1, causing an influx of neutrophils. [129, 130] However, *N. gonorrhoeae* can rely on different strategies to survive the various functions of neutrophils, such as phagocytosis and the different antimicrobial activities like the release of reactive oxygen species, cationic peptides and antimicrobial enzymes.

Phagocytosis occurs through opsonic and non-opsonic uptake, both exploited by Gonococcus. [131] In the absence of both complement and antibodies, which usually mediate opsonic phagocytosis, *N. gonorrhoeae* can efficiently interact with neutrophils through pili and porins specifically binding to CR3 receptors. [107] In addition, Opa proteins can interact with the CEACAM family receptors driving non-opsonic phagocytosis. [104] Interestingly, although CEACAM1, CEACAM3 and CEACAM5 are expressed on neutrophils, it has been demonstrated that only the CEACAM3-Opa interaction can effectively stimulate a bactericidal oxidative burst. [78, 132, 133] Except for bacteria expressing Opa variants that engage CEACAM3, most bacteria are able to survive and replicate in association with human PMNs. Afterwards, once in the PMN, Gonococcus encounters the large variety of oxidative and non-oxidative antimicrobial components to which Gonococcus resists through different strategies [128], including LOS phosphoethanolamine (PEA) modification of lipid A and the active export of these components through the MtrCDE efflux pumps. [134-136]

In most cases, the mechanism exploited by Gonococcus to survive after exposure to PMNs remains to be clarified; however, it can be crucial to understand the mechanisms underlying the ability of gonococci to avoid the first line of defense in the human host.

#### I.5 Gonococcal lipooligosaccharide

Lipooligosaccharide is a major glycolipid component of the cell wall, that is responsible for several biological activities and plays an important role in pathogenesis, as already reported before. Moreover, LOS is target for bactericidal antibodies present in normal and convalescent human sera. [137] LOS is found in the outer membrane of some Gram-negative bacteria, including *Neisseria* spp., *Haemophilus* spp. and *Bordetella* species. Similar to rough lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from enteric bacteria, gonococcal LOS structure is composed by lipid A portion and an oligosaccharide moiety, but it has a lower molecular weight due to the absence of the O-polysaccharide repeating units (**Figure I.9**). [138] The saccharide portion of LOS is shorter and therefore, these structures are relatively more hydrophobic and more susceptible to cell surface-directed antibodies.



**Figure I.9.** Structure of gonococcal lipooligosaccharide. LOS is composed of a lipid A portion, anchored to the OM and an inner core oligosaccharide structure, to which are linked three oligosaccharide chain, composing the outer core moiety (Figure created with Biorender.com).

The LOS oligosaccharide portion consists of three oligosaccharide chains attached to a conserved tetrasaccharide core. The oligosaccharide chains branch from two heptoses (heptose I, or Hep I, and heptose II, or HepII) linked to lipid A via two 2-keto-3-deoxy-mannooctulosonic acid (KDO) molecules. The first oligosaccharide chain elongates from the HepI and is known as the  $\alpha$ -chain, whereas the second and the third oligosaccharide chains, called the  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ - chains respectively, are connected to the second heptose (**Figure I.10**). The number of branches and the length of



oligosaccharides in each branch vary among gonococcal strains and, indeed, in the same strain during growth *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

**Figure I.10.** One of the most complete chemical structures of the gonococcal LOS, in which the two possible  $\alpha$ -chains and the  $\beta$ -chain are highlighted in blue and red, respectively. The gene responsible for the LOS biosynthesis are reported in blue and, among them, the underlined genes are the phase-variable ones.

The genes responsible for LOS biosynthesis have been identified and characterized. The *rfaC* and the *rfaF* encode for two different heptosyltransferases that are responsible for synthesizing the core heptoses moiety, linking the HepI to the KDO portion and the HepII to HepI respectively. [139-141] The *rfaK* gene product is required to attach a terminal GlcNAc to the HepII. Glycan extensions from the core heptoses are modulated by the expression of multiple saccharide transferases, products of *lgt* genes. The LOS glycosyltransferase genes *lgtF*, *lgtE*, *lgtA*, *lgtB* and *lgtD* are required for the stepwise addition of each hexose (or hexosamine) to synthesize the  $\alpha$ -chain. [142, 143] In place of full extension of the  $\alpha$ -chain, *lgtC* encodes for an  $\alpha$ -galactosyl transferase responsible for adding a terminal galactose to the lactose linked to the  $\alpha$ -chain creating the so-called P<sup>K</sup>-like LOS structure, which is an alternative  $\alpha$ -chain. (**Figure I.11**) [144] The *lgtG* gene product is required to add the first glucose to the HepI, thus determining the presence of the  $\beta$ -chain. The  $\beta$ -chain is usually composed

of a lactose, but in rare cases it can be constituted of a single glucose or a lactose with additional sugars.

*N. gonorrhoeae* synthesizes this variable portion by adding a glycose moiety sequentially on the conserved core tetrasaccharide to express different types of elongation: from the HepI only, from both HepI and HepII, or, occasionally, elongation from HepII only. [145] Gonococci can co-express up to six antigenically distinct LOS structures and this is mainly due to phase variation mechanism involving four *lgt* genes: *lgtA*, *lgtC*, *lgtD* and *lgtG* (**Figure 11**). [140, 146]



**Figure I.11.** Graphical structure of the possible structures of LOS in which are reported the phase variable genes. The two main variable oligosaccharide chains are highlighted in blue and red.

The genes that undergo phase variation contain homopolymeric tracts of guanine (poly-G tracts), in the case of *lgtA*, *lgtC* and *lgtD*, or cytosine, in the case of *lgtG*. These can lead to slipped strand mispairing during DNA replication, with consequent alteration in the coding sequences and premature termination of the corresponding gene; therefore, the encoded glycosyltransferase protein is not functional and leads to truncated LOS structures. [142, 146-149] This mechanism results in substantial LOS heterogenicity with changes in glycan composition of the predominant structures that are expressed both when gonococci grow *in vivo* or *in vitro*. The variation in these structures may alter the nature of antigenic epitopes recognized by anti-LOS antibodies as demonstrated by the characterization of gonococcal LOS from 20 different strains with a panel of monoclonal antibodies. [150] Moreover, this variability allows for alterations in the cell surface properties. Indeed, it may facilitate the exposure or protection of other constituents and amplify antigenic diversity that may modify attachment to cells and facilitate evasion of the host response. *N. gonorrhoeae* undergoes LOS phase variation at a frequency of  $10^{-2}/10^{-3}$  per cell per generation when grown in culture [85, 151], even though the expressed LOS is determined by the LOS structure of the majority of the cells in the population.

Among the different possible predominant glycoforms, some share structures with the human glycosphingolipids [144, 145, 152]. The lacto-N-neotetraose structure, composed of four sugars extending from the first heptose (Gal\beta1-4GlcNAc\beta1-3Gal\beta1-4Glc\beta1-4- or LNnT) is identical to the human erythrocyte glycosphingolipid structure and the  $P^{K}$  LOS structure (Gala1-4Galb1-4Glcb1-4-) is similar to the human paraglobosides. [144, 150, 153, 154] Moreover, the pentasaccharide structure of the  $\alpha$ -chain (GalNAc $\beta$ 1-3-Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ 1-4- or GalNAc-LNnT) has analogous structures to human asialo-G3 ganglioside. [154] This mimicry is an immune evasion strategy that may enable gonococci to avoid immune recognition. For several years, the role of this antigenic determinants in a possible vaccine has been discussed and therefore, these structures have been extensively studied for their role in pathogenesis, but some researchers didn't consider them suitable as possible vaccine antigens for the possibility of eliciting a response to this shared human antigen. Nevertheless, it is important to highlight that in the case of meningococcal LOS, which shares these structures with N. gonorrhoeae LOS, no safety issues related to the induction of antibodies cross-reactive with human blood cells have been reported following systemic disease or large-scale vaccination with OMV vaccines containing significant amounts of L3,7 LOS (lacto-N-neotetraose structure). [155, 156] However, to minimize this possibility, during the last years the majority of studies on LOS as possible vaccine target have focused on the two main LOS epitopes that do not cross-react with human glycosphingolipid antigens. In particular, the shorter alpha chain structures containing only lactose have been investigated since they were considered less likely to induce antibodies cross-reactive with human blood cells.

One example is the LOS epitope defined by the anti-meningococcal mAb L8, characterized by lactose  $\beta$ -linked to HepI with a PEA substitution at the 3-cyclic position on HepII (as occurs when *lgtG* is phase-off and HepII is not substituted at the 3- position with glucose). [157-159]

In 1996, Gulati and colleagues identified a highly conserved glycan epitope on LOS composed of two lactoses, one  $\beta$ -linked to HepI and the other  $\alpha$ -linked to HepII, known as 2C7 epitope (**Figure I.12**). [160] This portion is the minimal epitope required for binding of mAb 2C7, even though *N*-linked fatty acids in lipid A are required for maximal expression. MAb 2C7 binding is permitted (although with lower affinity) even when the  $\alpha$ -chain is extended beyond lactose; indeed, structures with lacto-*N*-neotetraose or a pentasaccharide in the  $\alpha$ -chain are still bound by mAb 2C7 and the lowest binding is observed with the P<sup>K</sup> LOS structures. [161]


Figure I.12. The minimal oligosaccharide structures of lipooligosaccharide recognized by mAb 2C7.

The addition of an  $\alpha$ -linked glucose residue to HepII, the first step in the synthesis of the  $\beta$ -chain lactose, required for binding of mAb 2C7, is mediated by the phase variable gene *lgtG*. Despite the phase variation of *lgtG*, the 2C7 epitope is widely shared and expressed by most gonococci *ex vivo* or after limited passages *in vivo*, including 100% of clinical isolates in Nanjing (China) and 95% in Boston (USA) [162]. Interestingly, *N. gonorrhoeae* is the only member of the genus *Neisseria* expressing a lactose extending from HepII; certain *N. meningitidis* strains possess *lgtG* and can add glucose to HepII (LOS immunotypes L2 and L4) [163, 164], but extensions beyond the proximal glucose in meningococci have not been described.

## I.5.1 Relevance of LOS epitopes as potential antigenic target

The 2C7 epitope has been widely studied during the last decades either for its role in pathogenesis and colonization and as a possible antigenic target. It has been reported that the absence of HepIIlinked lactose and subsequent loss of the 2C7 epitope significantly attenuates gonococcal infection in the experimental mouse cervicovaginal colonization model, indicating a potential role in pathogenesis and suggesting LOS as potential virulence factor required for survival and productive infection in humans. [162, 165] MAb 2C7 IgG exhibited broad complement-dependent bactericidal activity against a wide array of gonococcal isolates [160, 162, 166] and *in vivo* potency [167], and therefore it has been considered a promising candidate for the development of an antibody-based immunotherapeutic. A recombinant human IgG1 chimeric variant of mAb 2C7, designed to enhance complement activation, improved its efficacy both in vitro and in vivo in a mouse vaginal colonization model [167] and, recently, optimized 2C7-derived DMAbs (DNA-delivered monoclonal antibody) encoding this mAb 2C7 complement-enhancing Fc variant have been tested, showing long in vivo durability (up to 2 months of standard half-life), antibacterial activity and clearance of primary infection with sustained in vivo functionality and efficacy against subsequent rechallenges. [168] Moreover, in the last years, the 2C7 epitope has been also evaluated as a potential target for gonococcal candidate vaccines. A peptide mimic of the 2C7 epitope (a mimitope), configured as an octameric multiantigen peptide (Octa-MAP) was developed as immunologic surrogate of the 2C7 epitope. Immunization of mice with the peptide vaccine elicited cross-reactive bactericidal IgG antibodies and the mimitope also attenuated gonococcal vaginal colonization in preclinical experimental model of infection. [169] Afterwards, an optimized version of the 2C7 mimitope called TMCP2 was developed. This experimental peptide vaccine, configured as a tetramer and adjuvanted with glucopyranosyl lipid adjuvant–stable emulsion, was shown to be able to induce bactericidal IgG antibodies and to accelerate clearance of gonococci in the mouse vaginal colonization model. Moreover, it was shown that the efficacy in the mouse colonization model of this mimitope and a passively administered chimeric mAb 2C7 requires an intact terminal complement pathway, evidenced by loss of activity in C9-/- mice. These results indicates that complement mediated killing of the bacteria is relevant to *in vivo* protection and, therefore, that serum bactericidal activity may serve as a correlate of protection. [167, 170]

Another possible LOS glycoform is a  $P^{K}$ -like LOS (or meningococcal L1 immunotype) structure composed of a trisaccharide (Gala1-4Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ 1-4-) extending from the  $\alpha$ -chain. As previously reported, the P<sup>K</sup>-LOS structures are comparable to the human paragloboside structure, providing this organism with an immune escape mechanism. [144, 150, 153, 154] Chakraborti *et al.* demonstrated that mutant strains genetically modified to express only this LOS glycoform are unable to colonize the mouse vaginal tract with a durable infection [161], reflecting the relatively low frequency of gonococcal clinical isolates expressing this LOS isoform. [171]

Several studies have focused on the pentasaccharide structure **GalNAc-LNnT** (GalNAc $\beta$ 1-3-Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ 1-4-). The GalNAc terminal sugar is the target of natural IgM present in the human serum. It is also able to interact with C-type lectin macrophage galactose-binding lectin (MGL), skewing the immunity towards a Th2 lineage and helping bacterial survival. [172] Studies by Balthazar and collaborators highlighted the role of this glycoform in the normal human serum resistance of gonococcal F62 strain, demonstrating that the length of the  $\alpha$ -chain of the core oligosaccharide and 4' lipid A phosphoethanolamine are important LOS structures that can determine the extent of gonococcal susceptibility to NHS. [173] Indeed, since *lgtD* is phase variable, those naturally NHS-sensitive gonococci that produce truncated LOS species due to spontaneous mutations, especially with a phase-off *lgtD*, might have a fitness advantage over those with a phase-on *lgtD*, since they would have an enhanced ability to escape NHS-killing mediated by complement at sites where complement components are at reduced levels, such as mucosal surfaces. [92] Moreover, NHS resistance expressed by gonococci also requires PEA modification of gonococcal lipid A (loss of 4'

PEA from lipid A with a phase-off *lptA*) and this decoration also enhances resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides. [173]

Among the LOS glycan structures that have been studied for their role in pathogenesis and immune evasion, much attention has been directed to LOS that expresses the **lacto-N-neotetraose**, which consists of four sugars extending from the first heptose (Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ 1-4-HepI). LNnT is widely involved in immune evasion strategies, adhesion and pathogenesis. All the minimally passaged clinical isolates from Nanjing (China) tested by Sanjay Ram and colleagues have been found to express both the 2C7 epitope and the LNnT glycan portion, suggesting the importance of these two sugar substitutions in the pathogenesis of *N. gonorrhoeae*. [162]

As reported before, LNnT is identical to the terminal tetrasaccharide of paragloboside, a precursor of the major human blood group antigen and gonococci use this structure as mimicking strategies to evade the host immune response. Similar behaviors have also been encountered in other bacteria that can express the same structure, such as *N. meningitidis*, *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Campylobacter jejuni*. This form of molecular mimicry not only provides gonococci with a method of immune avoidance but also allows the bacterium to use host-derived molecules that normally associate with the mimicked structure. [42] *N. gonorrhoeae* invades non-ciliated cervical epithelial cells and urethral epithelial cells of men when LOS is not capped with sialic acid, thus expressing the unsialylated LNnT. It has been reported that LNnT interacts with the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGP-R) and facilitates adhesion and invasion of gonococci to male urethral epithelial cells [42, 106]. This interaction is abated in mutants expressing truncated LOS lacking the LNnT portion and in strains expressing terminal sialic acid. [106] LNnT tetrasaccharide is also directly involved in the gonococcal invasion into the cervical epidermoid carcinoma cell line, ME180. [174] A lectin-like interaction between the terminal lactosamine residue of LNnT and gonococcal Opa proteins plays a role in intergonococcal adhesion and the degree of colony opacity. [83]

A collection of studies by Schneider *et al.* addressed the impact of phase variation of α-chain glycans *in vivo* and of the presence of LNnT portions. First, the importance of lacto-*N*-neotetraose in pathogenesis and virulence was established in the human male volunteer infection model of gonorrhea. Human male volunteers were experimentally challenged with a gonococcal strain expressing a truncated 3.6kDa LOS species, in which the HepI chain was predominantly composed of a lactose (MS11 mkA). Sequential sampling of urethral contents demonstrated that the recovered bacteria transiently expressed this truncated structure until the onset of dysuria. However, with further progression of infection and development of urethritis, the HepI LOS phenotypes transitioned to predominantly tetrasaccharide and pentasaccharide HepI chain variants (MS11 mkC), indicating that positive selection occurred for bacteria that express these longer structures (approximately 4.5KDa).

[152] Similar behavior has already been reported for gonococcal strain 4505. [151] It is worth noting that it is not known whether these phenotypes were also capped by sialic acid or not. In another study, it has been showed that the required infectious dose of MS11 mkA (mostly composed of lactose in the  $\alpha$ -chain) was higher than that of MS11 mkC (LNnT LOS). [175]

Notably, similar to what reported above, gonococci recovered from mkA-inoculated volunteers showed a transition from the mkA shorter  $\alpha$ -chain phenotype to the mkC LOS LNnT-like phenotype. Taken together, these observations may suggest that small numbers of mkC gonococci would be sufficient to infect male volunteers and, moreover, that N. gonorrhoeae expressing predominantly truncated HepI glycan substitutions are less efficient in initiating and sustaining infection. The evidence of Schneider et al. in the human challenge model has been well mirrored in mice by the work of Chakraborti et al. where it was demonstrated that gonococci mutants displaying different surface glycans evade host immunity differentially, resulting in an infection that varies in duration. These studies confirmed that LNnT expression promotes vaginal colonization in mice, and it is necessary to establish a durable infection. [176] Interestingly, since the absence of the HepII chain significantly attenuates gonococcal infection in mice [162, 165], they analyzed four mutants with *lgtG* locked on and thus constitutionally expressing the  $\beta$ -chain, in which only the HepI glycan phase variation was permitted. They observed that mutants expressing LNnT colonized mice most effectively and phenotypes like the pentasaccharide GalNAc-LNnT, which also expresses LNnT in addition to the other structures, showed intermediate infectivity. Truncated mutants (lactose or Gallactose in the  $\alpha$ -chain) gave a lower overall burden of infection. [176]

#### I.5.2 Gonococcal LOS sialylation

An important mechanism of immune escape shared among several bacteria, which largely contributes to pathogenesis and immune escape, is LOS sialylation. Sialylation consists of the ability of *N. gonorrhoeae* to add a 9-carbon amino sugar called sialic acid using a nucleotide sugar form, cytidine-5'-monophospho-N-acetylneuraminic acid (also referred to as CMP-Neu5Ac or CMP-NANA) to the terminal galactose portion of some LOS glycoforms. Gonococci use the organism's own endogenous sialyltransferase (Lst), an enzyme present in the outer membrane of the bacterium [177], and CMP-Neu5Ac substrate available from the host, since, unlike most serogroups of *N. meningitidis, N. gonorrhoeae* is not able to synthesize sialic acid substrates. *In vivo*, CMP-NANA substrate is present in mammalian genital secretions as well as in serum and in extracts of red or white blood cells [178-180]; whereas *in vitro* exogenous CMP-NANA is needed to obtain sialylated phenotypes. LOS sialylation has been reported to increase in presence of lactate and pyruvate in growth media with respect to glucose and in anaerobic conditions [181-184].

Sialylated LOS has been associated with the so called *unstable serum resistance* [122]; indeed, as reported above, it was observed that some gonococcal strains recovered from male urethral secretions and directly examined were able to fully resist killing by homologous normal serum and were therefore classified as serum resistant (SR) strains. These SR strains lost their ability to resist to the complement-mediated killing when tested directly *ex vivo* or sub cultured *in vitro*. [123] This evidence is corroborated by the restoration of serum resistance of these strains after supplementation in the culture media of exogenous CMP-Neu5Ac. [124] Hence, the ability of some gonococcal strains to resist complement only when tested directly *ex vivo*, but not after passage onto gonococcal media, is due to LOS sialylation mechanisms, suggesting that the gonococcal surface is likely to be modified *in vivo*, enabling the bacteria to resist complement-mediated killing.

Gonococci can enzymatically sialylate different structures, as reported in Figure I.13.



Figure I.13. N. gonorrhoeae LOS has three main sites of sialylation, here indicated with a purple box.

Among the sialylatable structures, the LNnT glycoforms have been widely studied since its sialylation have different effects on the gonococcal pathogenesis. However, other possible terminal galactoses can also be sialylated. One is the terminal Gal of the P<sup>K</sup>-like  $\alpha$ -chain which can be sialylated through an  $\alpha$ 2-6-linkage and, recently, an additional acceptor site for an  $\alpha$ 2-6 sialic acid was identified on HepII lactose, when HepI and HepII both bear only lactose extensions. [162]

During the last decades, several works have reported the impact of LOS LNnT sialylation on the inhibition of all the three complement pathways through several independent mechanisms (**Figure I.14**). In the case of the classical pathway, it is well known that an intact classical pathway for complement-dependent killing of *N. gonorrhoeae* is essential, as reported previously and confirmed by recent studies. [170, 185] NHS killing of serum sensitive strains is mediated mainly by IgM against LOS and its sialylation permits gonococci to inhibit the classical pathway by reducing the activity of

IgM antibodies present in non-immune normal human serum, without necessarily inhibiting IgM binding on the surface. In contrast, the binding of NHS IgG to the bacterial surface is inhibited by LNnT sialylation. [186] Moreover, the presence of Neu5Ac in LNnT LOS reduces the binding of IgG to selected targets. Indeed, sialylated LOS reduces binding of some anti-PorB, suggesting a possibile interference with the ability of antibodies to engage C1q, the first step of the classical pathway. No inhibition of IgG binding to Opa was observed. [187]

The activation of the lectin pathway is inhibited by reducing mannose-binding lectin (MBL) binding [188]; indeed, MBL binds to gonococcal LOS that terminates in GlcNAc [189], which is elongated with Gal and subsequently sialylated with Neu5Ac.

Lastly, sialylated LNnT LOS mediates the downregulation of the alternative pathway by enhancing factor H (FH) binding [62] with a mechanism in which gonococcal PorB, LOS  $\alpha(2,3)$ -linked Neu5Ac and the FH portion are possibly involved. Sialylation of the P<sup>K</sup>-like LOS [190], or lactose on HepII-[162] does not enhance FH binding. FH binds to sialylated gonococcal LOS through its C-terminus portion and this binding involves an interaction with PorB and sialylated LOS, similar to what happens with FH, C3 fragment and other components on the host cells. The FH binding acts as a cofactor in the factor I cleavage of C3b to iC3b and, also, irreversibly dissociates the C3 convertase, C3bBb (decay accelerating activity). It is worth noting that sialylation of meningococcal LOS LNnT is not capable of enhancing the direct interaction with FH. This observation may suggest that the PorB requirements is accounting for this difference among meningococcal and gonococcal LOS [64]. In fact, binding of FH is also dependent on the expression of PorB [64].



Figure I.14. The LOS sialylation inhibits all the three complement pathways through several independent mechanisms (Figure created with Biorender.com, adapted from Gulati *et al.*, 2019). [191]

Moreover, neisserial LOS also serves as a target for C4b and C3b [192]; it is likely that sialic acid obscure some targets for the deposition of C3 and/or C4 fragments present on LOS.

Sialylation of LOS has been demonstrated to have an impact also on opsonophagocytosis, inhibition of the invasion into epithelial cell and *in vivo*.

As previously discussed, gonococci interaction and killing by PMN may occur through opsonic or non-opsonic means. [193] The presence of Neu5Ac on LOS decreases the opsonic killing of gonococci [194-196], which may be in part because of reduced complement activation and C3 fragment deposition on the sialylated bacterial surface. [62, 197] Moreover, the presence of lactate on PMNs can further facilitate LOS sialylation and gonococcal survival. [182, 183]

As already discussed above, sialylated LOS can also inhibit the ability of Opa-positive bacteria to adhere to neutrophils and stimulate neutrophil oxidative burst, whereas killing by human PMNs of Opa-positive bacteria was not significantly affected. [195]

Although sialylation reduces Opa-mediated invasion of *N. gonorrhoeae* into human epithelial cell lines, no effect on the adherence of bacteria to epithelial cells was observed [198].

An electron microscopy study carried out by Apicella *at al.* confirmed that LNnT LOS sialylation occurs *in vivo*. [199] Wu and Jerse showed that a gonococcal mutant of strain MS11 that lacked sialyltransferase was less virulent than its wild-type counterpart in the mouse vaginal colonization

model of gonococcal infection, and these results in mice were also further verified with strain F62. [200, 201] It is likely that the amount of sialylation *in vivo* must be balanced for optimal colonization in humans: although on one side the complete absence of sialic acid may render the organism susceptible to eradication by host immunity, an excessive sialylation may block the invasion of bacteria into epithelial cells. In studies carried out by Schneider and co-workers, intra-urethral inoculation of male volunteers with *pre*-sialylated gonococci (strain MS11 mkC) infected only one of five (20%) subjects, whereas inoculation of the same number of unsialylated bacteria infected five of six (86%) individuals, suggesting a critical role of unsialylated LNnT in the first stage of infection. [202] Moreover, Ketterer *et al.* showed that cervical secretions obtained from women infected with gonorrhea contain sialidase in quantities sufficient to desialylate LOS, which may facilitate transmission of infection from women to men, suggesting that unsialylated LNnT may be important for the transmission and the first stages of infection, whereas sialylated LNnT has a critical role in the pathogenesis. [203]

In addition to inhibiting complement and enhancing resistance to opsonophagocytosis and cationic antimicrobial peptides, sialic acid engages sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-type lectins (Siglecs), many of which in turn bind to an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition (ITIM) motif and prevent the inflammatory response. [204] Furthermore, sialic acid has been identified in gonococcal biofilms. [205]

Beyond lacto-N-neotetraose sialylation, it is worth highlighting that several studies have been published in recent years, studying the role of other possible sialylation sites. Indeed, as reported before, the Lst enzyme adds Neu5Ac to LNnT through an  $\alpha$ 2-3-linkage, while to P<sup>K</sup>-like LOS, and to HepII-lactose through an  $\alpha$ 2-6-linkage. Sialylated P<sup>K</sup>-like LOS can enhance gonococcal serum resistance, albeit to a lesser degree than sialylated LNnT. [190] Lactose on HepII have recently been found to be a possible site of sialylation, able to inhibit the complement activation. [162] Both of these sialylatable structures are characterized by low virulence profiles in the mouse vaginal colonization model and it is possible that the absence of a sialylable LNnT accounts for it. Whether LOS glycoforms with only a lactose on the HepI chain can incorporate Neu5Ac in their terminal galactose is still unclear. [162]

# I.6 Current status of Neisseria gonorrhoeae vaccines: feasibility, promising antigen and vaccine technologies approaches

Despite during the last century several efforts have been made to develop a vaccine to protect against *N. gonorrhoeae* infection, only four candidate gonococcal vaccines have advanced to the stage of clinical trials or human challenge trials.

The first clinical evaluation was a gonococcal whole-cell vaccine; however, little information is available regarding this early 1900s trials. [206] The second candidate vaccine consisted of a crude, heat-killed, partially lysed whole-cell vaccine administered parenterally, which was evaluated in a double-blind placebo-controlled study conducted in a population of 62 volunteers in Canada. [207] Another attempt was an intradermally delivered single-antigen purified pilus that was examined in a double-blind placebo-controlled trial involving the randomization of 3250 US military personnel volunteers in Korea. [208] This trial failed to protect male volunteers against gonococcal urethritis and both killed whole-cell and purified pilin vaccines failed to induce protection against heterologous reinfection.

Eventually, the last attempt was a purified gonococcal PorB vaccine evaluated in a human challenge study conducted parenterally immunizing male subjects. Similar to the pilus-based vaccine, a significant antibody response was elicited, but offered no protection against intraurethral challenge in men with the homologous *N. gonorrhoeae* strain. [209] According to Rice and colleagues, it is worth highlight that the failure of this clinical trial could be possibly related to different reasons. Indeed, at the time of the vaccine trial in 1985, no reliable protocols to prepare pure PorB protein were available, with subsequent potential contamination of other immunogenic OM components such as LOS and Rmp. In particular, Rmp can elicit antibodies that block complement-dependent killing of *N. gonorrhoeae* by anti-PorB and anti-LOS antibodies. Another important consideration is related to the absence of stratification of volunteers to choose the cohorts according to the immunologic risk in order to better understand the protection from and the susceptibility to this infectious disease. [210] Beyond these four clinical trials, no other gonococcal vaccine candidates have progressed to human studies, highlighting the difficulties associated with gonococcal vaccine development. The product pipeline of gonococcal vaccines is still at preclinical level, focusing on the identification of possible vaccine targets and related immune correlates of protection.

In fact, the propensity of this bacterium to alter the antigen identity and expression levels of several gonococcal surface antigens has made the selection of promising vaccine candidate targets challenging. In addition, the lack of known correlates of immune protection against natural mucosal infections, the multiple mechanisms of immune evasion together with the host-restriction to humans

are among the main obstacles to vaccine development. [211, 212] Nevertheless, a proposed surrogate for vaccine efficacy has been identified in an increased level of complement-dependent bactericidal antibody activity against this pathogen. Although a high level of bactericidal antibodies has rarely been related to natural gonococcal infection, it is reasonably believed that a stronger and protective immune response can be forced by vaccination and it can possibly overcome factors like the presence of anti-Rmp blocking antibodies or the downregulation of soluble complement regulators such as FH and C4BP. [61, 62, 213, 214]

During the last decades, progress in antigen discovery has led to the identification of several stable and conserved gonococcal OM components that are being pursued as vaccine candidates. Even if no correlates of protection have been identified against *N. gonorrhoeae* in humans, in the preclinical investigation vaccine efficacy is usually measured by bactericidal and opsonophagocytic activity, blocking of target functions and coinfection in a female murine genital tract infection model. [210] In fact, most of these targets can elicit bactericidal antibodies against *N. gonorrhoeae* and, additionally, bactericidal antibody responses to several antigens may target important gonococcal physiological functions, including colonization and invasion, nutrient acquisition, and immune evasion (**Table I.1**). [210] Among them, the transferrin receptor (TbpA/B) or the methionine receptor (MetQ), have been reported, as well as some other targets identified by proteomic analysis of gonococcal surface proteins, including proteins involved in membrane biogenesis (BamA), LOS assembly (LptD), or translocation assembly (TamA). Vaccine targets that mediate evasion of host innate defenses comprise the outer membrane channel of the MtrCDE active efflux pump, MtrE, and the Neisseria adhesion complex protein (ACP). [210]

Other attractive targets are colonization factors, because of their potential to elicit antibodies that block the establishment of infection. An example is PilQ, the pilus secretin essential for pilus function or gonococcal OM proteins that mediate adherence and/or invasion of host cells, such as PorB, OpcA, OmpA and the opacity (Opa) proteins, that are able to induce bactericidal antibodies or to block interactions with host cells. [210]

Moreover, the LOS 2C7 epitope is an enticing vaccine target, against which a peptide mimic has been developed that induces highly bactericidal IgG antibodies able to promote opsonophagocytic killing of gonococci and *in vivo* protection against gonococcal challenge in mice. [169]

**Table I.1.** N. gonorrhoeae vaccine candidates that elicit bactericidal antibodies (Table adapted from Rice et al., 2017). [210]

Antigen		Function	Expression and	Immunogenicity
		Function	variability	(Bactericidal antibodies)
	PilQ	OM channel for pilus extrusion	Stable; Conserved at C- terminus	Bactericidal Ab elicited by <i>N. meningitidis</i> homologs
Colonization and invasion	Opa	Adherence, invasion	Phase variable; Variable	Bactericidal Ab
	ОрсА	Adherence, invasion	Stable; Conserved	Bactericidal Ab elicited by <i>N. meningitidis</i> homologs
	PorB	Adherence, invasion	Stable and essential; Variable	Bactericidal Ab
Nutrient acquisition	ТbрА	Transferrin-binding protein	Induced in iron- limiting conditions; Semiconserved with hypervariable segments	Bactericidal Ab
	TbpB	Transferrin-binding protein	Induced in iron- limiting conditions; Variable with conserved segments	Bactericidal Ab
	LbpA	Lactoferrin-binding protein	Induced in iron- limiting conditions; Semiconserved	Bactericidal Ab elicited by <i>N. meningitidis</i> homologs (limited cross- reactivity)
	LbpB	Lactoferrin-binding protein	Induced in iron- limiting conditions; Variable	Bactericidal Ab elicited by <i>N. meningitidis</i> homologs (limited cross- reactivity)
	ZnuD	Zinc transporter	Induced by zinc limitations; Conserved	Bactericidal Ab elicited by <i>N. meningitidis</i> homolog
	MtrE	Surface-exposed channel of the active efflux pumps	Stable; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab
Immune evasion	PorB	Binds C4BP and FH; Critical for nutrient acquisition	Stable and essential; Variable	Bactericidal Ab elicited by <i>N. meningitidis</i> PorB cyclic loop peptides
	NspA	Binds FH	Stable; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab elicited by <i>N. meningitidis</i> homolog
	2C7 epitope	Promotes survival of Ng in humans and experimental mice	Under control of phase variable gene <i>lgtG</i> ; Highly conserved (widely expressed in clinical isolates)	Bactericidal and opsonophagocytic antibodies (2C7 epitope mimics)

Proteomic analysis of <i>Ng</i> surface proteins	BamA	OM protein assembly factor	Stable and essential; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab
	LptD	LOS assembly	Stable and essential; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab
	TamA	Translocation assembly	Stable; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab
	MetQ	Methionine transport adhesin	Stable; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab
	NGO2054	Unknown	Stable; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab
Bioinformatic analysis	Ng-ACP	Adhesin complex protein	Stable; Highly conserved	Bactericidal Ab

Together with the 2C7 peptide mimic, other antigens that showed protection against experimental murine infection include the gonococcal OMV given vaginally adjuvanted with microencapsulated IL-12 and a recombinant, refolded PorB (rrPorB) administered using a viral delivery system followed by rrPorB protein boosts.

Significant efforts have also been made in the development of innovative vaccine platforms for delivery and antigen presentation for vaccines. Although subunit vaccines, either alone or as a combination of multiple antigens, have shown the ability to raise broadly cross-protective immune responses and have been considered an effective approach for the development of gonococcal vaccines, other innovative and attractive methods have been evaluated during the last years. Among the newest promising approaches, immunotherapeutic vaccines are able to enhance the adaptive immune response using different strategies, such as the use of the inflammatory cytokine IL-12, which enhances humoral or antibody-mediated immunity. Preclinical studies using local administration of microencapsulated IL-12 have shown an increase in Th1-driven protective immunity and protection against reinfection in mice when administered either as a treatment for an on-set gonococcal infection or as an adjuvant with a gonococcal OMV vaccine. [215-217] Additionally, a new optimized version of the multi-antigenic peptide 2C7-epitope mimic in association with the toll-like receptor 4 agonist monophosphoryl lipid A tested immunizing mice, have been shown to shorten the time of *N. gonorrhoeae* clearance in a female murine genital infection model, showing the potential of peptide mimics of carbohydrate antigens. [165, 218]

Another strategy was reported by Gala *et al*, who developed a transdermal whole-cell-based inactivated gonococcal microparticle, characterized by several advantages, including the preservation of all immunogenic epitopes delivered in microparticles able to mimic the cocci shape of *N*. *gonorrhoeae* and the possibility of obtaining a slow and sustained release of the antigen over time. [219] Other alternative methods have been reported by Jiao *et al.*, who designed a *N. gonorrhoeae* 

DNA vaccine delivered by *Salmonella enteritidis bacterial ghosts* (which are empty bacterial cell envelopes) with the idea of obtaining excellent DNA loading capacity with delivery to both professional and non-professional APCs, resulting in increased levels of gonococcal PorB-specific serum antibodies. [220] Lastly, Wang and colleagues employed *Helicobacter pylori* ferritin nanoparticles to present *N. gonorrhoeae* antigens, an approach already successfully applied by Kanekiyo *et al.* with the Influenza and Epstein-Barr viruses, resulting in more robust immune responses and protection against the viruses. [221-223]

Despite all these innovative approaches, OMV has always been considered one of the most promising. Indeed, OMV are self-adjuvanted systems that contain the majority of the gonococcal OM antigens, resembled on the vesicle membrane in their natural conformation. This approach is further supported by observational data related to an effective vaccine against the closely related *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B vaccines, suggesting that vaccination of humans with OMV of the related species might provide some protection against gonococci. In fact, despite the differences in the infectious pathologies caused by these two strictly human pathogens, *N. gonorrhoeae* and *N. meningitidis* share 80–90% genomic identity at the nucleotide sequence level and exhibit surface-exposed proteins shared at a high degree of sequence identity. [224, 225]

During the last years, several studies have suggested that outer membrane vesicle (OMV) *N. meningitidis* group B vaccines may reduce the incidence of gonorrhea. One of the first evidences of a protective effect was reported in Cuba, where a rapid decline in gonorrhea incidence was observed after a vaccine campaign with meningococcal VA-MENGOC-BC<sup>®</sup>, a proteoliposome OMV vaccine characterized by proteins from a hypervirulent meningococcal B strain and *N. meningitidis* serogroup C polysaccharide. [28] Interestingly, *N. meningitidis* and *N. gonorrhoeae* have been found to share many conserved proteins present in the OMV vaccine, which could elicit cross-reactive bactericidal antibodies against heterologous MenB strains and possibly against *N. gonorrhoeae*. Similarly, a 2016 analysis of gonorrhea rates in Norway showed a decrease in the incidence after a MenB vaccination campaign. [29]

Another important work was a case-control study by Petousis-Harris *et al.*, who reported the potential protective immunity against gonorrhea after a national immunization program in New Zealand with the MenB OMV vaccine MeNZB<sup>®</sup> (Novartis). Analyzing the reported gonorrhea cases from 2014 to 2016, it was found that people who received the MeNZB<sup>®</sup> vaccine had lower infection rates, with an estimated vaccine effectiveness of 31%. [27] Furthermore, a subsequent retrospective cohort study by Paynter and colleagues reported 24% effectiveness of MeNZB<sup>®</sup> against hospitalizations due to gonococcal infections, providing support of the vaccine's cross-protectivity. [30]

A recent investigation expanded the New Zealand findings by showing that immunization with the new recombinant protein based MenB vaccine (4CMenB) called Bexsero<sup>®</sup> elicits antibodies in humans that can specifically recognize *N. gonorrhoeae* proteins. [31, 32]

The Bexsero<sup>®</sup> vaccine contains the MeNZB<sup>®</sup> OMV antigens in addition to three recombinant meningococcal antigens (factor H-binding protein, FHbp; Neisseria adhesin A; NadA Neisserial heparin-binding antigen, NHBA). First, the possible Bexsero<sup>®</sup> cross-protection against gonorrhea was reported in a retrospective study in Canada, in which a 59% decline in gonorrhea was observed during the post-vaccination period. [33] Then, Semchenko *et al.* reported that anti-gonococcal antibodies elicited by Bexsero<sup>®</sup> vaccination cross-reacted with the highly conserved NHBA gonococcal protein, revealing that Bexsero<sup>®</sup> may provide additional protection with respect to MeNZB. [31]

These findings have been further validated by studies investigating the cross-protection offered by the vaccine, in which immunization of estrogen-treated mice with Bexsero<sup>®</sup> significantly accelerated clearance and reduced *N. gonorrhoeae* bacterial burden. [32] Additionally, Bexsero<sup>®</sup> induced antibodies recognizing several gonococcal outer membrane proteins including NHBA, PilQ, BamA, MtrE, PorB, and Opa. [32]

Eventually, a modelling study conducted in England, published by Looker *et al.*, highlighted the vaccination of 14-year-olds in England with 4CMenB against *N. gonorrhoeae* infection could lead to a substantial reduction in new gonorrhea infections, particularly among adolescents, with great advantages in preventing infection both in short and long-term protection. [34]

To date, there are three clinical trials to investigate the efficacy of Bexsero<sup>®</sup> vaccine against gonorrhea: the *MenGO* study, analyzing the incidence of *N. gonorrhoeae* infections in the MSM (men having sex with men) population, the *GoGoVax* clinical trial examining the efficacy of Bexsero<sup>®</sup> in the prevention of gonorrhea, determining any change in the incidence of symptomatic gonorrhea in MSM; and the *B part of it NT* observational study, which has different aims and among them to compare the rates of gonorrhea in vaccinated/unvaccinated participants. [226-228]

Collectively, these findings on the cross-protection of MenB vaccines against *N. gonorrhoeae* have recently renewed interest and optimism regarding the feasibility of an efficacious *N. gonorrhoeae* vaccine in the near future, highlighting the potential utility of OMV meningococcal serogroup B vaccines in decreasing the global incidence of this disease in the absence of a specific effective vaccine.

# I.7 Promising vaccine technology for development of a Neisseria gonorrhoeae vaccine

## I.7.1 OMV and GMMA technology

In the last years, the research on novel vaccine platforms that may accelerate vaccine development has received increased attention. Outer Membrane Vesicles (OMV) are a technology platform for vaccine delivery against bacterial pathogens, first explored as a vaccine platform against *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup B disease. After the success of vaccination with the MeNZB<sup>®</sup> OMV-based vaccine in controlling an outbreak of meningitis in New Zealand, additional research and development resulted in the licensure of Bexsero<sup>®</sup>, with broader protection against multiple meningococcal B strains and possibly against the gonococcal disease.

Both pathogenic and commensal Gram-negative bacteria are able to naturally release vesicles during growth, known as OMV. These spherical vesicles of heterogeneous size (25-250nm) originate from the bacterial membrane and therefore resemble the composition of the OM surface, comprising externally exposed antigens required to induce a protective immune response (**Figure I.15**). Therefore, after their discovery, OMV have been proposed as vaccine platform.



Figure I.15. OMV generation, composition structure and content (Figure created with Biorender.com).

OMV are constituted by a phospholipid bilayer with LPS or LOS exposed on the outside, together with membrane proteins in their native conformation; the lumen of the vesicle may contain various compounds from the periplasm or cytoplasm, such as proteins, RNA/DNA, and peptidoglycan (**Figure I.15**).

OMV have a fundamental role in microbial physiology and pathogenesis, including intracellular and extracellular communication, horizontal gene transfer, transfer of virulence factors to host cells and bacterial defense against antibiotics. [229]

The release of vesicles has been observed at all stages of growth and in a variety of growth environments, including liquid cultures, solid cultures and biofilms. [230]

Nevertheless, the natural release of vesicles from bacteria results in relatively low amounts of OMV, that contain endotoxins in their natural form, which might cause systemic reactogenicity in humans. Therefore, chemical extraction from whole bacteria using detergents has been used to obtain detergent extracted OMV (dOMV) in high yields. However, the use of chemical detergent treatment in the production process causes partial removal of LPS and lipoproteins and alters the general composition of the vesicles in terms of the protein profile, increasing the cytoplasmic and inner membrane protein content. [231]

Recently, in order to overcome issues of limited yield and to reduce the levels of endotoxicity, genetic modification of strains to increase outer membrane vesiculation [232] and reduce LPS/LOS endotoxicity [233] have been applied to obtain hyper-vesiculating strain with mutations in the LPS/LOS genes, known as Generalized Modules for Membrane Antigens (GMMA) (or mutant-derived or genetically detoxified OMV). [231, 234]

The production and purification of these vehicles is an easy and fast three-step process consisting of fermentation of the GMMA-producing strain coupled with two consecutive tangential flow filtration steps. In this way, GMMA can be produced at a high purification yield using a simple and economical process, thus supporting the development of affordable vaccines, that are particularly attractive for low and middle income countries. [235]

GMMA have been shown to be highly immunogenic in animal models when tested as vaccine candidates against *Shigella*, non-typhoidal *Salmonella* and *N. meningitidis*. [236-240] GMMA are systems capable of reflecting the outer membrane composition, but with the advantage of lacking the ability to cause the associated disease. Therefore, they present to immune system antigens in their natural conformation, facilitating uptake by immune cells and inducing a solid immune response. [241] GMMA have an optimal size for immune stimulation, and they naturally display several Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs), small molecular motifs well conserved in bacteria that are potent immunostimulatory molecules. PAMPs are recognized by receptors, called Pattern

Recognition Receptors (PRRs), that are predominantly expressed on innate immune cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages and neutrophils. [242] The interactions between PAMPs and PRRs rapidly elicit host immune responses *via* the activation of complex signaling pathways with the induction of pro-inflammatory responses mediated by various cytokines and chemokines, which subsequently facilitates the eradication of the pathogen. This may be the basis for the GMMA self-adjuvanticity.

An example of PAMPS expressed on the GMMA surface is LPS (or LOS). LPS Lipid A is the endotoxic component of LPS which is implicated in binding to Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) 4, inducing a strong stimulation of the innate immune response. Activation of the innate immune system can lead to high immune responses to an antigen; however, they may also induce unacceptable reactogenicity in human subjects. Therefore, a variety of strategies has been evaluated to avoid potential issues related to GMMA endotoxicity and to find a balance between immune stimulation and reactogenicity [242-244], which is the basis for obtaining an acceptable GMMA-based vaccine.

The main strategy involves the attenuation of LOS pyrogenicity, obtained by genetic manipulation of the GMMA-producing strain. A wide range of lipid A structures have been described and all possibly provide the bacteria with different abilities to activate TLR4 through different structures possessing different levels of agonist/antagonist abilities. The most reactogenic form of lipid A is bis-phosphorylated and hexa-acylated with 12 to 14 carbon acyl chains, whereas penta-acylated lipid A is much less active than the hexa-acylated form in activating human TLR4. [245-247]The number of lipid A acyl chains can be genetically modified to delete the acyltransferases involved in the late biosynthesis and secondary acylation of lipid A. In *Neisseria meningitidis* secondary acylation of lipid A is carried out by *lpxL1* and *lpxL2* [240, 248-253], whereas the genes that encode acyltransferases in Shigella are *htrB* or *msbB* and in Salmonella *msbB* and *pagP*. [233, 254-256] These genes have been mutated to generate GMMA with different penta-acylated lipid A forms with lower reactogenicity. Selecting the appropriate modified lipid A structure is important for obtaining GMMA-based vaccines without problems related to possible reactogenicity.

In conclusion, GMMA represents a flexible platform, as they can act as effective adjuvants and carriers thus having an intrinsic ability to improve the immunogenicity of protein and carbohydrate antigens. These vesicles are highly stable at different temperatures and treatments and they are non-replicative systems, hence, they are safe. The ability to activate the immune system provides these vesicles with a self-adjuvanticity, which is also related to their own nature. Indeed, as observed, they can enhance antibody and T-cell response and are also versatile systems that can be manipulated to reduce their intrinsic endotoxicity or bioengineered to express any desired antigen. Indeed, they can also be exploited as delivery systems for secondary antigens, decorating them with homologous or

heterologous proteins or polysaccharides, either through genetic manipulation or chemical conjugation, also supporting the development of multicomponent vaccines. [257]

# I.7.2 Liposomes

Liposomes are spheres of phospholipid bilayers that enclose a central aqueous space, which are formed by self-assembly in water through hydrophobic interactions. They were created by Bangham *et al.* in 1965. [258]

Since the pioneering studies of Gregoriadis and coworkers in the mid-1970s, liposomes gained increasing attention as antigen delivery vehicles, particularly because of their intrinsic adjuvant activity and ease of production [259]. In fact, liposomes have been exploited as biocompatible carriers for vaccines against many viral, bacterial, and fungal infections of animals and humans with several liposomal vaccines that are currently licensed, namely Epaxal (Hepatitis A), Shingrix (Shingles), Mosquirix (Malaria) Inflexal V (Influenza) and m-RNA-1273 and BNT162b2 (COVID-19). [260]

The liposome technology offers many advantages. Indeed, liposomes are biodegradable and safe systems that can be easily produced, and they are capable of reducing antigen toxicity and potential allergic responses. They can also activate both innate and adaptive immune responses and modification to the liposome composition or physicochemical properties, such as size, lamellarity bilayer fluidity, surface charge, can influence interactions with the immune cells.

Liposomes have high loading and encapsulation capabilities, and their surfaces can be modified using different approaches to deliver the desired components. These aspects make possible to modulate these systems in order to transport both hydrophilic and hydrophobic molecules, also improving their stability, if needed.

Liposomes are phospholipid bilayer vesicles and, since phospholipids are amphipathic molecules characterized by a lipophilic tail and a hydrophilic head on the same molecule, these systems have a double nature. In liposome vesicles, the phospholipid polar heads orient themselves toward the aqueous medium and the hydrophobic tails are part of the inner region of the membrane. [261] (**Figure I.16**)



**Figure I.16.** Liposome composition, assembly and classification into SUV, LUV and MLV (Figure created with Biorender.com).

According to their morphology, liposomes can be classified as multilamellar vesicles (MLV), composed of several concentric bilayers separated by aqueous compartments and particularly useful for sustained antigen release, or unilamellar vesicles (ULV), an aqueous core surrounded by a single bilayer of phospholipids. ULVs are further classified in small unilamellar vehicles (SUVs) with size less than 100 nm and large unilamellar vehicles (LUVs) with sizes up to a micrometer (200nm-1µm). Lipid-based nanocarriers that are not characterized by a contiguous bilayer are classified as lipid nanoparticles (LNPs) which are micelle-like structures, encapsulating molecules in a non-aqueous core. LNPs represent a newly emerging strategy for nucleic acid vaccine delivery since they are more effective than classical lipid-based particles. [262]

The choice of the composition and the production methods can have a significant impact on the final product. Among the most used components for liposome-based vaccines (including also lipid nanoparticles) are neutral or charged phospholipids, which are responsible for the structures of the lipid bilayer, and cholesterol, which enhances membrane stability and rigidity. Negatively or positively charged lipids can be included in the formulation in order to modulate liposome structure and surface properties and to obtain highly stable surface-charged particles, owing to the electrostatic repulsion that prevents aggregation and flocculation phenomena.

Lipid formulations can be produced through various techniques. Among them, some of the conventional preparation methods are the thin-film hydration method, which is the simplest and oldest method, detergent depletion, solvent injection, reverse-phase evaporation, and emulsion methods. [263] Nevertheless, these techniques result in vesicle preparations with low encapsulation

efficiencies, high polydispersity and high variability in size and/or shape. Moreover, they are not scalable to industrial production.

To address these issues, microfluidic systems have recently been introduced as innovative techniques. Generally, microfluidics uses intersecting microchannels for highly controlled mixing of volumes of two or more miscible solvents (commonly an aqueous phase mixed with a water-miscible alcohol). During mixing, the change in polarity promotes nanoprecipitation and formation of lipid-based nanoparticles. As with other manufacturing techniques, these systems can be optimized by modulating some critical process parameters (flow rate, flow ratio and temperature) and material parameters (aqueous buffer selection and composition, solvent). The use of these techniques as part of the production process offers the advantages of robust particle size control and high reproducibility with no scalability problems. [264, 265]

Together with aluminum salts and oil-in-water emulsions, liposomes are a class of adjuvants that are currently included in licensed vaccines; however, an important advantage of these systems over the others is that they can be carriers of both hydrophilic and hydrophobic molecules such as antigens and immunopotentiators.

Liposome surfaces can be modified with appropriate ligands to alter their immunological profile. Their vaccine adjuvant activity is based on the ability to attract, interact and activate APCs (e.g., dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and B cells) based on their physicochemical (size and charge) and immunogenic properties (incorporation of other adjuvants and targeting ligands). [263] Indeed, liposomal formulations can be generated containing a wide variety of PAMPS to stimulate innate immune responses via specific PRRs and to preferentially interact with APCs, induce specific innate and adaptive immune responses and also reduce the possibility of simple clearance, without stimulation, by these cells.



**Figure I.17.** Different methods for the incorporation of antigens, adjuvants, and targeting ligands into/onto liposomes: encapsulation into the aqueous core for hydrophilic molecules or incorporation into the lipid bilayer for hydrophobic one; electrostatic binding to the oppositely charged lipids on liposomes surface; conjugation to functionalized lipid membrane components (Figure created with Biorender.com, adapted from Chatzikleanthous *et al.*, 2021). [263]

The liposomal platform can also be exploited as carrier for antigens. Several combinations of surface functionalization and/or modification methods have been applied to prepare multifunctional liposomal formulations including simple co-administration, encapsulation, surface decoration through electrostatic complexation or covalent conjugation (**Figure I.17**). Moreover, the co-encapsulation of antigens and adjuvants into liposomes can also be applied in order to increase immunogenicity.

The use of SUV or LUVs liposome exposing recombinant OMP as vaccine carriers has been reported during the last decades, also for delivering *Neisseria* antigens. In this case, it is important to consider that liposome-delivered antigens need to mirror the native conformations of the proteins within the bacterial OM, and this can be obtained by refolding/intercalating them within the phospholipid bilayer of the liposome.

Furthermore, in this context, liposomes can also be used to incorporate antigens and study the binding and affinity/avidity of protective antibodies, in order to improve the conformational refolding of protein antigens and increase immunogenicity or to study the effect of a single antigen on the response. Indeed, liposomal vaccines have the advantage of displaying only the selected antigen, avoiding contamination of other possible problematic components and, moreover, decreasing the

toxicity and preventing the development of allergic reactions related to some components, such as LOS/LPS and lipid A of Gram-negative bacteria. [266]

In a panorama where the COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated the urgency for vaccine technologies that are flexible and facilitate rapid development, production and upscaling, liposomal nanoparticles represent an innovative and promising vaccine platform.

Liposomes permit improved antigen delivery, ease and speed of production. This, together with the application of structural biology and immunological knowledge can improve our understanding of the induction of immune responses by vaccines, thereby aiding in enhanced antigen design and the discovery of better adjuvants to improve immunogenicity. Moreover, on the other side, liposomes represent enticing carrier for development of improved subunit-based vaccines.

# **CHAPTER 1**

# 1.1 Aim of the study

Gonococcal surface molecules that may be appropriate vaccine targets are often antigenically variable through phase variation phenomena, making the bacterial surface a moving target, thus complicating vaccine development. [267] The ability to modify membrane determinants is advantageous for gonococci and results in evasion strategies to increase fitness and facilitate the adaptation of organisms to their environment. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that adaptive immune responses that target highly conserved gonococcal antigens are not able to provide a satisfying protection. [268]

Among the surface components widely studied as potential vaccine antigens, LOS accounts for the majority of bacterial outer membrane constituents; therefore, it is an easily accessible target for adaptive immunity.

Results from earlier studies have provided important information on the role of anti-LOS antibodies in the engagement of complement, resulting in bactericidal [269, 270] and opsonophagocytic activities. [160] Likewise, LOS antibodies may promote protection against reinfection with the homologous strain in experimental infection studies in human male volunteers. [271]

Although extensive research has been carried out on the role of this antigen during the last few decades, no studies have adequately investigated the impact of LOS on gonococcal protection when used as a vaccine antigen in an outer membrane vesicle carrier, such as in the GMMA system. In this case, it is worth considering that LOS is co-presented with other OMPs that could influence the anti-LOS response. Moreover, there has been no reliable and clear evidence on the role of LOS in the GMMA-mediated immune response and to assign this role to a specific oligosaccharide structure.

Consequently, the key research question of this study was to establish whether the LOS-derived oligosaccharide moiety has an impact on the gonococcal GMMA immune response in terms of complement-mediated bactericidal killing and subsequently to determine the role of the different oligosaccharide moieties on the bactericidal response.

First, the effect of the oligosaccharide structure within LOS on the gonococcal GMMA immune response was investigated. To this end, mutants exposing a shorter oligosaccharide chain deprived of the principal saccharide epitopes have been instrumental in assessing the direct influence of gonococcal LOS on the bactericidal response.

The second main aim of this project was to verify the potential impact of the variable oligosaccharide portion of gonococcal lipooligosaccharide on the immune response induced in mice.

For this purpose, we leveraged on a panel of gonococcal mutants genetically engineered to express a distinct and invariant LOS structure, that was properly detoxified in order to produce GMMA. This approach made it possible to establish how different oligosaccharide lengths influence the immune response.

Taken together, these studies provide deeper insights into gonococcal LOS-derived oligosaccharides as immune targets and support the design of new vaccines against this antibiotic resistant human pathogen.

# **1.2 Materials and Methods**

# **1.2.1** Bacterial strains

# 1.3.1.1 Neisseria gonorrhoeae strains for GMMA-producing strains and functional assays

**Table 1.1** lists some of the features of the *N. gonorrhoeae* strain panel used for the functional assays and for the genetic engineering to generate GMMA producing strains (FA1090 and MS11). *Ad hoc* studies conducted internally allowed to select the strains used for the functional assays that are representative of the general population of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (internal unpublished data). The LOS glycoform was not considered as a parameter for the selection of relevant gonococcal strains, indeed, the rationale was based on the analysis of OMPs components with the aim of selecting strains with a wide genetic variability. A particular attention was paid to PorB, the most abundant protein in the gonococcal outer membrane that can be present in two variants named PorB.1A and PorB.1B.

Strain	PorB variant	Serum resistance	Pili presence	Country	Genome source
FA1090	PorB.1B	Yes	No	USA	PubMLST id #2855
F62	PorB.1B	No	Yes	N/A	PubMLST id #21070
MS11	PorB.1B	No	Yes	USA	PubMLST id #27228
BG27	PorB.1B	Yes	No	UK	INT
WHO-M	PorB.1B	No	Yes	Australia	EMBL-EBI (ENA)
					#LT591904
BG8	PorB.1B	Yes	No	UK	INT
SK92	PorB.1A	Yes	No	USA	PubMLST id #21071
WHO F	PorB.1A	Yes	No	Canada	EMBL-EBI (ENA)
wпО-г					#LT591897
WHO G	Dor D 1 A	Yes	No	Thailand	EMBL-EBI (ENA)
	TOID.IA				#LT91898
WHO N	PorB.1A Yes	Vas	Yes	Australia	EMBL-EBI (ENA)
WIO-N		1 08			#LT591910

**Table 1.1.** Characteristics of *N. gonorrhoeae* strains. Pili presence was assessed by Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM). Genome sequences were retrieved from public databases (PubMLST or EMBL-EBI) or produced internally (INT).

Strains were routinely cultured at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> on Gonococcus (GC) agar medium (Difco) plates enriched with 1% v/v of Isovitalex, a chemically defined supplement usually added to cultures of nutritionally fastidious microorganisms.

For liquid cultures, bacteria grown for at least 18h on the plates were diluted to an  $OD_{600nm}$  of 0.3-0.4 in liquid GC - 1% v/v Isovitalex, opportunely added of supplement if necessary, and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C at 160 rpm.

When required, to induce pilus expression and enable transformation, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains were cultured on GC agar plates supplemented with 0.25 mM (IPTG). Chloramphenicol and Kanamycin were added to achieve a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/ml for the selection of transformed clones.

# 1.3.1.2 Neisseria gonorrhoeae MS11 LOS lgt mutant strains

*Neisseria gonorrhoeae* MS11 LOS *lgt* mutant strains used in this work are described in **Table 1.2**. These strains were obtained from Prof. Sanjay Ram (Division of Infectious Diseases and Immunology, University of Massachusetts Medical School).

**Table 1.2.** *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains used in this study (adapted from Chakraborti *et al.*, 2016). [161] These strains were all derived from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* MS11 v.4/3/1 strain.

N. gonorrhoeae strain	LOS phenotype	Description
2HexG-	Gal-Glc-HepI Unsubstituted HepII	<i>lgtA</i> -del <i>lgtC</i> -off <i>lgtG::kan</i>
2HexG+	Gal-Glc- <b>HepI</b> Gal-Glc- <b>HepII</b>	<i>lgtA</i> -del <i>lgtC</i> -off <i>lgtG</i> -on
3HexG-	Gal-Gal-Glc-HepI Unsubstituted HepII	<i>lgtA</i> -del <i>lgtC</i> -on <i>lgtG::kan</i>
3HexG+	Gal-Gal-Glc-HepI Gal-Glc-HepII	<i>lgtA</i> -del <i>lgtC</i> -on <i>lgtG</i> -on
4HexG-	Gal-GlcNAc-Gal-Glc-HepI Unsubstituted HepII	<i>lgtA</i> -on <i>lgtD</i> -del <i>lgtC</i> -off <i>lgtG::kan</i>
4HexG+	Gal-GlcNAc-Gal-Glc- <b>HepI</b> Gal-Glc- <b>HepII</b>	<i>lgtA</i> -on <i>lgtD</i> -del <i>lgtC</i> -off <i>lgtG</i> -on
5HexG-	GalNAc-Gal-GlcNAc-Gal-Glc-HepI Unsubstituted HepII	<i>lgtA</i> -on <i>lgtD</i> -on <i>lgtC</i> -off <i>lgtG::kan</i>
5HexG+	GalNAc-Gal-GlcNAc-Gal-Glc- <b>HepI</b> Gal-Glc- <b>HepII</b>	<i>lgtA</i> -on <i>lgtD</i> -on <i>lgtC</i> -off <i>lgtG</i> -on

The MS11 LOS *lgt* mutant strains were created in the background of *N. gonorrhoeae* MS11 4/3/1, a variant of MS11 VD300 with an isopropyl-D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG)–inducible *pilE* that controls pilus expression. [272] In these mutant strains the expression of the four phase-variable *lgt* genes (*lgtG*, *lgtA*, *lgtC* and *lgtD*, highlighted in **Figure 1.1**) was genetically fixed either on or off (or deleted) as described in Chakraborti *et al.*, 2016. [161]



**Figure 1.1.** Schematic representation of gonococcal LOS. The four phase-variable *lgt* genes involved in glycan extensions are underlined.

#### 1.3.1.3 Generation of Neisseria gonorrhoeae mutant strains

#### Generation of *lpxLI* knockout in *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 strain

DNA manipulations were carried out routinely as described for standard laboratory methods. [273] All DNA primers used in this study are reported in **Table 1.3**. The plasmid pBS- $\Delta lpxL1$  kanR, which contains the kanamycin resistance gene and the upstream and downstream regions for the homologous recombination, was used as a template for the amplification of the DNA needed for the transformation. The PCR was performed using the primers Lpx UP Fwd and LpxL1 DO Rev and the KAPA Hifi 2X master mix (Roche), with reaction conditions as follow: 94°C for 5 min, 40 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 60°C for 30 s and 72°C for 3 min, with a final step at 72°C for 5 min. DNA purifications were performed using the QIAquick PCR purification kit (QIAGEN) following the manufacturer's protocol.

Name	Sequence 5'-3'	Use
Lpx UP Fwd	GGCATTTGTATTTTGCCGTCTG	Amplification of
		plasmid
LpxL1 DO Rev	CGCCATTTTCTACGCTTTGCCAAG	pBS-∆ <i>lpxL1 kanR</i>
NGO_lpxL1_wtcheck-Fw	CCGCGTTCGAGATGG	Check of
NGO_lpxL1_wtcheck-Rev	GCGGAACTGTTTGACGAG	wild-type locus
LpxL1 est FW	CCGCCAAACTCAATCCTTCG	Mutant screening
LpxL1 est REV	GCAAACTTTTGTTTCACCGTTTCCG	in a server server in a server

Table 1.3. List of primers used for the generation of *lpxLI* knockout in Ng FA1090.

The PCR product was used for the transformation of the FA1090 strains. Transformations were carried out by spotting a mixture of 30 µl of bacterial resuspension in PBS 1x and 30 µl of DNA onto a GC agar plate and by incubating it for 5-6 hours. Transformants were selected into GC agar plates with kanamycin 40 µg/mL. All transformants were tested by PCR analysis using Accuprime<sup>TM</sup> Taq Polymerase (Thermo Scientific) and with external primers (primer couples LpxL1 est FW/LpxL1 est REV) to check the correct event of double recombination. Positive clones were streaked repeatedly onto selective agar plates; glycerol stock and DNA lysates were collected at each passage and tested for the presence of remaining wild-type population. PCR screenings were performed using Accuprime<sup>TM</sup> Taq Polymerase (Thermo Scientific) and with internal primers, specific for the wild-type DNA (NGO\_lpxL1\_wtcheck-Fw/NGO\_lpxL1\_wtcheck-Rev).

#### Generation of *lgtF* knockout in *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 Δ*lpxL1* strain

DNA manipulations were carried out routinely as described for standard laboratory methods. The *lgtF* knockout was obtained by genomic recombination where the coding sequence of this enzyme was replaced with the chloramphenicol antibiotic resistance cassette (lgtF::cmR) with a double crossing over. The amplification of 515 bp upstream and 548 bp downstream regions of the lgtF gene was performed with the primer couples lgtF-UP-fw/rv and lgtF-DO-fw/rv respectively using as template 50 ng of genomic DNA purified from the FA1090 wild type strain and KapaHiFi DNA polymerase (Roche); the amplification of the chloramphenicol resistance gene (cmR) was done with the primer couple cloKOF/R using 10 ng of a synthetic DNA template (Geneart). Primer sequences are listed in **Table 1.4**. Primer tails indicated in italics were added to allow Polymerase Incomplete Primer Extension (PIPE) cloning [274] of PCR products into a modified pET15 vector, previously amplified with primer couple PIPEfw/pET15KOrv. According to PIPE method, PCR products were

transformed into *E. coli* MACH-1 competent cells (Thermo Scientific) immediately following amplification. Screening of transformants was done by colony PCR using T7prom/pETseqRv primers. PCR product from positive clone was purified using the QIAquick PCR purification kit (QIAGEN) following the manufacturer's protocol and used for Gonococcus transformation.

<b>Table 1.4.</b> List of primers used for the generation of <i>lgtF</i> knockout in N. gonorrhoede FA1090 $\Delta lpxL$	1 strain
--	----------

Name	Sequence 5'-3'	Use
lotF_UP_fw	ATAGGGGAATTGTGCTCGAGACGCACCACAACGACAGT	Amplification
Igu-01-Iw	ATGGAAAG	of <i>lgtF</i>
latE LID ry	<i>TCCTTCAGACGGCATTCCCGGGG</i> GGTTTCTCAAAGCATTT	upstream
Igu-Or-Iv	TGGTTTC	region
latE DO fw	<i>GGATCCCCATGGATACCCGGG</i> CAAACTATATTATCTGT	Amplification
Igif-DO-Iw	ACAAATCC	of <i>lgtF</i>
latE DO ray	AATTAAGTCGCGTTATCTAGAGTATCGATACCGTTATGA	downstream
Igu-DO-IV	ACAATCC	region
cloKOF	ATGCCGTCTGAAGGATCCGTCAACCGTGATATAGATTG	Amplification
	AAAAGTG	of <i>cmR</i>
cloKOR	TATCCATGGGGATCCGATCCACGCGTCTTAAGGCGG	cassette
PIPE-Fw	TAACGCGACTTAATTGGCCAGTGTGCCGGTCTCCG	Amplification
pET15KOrv	TCACAATTCCCCTATAGTGAGTC	of cloning
		vector
T7Prom	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGG	Screening for
pETseqRv	GATATCCGGATATAGTTCCTC	cloning
lgtF-ext-F	AAGACATCGGCCGGATTAATC	Mutant
lgtF-ext-R	GACGGTAAAAAACGGCTGTCGG	screening
lotE wt E	CTTCCATCTCGGCCGAGAAATACC	Check of wild
1g11'-w1-1'		type locus

*N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  strain was previously generated as described above. Gonococcus transformation was carried out as previously described [275] and transformants were selected into GC agar plates + 1% Isovitalex with chloramphenicol 2 µg/ml. Transformants were tested by PCR analysis using Accuprime<sup>TM</sup> Taq Polymerase (Thermo Scientific) and with external lgtF-ext-F/R to check the correct event of double recombination. The expected band for the mutant strains with *cmR* (chloramphenicol resistance cassette) is about 1960bp while the wild-type locus is 1860bp long.

Positive clones were streaked repeatedly onto GC agar plates + 1% Isovitalex with chloramphenicol 3  $\mu$ g/mL; glycerol stock and DNA lysates were collected at each passage and tested for the presence of remaining wild-type population. PCR screenings were performed using Accuprime<sup>TM</sup> Taq Polymerase (Thermo Scientific) with the internal primer lgtF-wt-F, specific for the wild-type DNA in combination with the external primer lgtF-ext-R. Clones presenting the *lgtF* deletion yielded no PCR products, while those expressing the wild-type gene gave a 767 bp long PCR product.

#### Generation of lpxL1 knockout in Neisseria gonorrhoeae MS11 v.4/3/1 lgt mutant strains

DNA manipulations were carried out routinely as described for standard laboratory methods. [273] All DNA primers used in this study are reported in **Table 1.5**.

**Table 1.5.** List of primers used for the generation of *lpxL1* knockout mutants in *N. gonorrhoeae* MS11 v.4/3/1LOS mutant strains.

Name	Sequence 5'-3'	Use
Lpx UP Fwd	GGCATTTGTATTTTGCCGTCTG	Amplification
		of ∆lpxL1-cmR-
LpxL1 DO Rev	CGCCATTTTCTACGCTTTGCCAAG	PheS
NGO_lpxL1_wtcheck-Fw	CCGCGTTCGAGATGG	Check wild type
NGO_lpxL1_wtcheck-Rev	GCGGAACTGTTTGACGAG	locus
LpxL1 est FW	CCGCCAAACTCAATCCTTCG	Mutant
LpxL1 est REV	GCAAACTTTTGTTTCACCGTTTCCG	screening

In order to reduce LOS endotoxin activity, the *lpxL1* gene (NGO0154) was genetically deleted in each *lgt* mutant strain. The plasmidic DNA containing the synthetic construct  $\Delta$ LpxL1-cmR-PheS (construct3PHS) was received from Geneart. The linearized cassette  $\Delta$ lpxL1-cmR-PheS, which contains the cloramphenicol resistance gene and the upstream and downstream regions for the homologous recombination, was used as a template for the amplification of the DNA needed for the transformation. The PCR was performed using the primers Lpx UP Fwd and LpxL1 DO Rev and the KAPA HIFI 2X master mix (Roche), with reaction conditions as follow: 95°C for 5 min, 30 cycles of 98°C for 30 s, 60°C for 30 s and 72°C for 3 min 30 s, with a final step at 72°C for 7 min. DNA purifications were performed using the KIT wizard SV Gel and PCR clean up system (Promega) following the manufacturer's protocol.

This PCR product, the linearized plasmidic DNA  $\Delta$ LpxL1-cmR-PheS, was used for the transformation of all the previously generated MS11 LOS *lgt* mutant strains.

The *lpxL1* knockout was obtained by genomic recombination where the coding sequence of this enzyme was replaced with the chloramphenicol antibiotic resistance cassette (*lpxL1::cmR*) with a double crossing over. Transformations were carried out by spotting a mixture of bacterial resuspension in PBS 1x and DNA onto a GC agar plate and by incubating it for 5-6 hours. Transformants were selected into GC agar plates with cloramphenicol 10  $\mu$ g/ml to select the  $\Delta lpxL1$ mutants. All transformants were tested by PCR analysis using Accuprime<sup>TM</sup> Taq Polymerase (Thermo Scientific) and with external primers (primer couples LpxL1 est FW/LpxL1 est REV) to check the correct event of double recombination. The expected band for the mutant strain with cmR (chloramphenicol resistance) is about 2986bp while the wild-type locus is about 1703bp long. Positive clones were streaked repeatedly onto selective agar plates; glycerol stock and DNA lysates were collected at each passage and tested for the presence of remaining wild-type population. PCR screenings were performed using Accuprime<sup>TM</sup> Taq Polymerase (ThermoFisher) and with the external primer LpxL1 est FW in combination with the internal primer NGO lpxL1 wtcheck-Rv, specific for the wild-type DNA. The desired Clones tested by PCR using the primer couples didn't yield any PCR product confirming the successful lpxL1 deletion, while those expressing the wildtype *lpxL1* gene gave a PCR product of about 625 bp.

### **1.2.2 GMMA Production and Purification**

#### **Bacterial fermentation**

For each batch, the production of biomass started from a frozen working bacterial stock by growth in plate for at least 12-16 h. After growth, this was sub-cultured to a pre-culture, that was subsequently used to inoculate the production medium into a shake flask in liquid GC - 1% v/v Isovitalex supplemented with 5 g/L Na-Lactate, 2.5 g/L Na-Glutammate, 0.5 g/L Serine, 0.3 g/L Cysteine. The culture was incubated at 37°C 180 rpm, starting from an optical density measured at 600 nm  $(OD_{600nm})$  of 0.3-0.4. The bacterial culture was grown until it reached an  $OD_{600nm}$  equal to  $1.5 \pm 0.5$ , usually in  $9 \pm 2$  hours.

#### **OMV** isolation and purification

The collected growth was centrifuged at 12000 xg for 30 min at 4°C in order to remove the bacteria and large debris from the solution. The supernatant, containing the vesicles released into the fermentation broth, was then carefully recovered and filtered with a 0.2µm PES filter to sterilize and further remove large debris. Then, 400U/L Benzonase (Merck) (2h, 37°C) was added to the crude

GMMA to digest DNA following the manufacturer's instructions and subsequently the supernatant was filtered again with a 0.2µm PES filter. Next, the solution was concentrated and diafiltrated using tangential flow filtration (TFF). The suspension was concentrated using a 200 cm2 300kDa cut-off PESU membrane (SARTOCON SLICE 200 Sartorius stedim polyethersulfone 300kDa), followed by 25 volume diafiltration with PBS 1x buffer to wash out the original buffer salts (or other low molecular weight species) in the retentate. The retentate was then concentrated again and then washed with 40 volumes of PBS 1x. When purity levels were below 80% (established by SE-HPLC), the sample was further purified by centrifugation at 150000 xg (Optima L90K, rotor SW31Ti S/N 15U4385, tubes Ultraclear 38.5mL P/N 344058) for 2h and solubilization in sterile PBS 1x buffer for 24h at 4°C in a laboratory tilting shaker. Lastly, the purified OMV were filtered using a 0.2 µm cut-off filter to obtain sterile samples.

## 1.2.3 GMMA characterization and LOS quantification

For all the analysis, the degree of purity of the water is "Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> Type 1 Ultrapure Water". It will be referred to as MilliQ<sup>®</sup> water or simply water.

#### Protein quantification by Lowry assay

Total protein quantification and protein concentration was performed with Pierce Modified Lowry Protein Assay from Thermo Scientific, diluting each sample in duplicate and preparing a 5-point calibration curve using a BSA starting solution of 100  $\mu$ g/mL. Then, the two solutions of the Lowry kit are prepared and added to the sample, following the manufacturer's instructions. The samples are finally transferred to a plastic cuvette and are read at the spectrophotometer at 750 nm. The final protein content on the GMMA samples is quantified based on the BSA calibration curve.

#### GMMA purity and integrity by SE-HPLC

Size-Exclusion Chromatography (SEC) separates molecules on the basis of their hydrodynamic size. A column is filled with porous beads (polymeric gel or silica beads) that admit small molecules to enter their pores but not the large ones. When a mixture of molecules in solution is applied to the top of the column, the smaller molecules are distributed through a larger volume of solvent than is available to the large molecules. The large molecules move then more rapidly through the column, and then small and large molecules can be separated (fractionated). SE-HPLC was used to determine GMMA's purity using fluorescence (FLR) to monitor soluble protein contaminants and 260nm and 280nm wavelength for DNA content determination. 100  $\mu$ L of GMMA samples were injected onto a TSKgel G6000PW column (Tosoh) equilibrated with PBS 1x (GMMA's storage buffer). An isocratic

gradient (1,5 CV; PBS 1x) was applied at 0,5 ml/min. Wavelengths of 260 nm, 280 nm, and FLR (ex277nm/em335nm) were selected to monitor the GMMA elution profile. For each peak, the peak start and end times is identified and the peak baseline is define as well. Then, peak areas, peak heights and peak retention times are calculated to have the final value of GMMA purity (express in %). Soluble proteins were estimated from the integration of FLR peaks since at this wavelength has been demonstrated that DNA is not visible.

#### **Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS)**

DLS provides information on size and size distribution of vesicles up to 1000 nm in radius. The Brownian motion of particles or molecules in suspension causes laser light to be scattered at different intensities. Analysis of these intensity fluctuations by a fast photon counter yields the velocity of the Brownian motion and hence hydrodynamic radius (Rh) using the Stokes-Einstein relationship:

$$D = \frac{kT}{6\pi\eta R}$$

The fluctuations are directly related to the rate of diffusion of the molecule through the solvent, which is related in turn to the particle's *Rh*. Larger size particles have higher influence in terms of light intensity. Samples were vortexed to provide a homogeneous solution and then 0,1 mL or 0,5 mL were transferred to a cuvette. The Zetasizer software (Malvern Panalytical) collects and interprets measurement data to assign the mean particle radius, calculated by the software from the particle distributions measured, and the polydispersity index (PDI) of the size ranges present in the solution.

#### **1.2.4** LOS extraction, physicochemical and immunochemical characterization

#### LOS extraction

LOS cwas extracted using a general method based on the Westphal hot phenol extraction process to purify whole LOS from *N. gonorrhoeae* bacterial pellet or directly from GMMA/OMV samples. Bacterial pellets were obtained after centrifugation of the *Ng* strain grown in liquid culture to exponential phase. The pellet was suspended in a buffer (6mM tris-base 10mM EDTA 2% SDS, pH 6.8) containing 50µg/ml of proteinase K and stirred at 65°C for 2 hours and it was then placed overnight at 37°C. A solution of sodium acetate (1/10 of the sample volume) was added together with 3 volumes of cold ethanol. After centrifugation at 12000xg for 10min at 4°C, the supernatant was removed, and the pellet suspended in sodium acetate buffer. Cold ethanol precipitation was repeated 3 times, and, at the end, the pellet was suspended in a buffer containing 10mM Tris base, 100mM

NaCl, 5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 7.3, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 10mM and 100µL of benzonase (Merk, 250U/µL). The sample was stirred overnight at 37°C and 50rpm. LOS was extracted with a hot phenol/water procedure from bacterial pellets treated as described above or from OMV/GMMA particles. In detail, the bacterial suspension or GMMA were stirred at 65°C until the temperature equilibrated. An equal volume of 90% (w/v) phenol which had been preheated to 65°C was added and thoroughly mixed for 30 minutes. The resulting mixture was rapidly cooled by stirring for 30 minutes in an ice-water bath. The phenol mixture was then centrifuged at 4°C at 4000xg for 10 minutes. A sharp interface occurred between the aqueous, phenol, and interface layers. The aqueous and phenol layers were removed by aspiration. The aqueous layer containing the lipopolysaccharide was retained while the phenol layer was temporarily discarded, to be treated again to remove the remaining LOS. Cold ethanol precipitation was performed 3-4 times on the aqueous phase and the final pellet was suspended in distilled water and ultracentrifuged at 175000xg for 3 hours. After ultracentrifugation, the pellet containing extracted LOS was suspended in distilled water.

#### Silver stained SDS-PAGE

The samples of LOS or GMMA were titrated in previous silver staining experiments to check the optimal quantity of samples that can permit a clear LOS profiling with well separated LOS bands that correspond to different LOS structure populations (data not shown). Loading of GMMA/OMV or LOS on each well of SDS-PAGE gel was normalized based on LOS quantity obtained from semicarbazide-HPLC method (described below): 0.12 nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/well. The SDS-PAGE gel is a 16% Tris-glycine gel (Invitrogen) and samples are run with Tris-glycine 1x buffer (Invitrogen). The marker is Ultra-Low range and consists of the following protein markers: Bradykinin (1060 Da), Insulin Chain B (3496 Da), Aprotinin (6500 Da),  $\alpha$ -Lactalbumin (14200 Da), Myoglobin (17000 Da) and Triosephosphate Isomerase (26600 Da). After running, gels are fixed with fixation solution (40% ethanol, 5% acetic acid, 55% water) for 5 minutes after 30 seconds in microwave oven (700W). Gels were then oxidized with 0.07% NaIO<sub>4</sub> in the same fixation solution left for 5 minutes in the darkness. Gels were washed with a solution of 30% ethanol for 5 minutes after 30 seconds in microwave oven then are stained using SilverQuest<sup>TM</sup> Staining kit (Thermo Fisher), according to manufacturers' recommendations.

#### LOS quantification by SCA-SE-HPLC assay

The content analysis of the LOS present in the GMMA samples is performed by the quantification of the reactive carbonyl groups of the saccharide moiety, generated after acid hydrolysis to remove the Lipid A and derivatized with semicarbazide (SCA), by SE-HPLC analysis. The SCA reaction coupled with SE-HPLC analysis has been already reported in literature [276, 277]. In the first step, the

purified GMMA samples were treated with Acetic Acid, 1% final concentration, and hydrolyzed for 2 hours at 100°C to remove the Lipid A. After the hydrolysis, the sample is centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14000xg to separate pellet (Lipid A) and supernatant (OS). The supernatant was dried in a SpeedVac system to remove the Acetic Acid, and then dissolved with water. To obtain UV detectable samples, the supernatants are derivatized with semicarbazide. A stock SCA solution was prepared dissolving  $100 \pm 2$  mg of SCA Hydrochloride and  $90.5 \pm 2$  mg of Sodium Acetate in 10 mL of water. Equal volumes of sample and SCA solution were transferred into clean vials (e.g.,  $100\mu$ L sample +  $100\mu$ L SCA solution) and incubated in a pre-heated water bath at 50°C for 50 minutes. Samples were chilled at 2-8°C for 15 minutes and then filtered into HPLC vials. The KDO content of the GMMA samples is quantified based on a calibration curve prepared starting with standard KDO ammonium salt solution. The LOS content is expressed in nmol/mL of KDO, which matches the nmol/mL of OS, and it is lastly reported as nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/mg protein, to normalize on the protein content.

# **SE-HPLC** settings:

- TSKgel PW-XL guard with TSKgel G3000 PW-XL columns (Tosoh) connected in series.
- Column compartment temperature at 30°C
- Autosampler temperature at 10°C
- UV detection at 252 nm
- Isocratic elution in 100 mM sodium phosphate buffer pH 7.0, 100 mM sodium sulfate, 5% acetonitrile
- Flow rate at 0.5 mL/min
- Total run time 40 min
- Injection volume of 80 µL

# **Anti-LOS Antibodies**

Anti-LOS mAb 17-1-L1 (henceforth referred to as mAb L1) [278], 4C4 [279], L3,7,9 [278] and 2C7 [160] have been described previously. The tissue culture supernatant containing anti-LOS mAbs L1 was obtained by Professor Sanjay Ram (Division of Infectious Diseases and Immunology, University of Massachusetts Medical School). Mouse mAb 2C7 has been produced as recombinant mAb internally. Purified mAb 4C4 and supernatant of mAb L3,7,9 are commercially available (Novusbio).

# Western blotting

The samples of LOS or GMMA were titrated in previous WB experiments to check the optimal quantity of samples that can permit a clear LOS profiling with well separated LOS bands that

correspond to different LOS structure populations (data not shown). Loading of GMMA/OMV or LOS on each well of SDS-PAGE gel was normalized based on LOS quantity obtained from semicarbazide derivatization/SE-HPLC method: 0.008 nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/well. Sample were run on a 16% Tris-glycine SDS-PAGE gel using a Tris-glycine 1x buffer. The marker was Ultra-Low range and consists of the following protein markers: Bradykinin (1060 Da), Insulin Chain B (3496 Da), Aprotinin (6500 Da),  $\alpha$ -Lactalbumin (14200 Da), Myoglobin (17000 Da) and Triosephosphate Isomerase (26600 Da). LOS was transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (The iBlot<sup>TM</sup> Kit Thermofisher) and membranes were blocked with with PBS 1x + BSA 3% + Tween20 0.05% for 1h at RT. Anti-LOS mAbs (diluted 1:1000 in PBS 1x + Tween20 0.05%) were incubated with membranes for 1h at RT. mAb-reactive LOS bands were visualized with anti-mouse IgG alkaline phosphatase (diluted 1:2000 in PBS 1x + Tween20 0.05%) incubated for 30 minutes at RT, followed by AP Conjugate Substrate kit (Biorad) for 5 minutes at RT.

#### 1.2.5 In *vivo* studies and functional assays

#### **Immunization study**

Female seven weeks old CD1 outbred mice (10/group) were immunized intraperitoneally two times on days 1 and day 29 with different GMMA at a 10µg protein-based dose in 200µL adsorbed to Alum hydroxide (3 mg/mL). Mice sera collected two weeks after the second dose (day 43) were analyzed in pools in hSBA assay and/or competitive hSBA as described below.

In the second *in vivo* immunization study, female seven weeks old CD1 outbred mice (10/group) were immunized intraperitoneally 2 times on days 1 and day 29. Differently from the other study, GMMA were normalized based on LOS content at a dose of 1,5 nmol<sub>LOS</sub> in 200 $\mu$ L, adsorbed to Alum hydroxide (3 mg/mL). Mice sera were collected two weeks after the second dose (day 43) and analyzed in pools in hSBA assay and/or competitive hSBA as described below.

#### Functional antibodies measured by Serum Bactericidal Assay

Functional antibodies were measured by human Serum Bactericidal Activity assay (hSBA) on the strains FA1090, F62, SK92, MS11, BG27, WHO-M, BG8, WHO-F, WHO-G and WHO-N using normal human serum as complement source. The hSBA was performed on sera from mice immunized with different GMMA preparations and collected 2 weeks after the second immunization.

Bacteria were plated on a round GC+1% Isovitalex agar plate and incubated 16 ( $\pm 2$ ) hours at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in humid atmosphere. The day after, single colonies were inoculated in GC + 1% Isovitalex medium (CMP-NANA was added to the broth medium for serum sensitive strains: 0.5 ug/mL for F62 strain, 0.2 ug/mL for WHO-M and MS11 strains) and incubated at 37°C at 180rpm
until the culture reached  $OD_{600nm}$ =0.4-0.5. After that, bacteria were diluted 1:10000 in SBA buffer (DPBS, 1% BSA, 0.1% Glucose) except for BG27 bacteria that were diluted 1:2500.

Mouse sera, previously heat inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes, were serially diluted (ten 2-fold dilution steps) in SBA buffer. The assay was assembled in a sterile 96 flat bottom well microplate in a final volume of 32  $\mu$ l/well. The serial dilutions of each test sample were let to react with bacteria and human complement. The volumes and concentrations of each reaction component were added in the order reported in **Table 1.6**.

Reaction	Serum resistant strains	Serum sensitive strains			
mixture	(FA1090, BG27, BG8, SK92,	(F62, MS11, WHO-M)			
Volumes	WHO-F, WHO-G, WHO-N)				
(µL/well)	μL/well	μL/well			
Test sample	16 µL	16 µL			
Bacteria	11 μL	9.5 μL			
Human complement	5 μL (final concentration 16%/well)	6.5 μL (pre-diluted 1:2 in SBA buffer, final concentration 10%/well)			

Table 1.6. Reaction mixture volumes for each component used in hSBA.

Each plate also includes the following controls:

- Heat inactivated complement (HIC) controls: all serum samples tested in the presence of bacteria and HIC. This control allows to exclude serum toxicity.

- Without (w/o) serum control (8 wells): bacteria with active human complement (AC) in absence of serum sample. This control is used to exclude complement toxicity and to determine 100% bacterial growth.

- A hyper-immune serum: a mouse pooled serum included as positive control serum.

The reaction mixture was incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes at 160 rpm. After 60 minutes of incubation (T60), 100 $\mu$ l/well of agar overlay medium were added in each well. After agar addition, the microplates were incubated overnight at 37C° with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in humid atmosphere. The day after the plates were automatically acquired with the image analysis system DISCOVERY V12 AXIOLAB. The CFUs in each 96-well of plate were counted using the image analysis system (Reading AxioVison). The bactericidal titer for each test sample was calculated as the reciprocal of the serum dilution giving a killing >50% respect to the average number of CFU calculated on the 8 replicates

of without serum control at T60 (average CFU without serum control). Where more than one serum dilution gives 50<killing<55%, the lowest dilution is chosen to calculate the hSBA titer.

#### Competitive human Serum Bactericidal Assay

The competitive human Serum Bactericidal Assay (hSBA) was used to measure the serum bactericidal activity of a pool of mice sera immunized known to give high hSBA titers after incubation with different competitors, such as GMMA or extracted LOS. These experiments allowed to understand which is the role of anti-LOS antibodies in SBA functional response elicited by a GMMA-based vaccine. A fixed dilution of the tested pool (sera obtained from mice immunized with OMV/GMMA vaccine) was incubated 1:1 (vol/vol) with 3 different concentrations (in terms of nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/mL) of each competitor for 1h at 37°C, 180 rpm. The same pool was also incubated 1:1 (vol/vol) with SBA buffer to measure the hSBA titer of "NOT INHIBITED" sample. After 1 hour of incubation, the mixture serum-competitor was dispensed in plate, diluted 1:2 for eleven dilution-steps and then bacteria and human complement were added following the hSBA assay protocol (see section *Materials and Methods > In vivo studies and functional assays > Functional antibodies measured by Serum Bactericidal Assay*).

The "without serum" control (8 wells) was included in each plate: bacteria with active human complement (AC) in absence of serum sample. This control is used to exclude complement toxicity and to determine 100% bacterial growth.

## 1.3 Results

# **1.3.1** Development of physicochemical and immunochemical techniques for LOS characterization

One of the main aims of this PhD project was the set-up of a combination of physicochemical and immunochemical methods for a deep characterization of gonococcal LOS. Although the majority of these techniques can be applied to different types of samples, particular attention has been paid to GMMA and OMV characterization.

GMMA are complex systems, but a large panel of analytical methods have been developed to allow their full characterization [280] (**Table 1.7**). Many of these methods are generic and can be applied to GMMA from different pathogens.

Aims	Methods
Size and aggregation status	SE-HPLC
Total protein quantification	BCA assay, Lowry assay
Purity (e.g., from soluble proteins and/or DNA)	SE-HPLC
Size and polydispersity and particle quantity	DLS, MADLS
Vesicles Integrity	EM

Table 1.7. General methods used for GMMA characterization.

However, as previously mentioned, *N. gonorrhoeae* produces a lipopolysaccharide consisting of a branched oligosaccharide linked to lipid A through 2-keto-3-deoxy-octonic acid (KDO), with no O-polysaccharide chains, hence it is referred to as *lipooligosaccharide* (LOS). Therefore, because of this different nature, it was necessary to set up or adequately improve the available characterization techniques for LOS.

In this study, according to what had already been reported in literature, we developed an improved method for *N. gonorrhoeae* LOS-derived oligosaccharide epitopes identification through a panel of specific anti-LOS monoclonal antibodies in combination to a classical silver stained SDS-PAGE procedure properly optimized to detect the oligosaccharide-derived bands. These techniques are applicable to different types of samples such as bacterial pellets, OMV, GMMA as well as bacterial and GMMA extracted and purified LOS samples.

First, the sample is analyzed on a 16% Tris-glycine gel using Tris-glycine 1x as running buffer and then, after the fixation step using acetic acid and ethanol, an additional step of oxidation of the sugar with sodium metaperiodate is performed, followed by the silver-staining classical procedure. This analysis enables visualization and dissection of all the predominant LOS structures in the sample on the basis of their molecular weight, close to the *Insulin Chain B* (3496 Da) band of the marker (either below and/or above) which is therefore considered a reference for the identification of LOS bands (**Figure 1.2**).



**Figure 1.2.** LOS structures are visualized in a 16%Tris-glycine SDS-PAGE, after an optimized procedure of silver-staining to highlight the LOS-derived bands.

Using Western blot analysis with mAbs that specifically react with different terminal sugar components of LOS, it was possible to define the LOS structures expressed in each strain.

The epitope recognized by the anti-lipooligosaccharide mAbs selected for this characterization are depicted by colored boxes in **Figure 1.3**.



Figure 1.3. The 4 anti-lipooligosaccharide mAbs targeting different saccharide epitopes on LOS.

By exploiting anti-meningococcal mAbs targeting LOS saccharide epitopes, we were able to identify OS epitopes shared by the two *Neisseria* sp., such as the lacto-*N*-neotetraose structure, composed of four sugars extending from Heptose-I (Gal $\beta$ I-4GlcNAc $\beta$ I-3Gal $\beta$ I-4Glc, **Figure 1.3**, **green box**), targeted by mAb L3,7,9 [142], and the alternative Heptose-I structure (Gal $\alpha$ I-4Gal), recognized by mAb L1 [142], which binds to the L1 meningococcal serotype, also known as the P<sup>K</sup> structure (Gal $\alpha$ I-4Gal $\beta$ I-4Glc as  $\alpha$ -chain, **Figure 1.3**, **purple box**). Furthermore, anti-gonococcal mAb 2C7 was used to detect the presence the respective epitope involving the  $\beta$ -chain. Indeed, this mAb, widely described and characterized by Ram and coworkers [160, 281], was valuable for detecting the presence of a lactose in the  $\beta$ -chain linked to Heptose-I (**Figure 1.3**, **yellow box**), in concomitance with a lactose in the  $\alpha$ -chain linked to Heptose-I, both in absence or presence of $\alpha$ -chain sugar extensions beyond lactose. The last mAb required to complete this panel was the mAb 4C4 [279], a commercially available mAb that targets highly truncated structures of LOS (Glc $\beta$ I-4Hep), as reported in **Figure 1.3**, **blue box**.

Content analysis of the LOS present in *N. gonorrhoeae* GMMA was performed by quantification of the reactive carbonyl groups of the saccharide moiety, generated after acid hydrolysis to remove the Lipid A portion and derivatized with semicarbazide, by SE-HPLC analysis. The SCA reaction coupled with SE-HPLC has already been reported in the literature [276, 277] to determine the reactive carbonyl groups of different molecular size populations in O-Antigen polysaccharide chains. The procedure is based on the strong molar absorbance at 252 nm of the semicarbazone derivative (an imine) formed in the reaction between KDO and SCA (**Figure 1.4**).



Figure 1.4. Workflow for LOS quantification by SE-HPLC after derivatization of the KDO with semicarbazide.

The *N. gonorrhoeae* LOS structure comprises two keto-deoxyoctanoate (KDO) residues and, during the acid treatment of LOS to remove lipid A, both KDO are hydrolyzed. SCA derivatization occurs on both the KDO bound to the OS chain and the KDO free in solution, resulting in two separate peaks in the SE-HPLC chromatogram recorded at 252 nm.

The KDO content of the *N. gonorrhoeae* GMMA LOS samples is quantified based on a calibration curve built with a standard KDO ammonium salt solution. The LOS content is expressed in nmol/mL

67

of KDO, which matches the nmol/mL of OS, and it is lastly reported as nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/mg protein, to normalize based on the GMMA protein content.

#### 1.3.1.4 Characterization of LOS in a panel of N. gonorrhoeae mutants

To set up the immunochemical characterization, a library of eight mutant strains expressing single defined LOS structures was instrumental in confirming the specific recognition of LOS bands by the four different mAbs. The Western blot results were then combined with silver-stained SDS-PAGE analysis to gain a precise picture of the predominant LOS structures produced by each isogenic mutant strain.

As described in the introduction (see Introduction > 1.5 Gonococcal lipooligosaccharide), glycan extensions from LOS core heptoses (Heptose-I and Heptose-II) are controlled by the expression of phase variable LOS glycosyltransferase (lgt) genes. A panel of N. gonorrhoeae LOS lgt mutant strains, kindly provided by Professor Sanjay Ram from University of Massachusetts, was obtained by modulating the phase variable expression of the genes *lgtA*, *lgtC* and *lgtD*, responsible for the variation in the Heptose-I glycan extensions, and of the *lgtG* gene, which controls the expression of the  $\beta$ -chain (a lactose on the Heptose-II). This series of mutants was produced in the background of N. gonorrhoeae MS11 v.4/3/1, a variant of MS11 VD300 with an isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG)-inducible pilE that controls pilus expression. Since the phase variation of LOS glycan extensions is mediated by slipped-strand mispairing at homopolymeric tracts of guanine (G) or cytosine (C) within the coding regions of the lgt genes, this series of mutants were obtained by modifying the expression of the phase variable lgt loci, changing the stretch of repeating G or Cs. The lgt genes were genetically fixed on or off (or deleted) in different combinations to obtain eight different isogenic gonococcal strains (Figure 1.5). [161] The description of the genetic modifications is reported in Table 1.8. As example, to overcome lgtG variability, the C11 homopolymer had been changed to the non-phase variable sequence CCCCTCCGCCA. The mutants are referred to by their Heptose-I structure (2Hex, 3Hex, 4Hex or 5Hex as mutants with respectively two, three, four or five sugars on the  $\alpha$ -chain) and as G+ or G- according to the status of the *lgtG* gene (on or off mean presence or absence of the  $\beta$ -chain, respectively).



**Figure 1.5.** Schematic representation of the different LOS structures potentially exposed on the outer membrane of the library of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* MS11 *lgt* mutant strains received from Sanjay Ram, highlighting the combination of genes that are locked on (V) or off (x). [161]

**Table 1.8** Genetic modification approaches of *lgt* genes of the library of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* MS11 *lgt*mutant strains received from Sanjay Ram. (Table adapted from Chakraborti *et al.*, 2016) [161]

Genetic modification of <i>lgt</i> genes	Description
<i>lgtA</i> ON	G12 → GGGCGGAGGTGG
<i>lgtC</i> ON	G14 → GGGGCGGAGG
<i>lgtC</i> OFF	G14 → GGTGAGGGGGGGGGG
<i>lgtD</i> ON	G13 → GGGCGGAGGTG
<i>lgtG</i> ON	$C11 \rightarrow CCCCTCCGCCA$
<i>lgtA</i> del	417 base pair (50-467 of coding sequence) deletion from <i>lgtA</i>
<i>lgtD</i> del	44 base pair (64 – 808 of coding sequence) deletion from $lgtD$

We were able to define and confirm the different structures displayed on the surface by immunocharacterization of the bacterial pellet of these strains using the panel of selected LOS-specific mAbs in a Western blot analysis. A summary of the results is presented in **Figure 1.6**.

Lysates of gonoco <i>lgt</i> mutant strains	ccal MS11	2HexG+	3HexG+	4HexG+	5HexG+	2HexG-	3HexG-	4HexG-	5HexG-
Western Blot with anti-LOS mAbs	mAb 2C7	$\checkmark$	$\times$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$
	mAb L3,7,9	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$	$\checkmark$	$\times$
	mAb 4C4	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$	$\checkmark$	$\times$	$\times$	$\times$
	mAb L1	X	$\checkmark$	X	X	$\times$	$\checkmark$	$\times$	$\times$

**Figure 1.6.** Summary of results obtained from Western blot with four different anti-LOS specific mAbs testing bacterial lysates from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* MS11 *lgt* mutant strains. As reported in the text, the name of the strains reported at the top are referred to the hypothetical structures, also reported in Figure 1.5. The mutants are referred to by their Heptose-I structure (the first number corresponds to the number of sugars on the  $\alpha$ -chain) and as G+ or G- according to the presence or absence of the  $\beta$ -chain, respectively.

Bacterial lysates of mutants expressing highly truncated LOS structures, such as 2HexG- like mutants, are recognized by mAb 4C4. Mab L1 binds to the P<sup>K</sup> LOS structure expressed by 3Hex mutants. The lacto-*N*-neotetraose LOS structure, present in the 4HexG- mutants, is targeted by mAb L3,7,9. Moreover, the bands below the Insulin Chain B band (3496 Da) of the marker (see **Figure 1.2**), recognized by mAb 2C7, correspond to LOS structures with a short  $\alpha$ -chain (2HexG+). In contrast, bands at the same height or above the Insulin Chain B band of the marker and recognized by mAb 2C7 match with a long  $\alpha$ -chain HepI glycan extension (*e.g.* 4HexG+ and 5HexG+).

It is important to highlight that mAb 2C7 recognizes the 2HexG+, 3HexG+, 4HexG+ and 5HexG+ structures. However, it binds the 3HexG+ structure with low affinity [161] and therefore this structure is not properly detected in Western blot.

### **1.3.1.5 Immunochemical characterization of LOS glycoforms in bacterial lysates from** gonococcal strains selected for functional assays

In order to determine the prevalent epitopes of LOS expressed by the gonococcal strains selected for functional assays, the LOS immunochemical characterization was performed on total bacterial lysates after growth in hSBA-like conditions (see section *Materials and Methods* > 1.2.5 *In vivo studies and functional assays* > *Functional antibodies measured by Serum Bactericidal Assay*). This phenotypic characterization of LOS is useful for correlating functional responses with the specific LOS structures exposed on the bacterial membrane of the strain tested in the hSBA assay.

Heat-inactivated whole bacterial cell lysates were separated on a 16% Tris-glycine gel and subsequently either stained with silver or transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane for Western blotting, probing with the panel of specific anti-LOS mAbs.

The **Figure 1.7** below summarizes the data obtained from the Western blot and Silver stain SDS-PAGE analyses of the bacterial lysates from the library of *Ng* strains. From the interpretation of these data and combination of the two analyses we were able to assign the prevalent LOS structures expressed by each strain, as reported in **Table 1.9**.

Lysates of gonococcal strains



**Figure 1.7.** Summary of results obtained from Silver-stained SDS-PAGE and Western Blot with four different anti-LOS mAbs of whole bacterial cell lysates from gonococcal strains used in functional assays.

Strain	LOS phenotypes								
	2HexG-	4HexG-	5HexG-	2HexG+	4HexG+	5HexG+			
FA1090				~	✓	✓			
F62		✓	✓						
SK92				✓					
MS11		✓	✓		~				
BG27					✓	✓			
WHO-M		✓	✓						
WHO-N					✓	✓			
BG8		✓	✓						
WHO-F		<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>			✓	✓			
WHO-G	✓	✓							

Table 1.9. Prevalent LOS structures expressed by the Ng panel of strains.

What emerges from the interpretation of results reported in **Figure 1.7** and **Table 1.9** is that six out of twelve strains in this panel express the saccharide epitope recognized by mAb 2C7. Gulati and coworkers [160, 162] reported this epitope as widely shared and expressed in *Ng* isolates, thus highlighting the importance to include some 2C7-like strains in this panel. Interestingly, among the strains recognized by mAb 2C7, it is worth highlighting the peculiarity of SK92 strain, which expresses a single 2C7-like LOS structure.

Another epitope shared among six of these gonococcal strains is the one recognized by meningococcal mAb L3,7,9, targeting lacto-*N*-neotetraose (LNnT) structures. As already widely discussed in the introduction, Schneider *et al.* demonstrated that these long  $\alpha$ -chain LOS immunotypes are selected during urethral infection in men [152] and, similar to *N. meningitidis*, Lacto-*N*-neotetraose has been reported to be essential for LOS-mediated adherence and invasion into male urethral epithelial cells [106] and immune evasion strategies as well. Therefore, this epitope remains of primary importance for the selection of representative gonococcal strains.

Notably, most of these strains are targeted by more than one mAb, giving multiple bands in the silverstained SDS-PAGE analysis, enabling a more in-depth analysis of the LOS isoform combinations.

Some strains express shorter and truncated structures; in particular, WHO-G is the only strain expressing a 2HexG- structure, which is the minimal OS structure, characterized by a lactose (Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) extending from the first heptose.

The P<sup>K</sup> structure (Gal $\alpha$ 1-4Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) recognized by mAb L1 is not present in any of these strains. However, it has been reported that gonococcal strains expressing the P<sup>K</sup> epitope are rare or absent *in vivo* [171, 186] and therefore, they are considered less representative of circulating gonococcal strains. In light of these considerations, these results confirm that there is a large variability in LOS structures among the hSBA-selected *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains, and that the selected panel of strains can be considered representative of the variety of LOS structures that can be found in naturally occurring infections.

Accordingly, the role of LOS as primary antigen in the GMMA-induced immune response was firstly evaluated against the whole library of strains and then, a subset of these gonococcal strains was selected based on their LOS phenotype to assess the impact of the different LOS glycoforms. Indeed, since some of these strains showed similar pattern of oligosaccharide structures, this selection facilitated to draw attention to a possible correlation between the observed data and the LOS pattern phenotypes.

## **1.3.2** Importance of the variable oligosaccharide moiety on the gonococcal GMMA immunogenicity

To investigate the role of the LOS-derived oligosaccharide outer core in the GMMA-induced immune response, an attractive approach is to exploit the genetic engineering of the bacterial strains to create mutants expressing a defined LOS-derived glycan structure to overcome the variability and assess the correlation between glycan composition and immune response.

#### 1.3.2.1 Genetic engineering of bacteria to generate GMMA expressing LOS without α-chain

With the aim of investigating the role of the oligosaccharide moiety in the immune response induced by anti-gonococcal GMMA-based vaccines, a strain genetically designed to express a LOS structure fully lacking the  $\alpha$ -chain was generated in the background of a FA1090 strain. This strain was chosen since it expresses two saccharide epitopes, the 2C7 and the LNnT structures, that are widely shared and expressed in Ng isolates, as demonstrated by Gulati and coworkers. [160, 162]

The first step in the generation of a GMMA-producing strain is the reduction of lipid A endotoxic activity to avoid side effects, following a genetic approach widely reported in the literature for GMMA detoxification [282-284]. Indeed, it is well-known that the hexa-acylated lipid A molecule is responsible for LOS endotoxin activity and GMMA reactogenicity. The *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 detoxified strain was obtained by genetic deletion of the *lpxL1* gene (NGO0154), homologous to the *E. coli* gene *htrB*, which encodes for a lateacyltransferase of lipid A biosynthesis. Its deletion results in penta-acylated lipid A structures with a strongly attenuated reactogenicity, as shown in **Figure 1.8**.



**Figure 1.8.** The genetical detoxification of the LOS Lipid A consists in the deletion of the *lpxLI* gene, responsible for the late acyltransferase of lipid A biosynthesis. This genetic modification results in a penta-acylated one *(reported on the right)* in place of a hexa-acylated lipid A molecule *(on the left),* with a strong reduction in the endotoxic activity. PEA is reported attached to 4' position of lipid A in this representation, but variable phosphoforms have been identified. [134, 285]

A region of the coding sequence of the *lpxL1* gene was replaced with a kanamycin resistance cassette (*kanR*) by double homologous recombination and the correct occurrence of this recombination was checked with the appropriate controls (**Figure 1.9**).



**Figure 1.9.** Schematic representation of the homologous recombination mechanism in which the *lpxLI* gene is replaced with the *kanR* cassette (**A**). PCR primers used as controls to check the occurrence of the double homologous recombination and the generation of the mutant clone: a pair of primers external to the deletion region were designed as depicted (**B**). The presence of wild-type cells mixed in the total mutant population was investigated with primers that pair specifically to the wild-type genome but not to the mutant (**C**).

In order to evaluate the impact of the oligosaccharide chains on the immune response, the GMMAproducing strain FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  was further genetically mutated to remove the  $\alpha$ -chain by deleting the *lgtF* gene, by replacing the coding sequence of this gene with a chloramphenicol resistance cassette (*cmR*) by double homologous recombination (**Figure 1.10, A**). The *lgtF* gene encodes for a glucosyltransferase responsible for adding a glucose, the first sugar on the  $\alpha$ -chain, to Heptose-I. Therefore, the deletion of this gene generates a strain fully lacking the  $\alpha$ -chain, since its synthesis is



inhibited upstream (Figure 1.10, B). The complete removal of  $\alpha$ -chain leads to a mutant strain in which all OS epitopes targeted by the majority of anti-LOS mAbs are incomplete or absent.

Figure 1.10. Schematic representation of the homologous recombination mechanism in which the *lgtF* gene is replaced with the *cmR* cassette (A). After the *lgtF* genetic deletion, the resulting phenotypes are reported on the left. Mass Spectrometry analyses confirmed the presence of the structure with neither the  $\alpha$ -chain nor the  $\beta$ -chain (B).

The bacterial pellets of these two strains were immunocharacterized by Western blot with the four anti-LOS mAbs and silver-stained SDS-PAGE. As expected, the resulting phenotype was characterized by the complete absence of hexoses linked to the  $\alpha$ -chain, although, also the  $\beta$ -chain was not detectable (data not shown).

Hence, it is likely that this genetic modification led to a reduced expression of the phase variable lgtG gene encoding for the corresponding glycosyltransferase, required for initiating the synthesis of the  $\beta$ -chain, thus making possible to obtain a gonococcal mutant completely devoid of the two variable oligosaccharide chains.

### 1.3.2.2 Production, purification and characterization of GMMA from *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$

GMMA from the mutated gonococcal strains FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  were produced and purified by ultracentrifugation and/or tangential flow filtration (TFF). Therefore, the resulting GMMA were characterized using different physicochemical techniques (**Table 1.10**).

GMMA purity level was estimated by SE-HPLC by comparing chromatograms of absorbance at 260 nm, 280 nm and fluorescence (excitation at 277 nm and emission at 335 nm) and radius dimension was obtained by DLS. All the produced GMMA had a purity higher than or around 90% and comparable hydrodynamic radius dimensions measured by dynamic light scattering (DLS) in a range of 40-50 nm.

The total protein concentration was established by modified Lowry protein assay. The content analysis of the LOS present in GMMA was performed by quantification of the reactive carbonyl groups of the saccharide moiety, generated after acid hydrolysis to remove the Lipid A and derivatized with SCA, by SE-HPLC analysis. Notably, the final LOS content in the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$   $\Delta lgtF$  GMMA preparation is about four fold higher than the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA used as control. This has been taken into consideration, especially in the interpretation of the following functional assay results, normalizing in terms of protein or LOS quantity.

From a qualitative perspective, GMMA were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie Blue to check protein patterns. The absence of the oligosaccharide portion on the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  $\Delta lgtF$  GMMA did not impact the overall protein profile, which remained comparable to the one of FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA (data not shown).

A combination of Western Blot analyses using the panel of anti-LOS mAbs confirmed the desired LOS phenotype, showing no binding of FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA. This result was also confirmed by silver-stained SDS-PAGE which showed a band at lower relative masses. This phenotype was further verified by Mass Spectrometry (data not shown).

**Table 1.10.** Recap of the GMMA from FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  characterization through different techniques,together with the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA used as control in the following assays.

Analysis		GMMA FA1090			
		$\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$	ΔlpxL1 Δrmp		
	% 260	92	90		
Purity level by HPLC	% 280	94	94		
-	% FLD	98	97		
DLS radius dimension (d.nm) and polydispersity index (PDI)		84.3 (PDI: 0,38)	67.8		
LOS nmol <sub>LOS</sub> /mg <sub>protein</sub> (SCA SE-HPLC/Lowry assay)		483	124		

## 1.3.2.3 Investigation of the impact of LOS-derived oligosaccharide chain on the crossbactericidal immune response elicited by gonococcal GMMA

To understand the role of anti-LOS antibodies in the serum bactericidal assay functional response, a competitive human Serum Bactericidal Assay (hSBA) was performed. This assay can measure the functional antibodies that remain available after incubation with a specific competitor.

The serum bactericidal activity of a pool of sera from mice immunized with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA, that are known to elicit cross-bactericidal antibodies, was measured after 1-hour incubation with increasing concentrations (expressed as quantity of LOS in terms of nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/mL) of the competitor. This experiment allowed to understand which is the role of anti-LOS antibodies in hSBA functional response elicited by a GMMA-based vaccine.

The experiment was performed using as competitors the LOS extracted from wild-type FA1090 bacterial cells and FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA, deprived of LOS epitopes, as described above. Furthermore, FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA, from which the tested sera were derived, were used as control.

The competitive hSBA experiment was conducted against four *N. gonorrhoeae* heterologous strains: MS11, WHO-N, WHO-G and F62. These strains were chosen *ad hoc* for this assay based on their LOS phenotype in order to assess the impact of different LOS forms expressed by the tested heterologous strain on the observed hSBA data. Indeed, as shown in **Table 1.11**, MS11 predominant LOS structures are characterized by long  $\alpha$ -chains composed of four or five sugars, with or without the  $\beta$ -chain. In contrast, F62 expresses a similar composition of LOS with long  $\alpha$ -chains, but all the structures lack lactose in the  $\beta$ -chain. The WHO-N strain presents an opposite phenotype, with four/five sugars in the  $\alpha$ -chains and a lactose in the  $\beta$ -chain. Lastly, WHO-G was chosen because it is interesting for its phenotype in which short and long  $\alpha$ -chains are mixed in the absence of the  $\beta$ chain. This combination of LOS glycoforms allows on one side to dissect the differences between short and long  $\alpha$ -chains and on the other side to assess the role of the  $\beta$ -chain.

Strain	LOS phenotypes								
	2HexG-	4HexG-	5HexG-	2HexG+	4HexG+	5HexG+			
FA1090				~	✓	$\checkmark$			
MS11		✓	~		✓				
F62		✓	✓						
WHO-N					✓	✓			
WHO-G	$\checkmark$	✓							

 Table 1.11. LOS Phenotypes of the selected N. gonorrhoeae strains.



**Figure 1.11.** hSBA titers measured against the indicated Gonococcus strains using a pool of sera from mice immunized twice with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA after incubation with three concentrations of each competitor: extracted LOS from FA1090 wild-type strain, FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA, FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  $\Delta rmp$  GMMA and hSBA buffer (white bar) that represent the "not inhibited" sample (negative control).

The extracted LOS was able to strongly reduce the hSBA titer, at least at the highest concentration tested, against all the four heterologous strains, as well as the homologous GMMA (FA1090  $\Delta lpxLl$ 

 $\Delta rmp$  GMMA), whereas FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA did not compete with functional antibodies elicited by FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA (Figure 1.11). Interestingly, analyzing the homologous strain FA1090, the hSBA titer was not inhibited neither by incubation with the extracted LOS nor with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA, while it is possible to observe a strong decrease in the bactericidal titer when the homologous GMMA (FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA) were tested as competitors. This may suggest the bactericidal titer against the homologous strain is mediated by the combined presence of antibodies targeting LOS and protein antigens.

These data confirm a major role of anti-LOS antibodies in the bactericidal activity against heterologous strains of the sera obtained following the administration of a gonococcal GMMA-based vaccine.

To confirm these results, FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA was tested *in vivo* in comparison with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA vaccine.

Mice sera collected two weeks after the second dose were analyzed in pools in hSBA assay. The serum antibody functionality was tested using a panel of *N. gonorrhoeae* strains, including the homologous FA1090 strain and ten heterologous strains representative of the *N. gonorrhoeae* population, based on the comparative genome analysis of a wide panel of circulating strains.



The hSBA assay results are reported in Figure 1.12.

**Figure 1.12.** hSBA titers measured against the indicated Gonococcus strains on pooled sera from CD1 mice immunized twice with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA and FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA as positive control. A pooled mouse serum from immunization with alum hydroxide was used as negative control. Each hSBA titer is the mean of two or three different analyses.

As expected, higher hSBA titers were obtained for sera from mice immunized with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  $\Delta rmp$  GMMA, with respect to FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$   $\Delta lgtF$  GMMA and alum hydroxide, against nine out of ten Gonococcus strains. On the other side, FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA was able to elicit bactericidal antibodies comparable to FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA against FA1090 and WHO-M strains, while at least five fold lower hSBA titers were detected for the other heterologous strains. In fact, similarly to what was observed in the competitive hSBA experiment described above, in the case of the homologous FA1090 and the heterologous WHO-M strain, there are no main differences between the hSBA titers of the two tested sera, with the same titer or a variation of two fold decrease; indeed, the value remains high with respect to the negative control even testing the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA serum. In this case, it could conceivably be hypothesized that high bactericidal titer are related to a possible synergistic effect of LOS and protein antigens.

Of note, the hSBA on SK92 strain resulted in an outlier behaviour with lower hSBA titers, comparable to the alum hydroxide negative control titers, when testing both the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF$  GMMA and FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA sera.

A further support of these results is also given by the observation of similar trend when testing the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta lgtF \Delta rmp$  GMMA (data not shown). This control was done in order to exclude any possible influence of the  $\Delta rmp$  mutation on this trend.

These results clearly demonstrated that anti-LOS antibodies play a major role in SBA functional response against the majority of the heterologous strains.

## **1.3.3** Evaluation of the impact of α-chain length on the elicitation of functional bactericidal titers by gonococcal GMMA

To further understand the correlation between LOS and cross-bactericidal activity, a direct comparison between hSBA titers and the LOS phenotype of the tested GMMA was needed. Indeed, producing different lots of GMMA from a FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  mutant, a certain variability was observed in the LOS phenotypes. In particular, some lots presented LOS glycan structures that were unusually highly truncated (2HexG-/3HexG- like **Figure 1.13**, *left*), presumably because of phase variation of the *lgtG* and *lgtA* genes. In fact, it has been reported that LOS may undergo phase variation at a frequency of  $10^{-2}/10^{-3}$  when bacteria are grown in culture. [85, 151] Consequently, analysis of the derived mouse sera in hSBA against different heterologous strains showed that titers of these GMMA were lower than those of GMMA obtained from a FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  strain containing both the  $\beta$ -chain and a higher percentage of structures with a long  $\alpha$ -chain (2HexG+, 4HexG+ and 5HexG+ LOS structures, **Figure 1.13**, *right*). This observation led to the hypothesis that the various LOS oligosaccharide moieties could have different influences on hSBA activity.



**Figure 1.13.** The prevalent LOS phenotypes detected in the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  GMMA (*left*) and FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$   $\Delta rmp$  GMMA (*right*).

To date, research has not focused on the role of LOS on OMV/GMMA immune response and therefore the impact of the different oligosaccharide portions on the GMMA-induced functional bactericidal activity has yet to be clearly established. Therefore, one additional purpose of this study was to assess the extent to which oligosaccharide epitopes affect the bactericidal response induced after GMMA-based immunization. By leveraging on a panel of *N. gonorrhoeae* mutants each mainly expressing one different oligosaccharide structures that can be co-present on the bacterial surface of wild-type bacteria, it was possible to investigate the antibody response in mice after immunization with GMMA exposing different LOS structures. In this way, this section seeks to study a possible correlation between LOS structures, focusing on the  $\alpha$ -chain different lengths, and the GMMA-induced immune response by analyzing the functional hSBA activity.

## 1.3.3.1 Genetic engineering of bacteria to generate detoxified MS11 *lgt* mutant GMMA producing strains

The effect of Heptose-I glycan extensions on the immune response was investigated and compared using the eight MS11 LOS *lgt* mutant strains received from Professor Sanjay Ram (see details paragraph *1.3.1.4 Characterization of LOS in a panel of N. gonorrhoeae mutants*).

A schematic representation of the genetic manipulation and the final Heptose-I glycan composition of these mutants with a simplified designation is provided in **Table 1.2**.

The phase variable mechanism involving the *lgt* genes *lgtA*, *lgtC* and *lgtD* leads to the modification of the Heptose-I glycan extension of the  $\alpha$ -chain, whereas the phase variable expression of *lgtG* controls the presence of lactose linked to Heptose-II ( $\beta$ -chain).

The structures expressed from all these mutants were characterized by Western blotting with anti-LOS mAbs and the relative masses were determined by silver-stained SDS-PAGE, confirming the desired phenotype.

It is worth noting that even though the expression of the *lgt* genes is fixed as on or off, this genetic manipulation does not guarantee that all the LOS structures displayed on the bacterial outer membrane will be effectively substituted with the glycan added by the encoded *lgt* enzyme(s). This is related to the possible transport of incomplete LOS molecules to the surface from the site of assembly on the cytoplasmic side of the inner membrane, which may occur prior to the addition of a glycan by all *lgt*s that are set on, despite the expression of the relative LOS glycosyltransferase. The ratio of complete to incomplete LOS expression is regulated by the amount and efficiency of each *lgt* enzyme. [286]

This means that, although the simultaneous production of multiple LOS glycoforms expressed by a particular strain is defined by on-off strand slippage of homopolymeric tracts of *lgtA*, *lgtC*, *lgtD*, and *lgtG* genes [147, 149], this event can also be mediated by the production of limiting amounts of LgtA, LgtD, or LgtE, occurring via several different mechanism. [286-288]

An example is the 5HexG- strains, in which the *lgtD* gene has been locked on, that showed two bands in silver-stained SDS-PAGE. One of these bands reacts with mAb L3,7,9 and represents the corresponding 4Hex structure with a terminal lactosamine. Indeed, despite the expression of *lgtD*, most LOS in these mutants is exported to the surface prior to the addition of the terminal GalNAc to LOS. This is observed also for the 5HexG+ strain, as demonstrated by Chakraborti and coworkers using mAb 3F11. [161]

Similarly, MS11 2HexG+ expresses two different structures that can be clearly identified using silverstained SDS-PAGE. One is recognized by mAb 2C7 and the other is a LOS species with only Heptose-I-linked lactose, similar to the LOS expressed by MS11 2HexG-. This is related to the export of LOS to the outer membrane prior to the addition of glucose to Heptose-II by the LgtG glycosyltransferase.

Likewise, mAb L8 specifically binds to structures that contain lactose on Heptose-I and no glycan from the 3-position of Heptose-II. In this case, as previously demonstrated [161], this mAb reacts with all the three mutants that had *lgtA* off and *lgtC* and/or *lgtG* on, indicating the export of LOS prior to the addition of glucose to Heptose-II by *lgtG* or the distal  $\alpha$ 1-4-linked galactose on Heptose-I (*lgtC*).

In contrast, fixing *lgtA* on did not result in any detectable short LOS structures, suggesting in this case that the *lgtA* enzyme efficiently adds the GlcNAc to the proximal lactose of Heptose-I. **Table 1.12** represents a summary of the LOS structures detected and theoretically present in each mutant.

**Table 1.12.** Structures detected by immunocharacterization of the Ng bacterial lysates of the lgt mutants compared to the theoretical structures present according to the genetic manipulation.

	Detected structures present in <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> MS11 <i>lgt</i> mutants bacterial lysates and GMMA								
		2HexG+	3HexG+	4HexG+	5HexG+	2HexG-	3HexG-	4HexG-	5HexG-
	2HexG+	+++				+			
	3HexG+	++	+++			+	+		
Single	4HexG+			+++				+	
theoretical structures	5HexG+			++	+++			+	+
N.gonorrhoeae	2HexG-					+++			
mutants	3HexG-					++	+++		
	4HexG-							+++	
	5HexG-							++	+++
<ul> <li>+ structure present as impurity in low quantity</li> <li>++ structure present as impurity in high quantity</li> <li>+++ prevalent structure</li> </ul>									

As already described for the detoxification of the other strains selected for GMMA production in order to reduce LOS endotoxin activity, this library of eight *N. gonorrhoeae* MS11 strains was

detoxified by genetic deletion of the *lpxL1* gene (NGO0154), resulting in penta-acylated lipid A structures with strongly attenuated reactogenicity (see **Figure 1.8**). The *lpxL1* knockout mutants were obtained by genomic recombination where a region of the coding sequence of this gene was replaced with the chloramphenicol antibiotic resistance cassette (*lpxL1::cmR*) with a double crossing over (**Figure 1.14**). Immunochemical characterization through Western blot and Silver-staining SDS-PAGE of the bacterial pellet confirmed that the desired LOS phenotype was maintained after genetic manipulation. A graphical representation of the resulting LOS structure phenotypes for each strain was represented in **Figure 1.5** and **Figure 1.6**.



**Figure 1.14.** Schematic representation of the homologous recombination mechanism in which the *lpxLI* gene is replaced with the *cmR* cassette.

### 1.3.3.2 Production, purification and characterization of GMMA from *N. gonorrhoeae* MS11 Δ*lpxL1 lgt* mutants

GMMA derived from the detoxified ( $\Delta lpxL1$ ) MS11 *lgt* mutant strains were produced and purified by ultracentrifugation and tangential flow filtration (TFF). Therefore, the resulting GMMA were characterized using different physicochemical techniques.

Characterization confirmed a good purity level of all GMMA preparations estimated by SE-HPLC, with similar radius dimensions (measured by DLS).

Silver-stained SDS-PAGE and corresponding Western blot analysis with the different LOS-specific mAbs for GMMA of MS11 mutant strains are reported in **Figure 1.15**.

Notably, the expression of LOS in these GMMA resembled perfectly the one present on the respective non-detoxified strain. Indeed, the absence of the Lipid A acyl chain did not affect the overall LOS phenotype on GMMA. Western blot analysis performed using the four anti-LOS mAbs and silver-stained SDS-PAGE confirmed what has been already reported previously for these mutant strains. [161]



**Figure 1.15.** Silver stained SDS-PAGE and WB with four different LOS specific mAbs of GMMA from MS11  $\Delta lpxL1 lgt$  mutant strains.

The different oligosaccharide moieties of these GMMA did not affect the overall protein profile, as confirmed by SDS-PAGE, in which the band patterns were similar among the different samples (data not shown).

On the contrary, the sugar/protein ratio was more variable, ranging from 156,4 nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/mg<sub>protein</sub> to  $386,9 \text{ nmol}_{LOS}/\text{mg}_{\text{protein}}$ . A summary of the analysis is reported in **Table 1.13**.

Analysia		GMMA MS11 $\Delta lpxLI$								
Anar	y sis	2HexG+	2HexG-	3HexG+	3HexG-	4HexG+	4HexG-	5HexG+	5HexG-	
Purity	% 260	98,6	96,4	97,6	90,1	81,2	89,1	98,4	95,8	
level by SE-	% 280	99,6	97,6	99,1	90,9	86,8	86,6	98,2	97,6	
HPLC	% FLD	97,1	99,8	100	88,7	88,6	85,1	100	95,5	
DLS ra	adius									
dimen	ision	82,34	93,72	76,57	69,41	81,60	76,65	80,92	88,92	
(d.nm)	) and	(PDI:	(PDI:	(PDI:	(PDI:	(PDI:	(PDI:	(PDI:	(PDI:	
polydisp	persity	0,242)	0,236)	0,232)	0,217)	0,222)	0,233)	0,183)	0,161)	
index (	(PDI)									
LO	S									
nmol <sub>LOS</sub> /	mg <sub>protein</sub>									
(SCA	SE-	194,8	250,4	247,0	226,0	238,4	386,9	208,1	156,4	
HPLC/	Lowry									
assa	ıy)									

**Table 1.13.** Recap of the MS11  $\Delta lpxL1$  LOS *lgt* mutant strain GMMA characterization through different techniques.

## 1.3.3.3 Investigation of the impact of LOS-derived α-chain length on the cross-bactericidal immune response elicited by gonococcal GMMA

To compare the impact of the LOS-derived variable oligosaccharide portions on the bactericidal response, the GMMA from these eight *N. gonorrhoeae* MS11 isogenic mutant strains were tested *in vivo*.Differently from the other study, GMMA were normalized based on LOS content at a dose of 1,5 nmol<sub>LOS</sub> in 200 $\mu$ L, adsorbed to Alum hydroxide (3 mg/mL). Doses in terms of GMMA protein quantity are reported in **Table 1.14** and ranged from 3,9  $\mu$ g up to 9,6  $\mu$ g.

**Table 1.14.** Dose of each MS11  $\Delta lpxLI$  LOS *lgt* mutant GMMA in terms of proteins. All doses were below 10 µg of protein, which is the dose selected after dose ranging studies for mouse immunization with gonococcal GMMA, obtaining a relevant bactericidal response (data not shown).

GMMA MS11 ΔlpxLI	LOS/Protein (nmol <sub>KDO</sub> /mg <sub>protein</sub> )	Dose (µgprotein)
2HexG+	194,8	7,7 μg
2HexG-	250,4	5,9 µg
3HexG+	247,0	6,1 µg
3HexG-	226,0	6,6 µg
4HexG+	238,4	6,3 µg
4HexG-	386,9	3,9 µg
5HexG+	208,1	7,2 μg
5HexG-	156,4	9,6 µg

Sera were collected two weeks after the second dose and analyzed in pools. The serum antibody functional activity was tested in duplicate or triplicate by human Serum Bactericidal Assay (hSBA) using a panel of *N. gonorrhoeae* strains including the homologous MS11 strain and five heterologous strains, appropriately selected in order to have a combination of strains expressing a heterogeneous population based on LOS structures exposed on the surface (FA1090, WHO-N, F62, WHO-G and SK92, **Table 1.15**).

Strain	LOS phenotypes								
	2HexG-	4HexG-	5HexG-	2HexG+	4HexG+	5HexG+			
MS11		✓	✓		✓				
FA1090				✓	✓	✓			
WHO-N					✓	✓			
F62		✓	✓						
WHO-G	✓	✓							
SK92				✓					

Table 1.15. Prevalent LOS phenotypes expressed by the selected Ng strains.

The results, reported in **Figure 1.16**, highlighted that the pooled sera derived from mice immunized with GMMA with long  $\alpha$ -chain LOS structures (4HexG+, 4HexG-; 5HexG+, 5HexG-) showed higher hSBA titers compared to the sera derived from mice immunized with the GMMA exposing shorter LOS structures (2HexG+, 2HexG-; 3HexG+, 3HexG-) for five out of six tested *N. gonorrhoeae* strains.



**Figure 1.16.** hSBA titers measured against the indicated Gonococcus strains on pooled sera from CD1 mice immunized twice with the GMMA MS11  $\Delta lpxL1$  LOS *lgt* mutants and FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA. A pooled mouse serum from immunization with alum hydroxide was used as negative control. Each hSBA titer is the mean of two or three different analyses.

These results underline the higher impact of anti-LOS antibodies elicited by GMMA with longer LOS structures (long  $\alpha$ -chain) on the SBA functional response against the majority of tested strains. The presence of the  $\beta$ -chain, particularly of the 2C7 epitope (2HexG+ mutant), was clearly dispensable for elicitation of bactericidal antibodies, whereas the crucial parameter responsible for an increased hSBA titer was the length of the  $\alpha$ -chain. Interestingly, this trend is not influenced by the different LOS isotypes of the tested gonococcal strains and it is maintained even when there is no correspondence between the LOS expressed by the tested strains and the glycoform of the GMMA. An example is the WHO-G strain, which is very well killed by sera generated with a 5-HexG+GMMA, while it expresses a 2HexG- truncated structure.

To confirm that a long  $\alpha$ -chain LOS epitope is important for eliciting functional responses in gonococcal FA1090 GMMA-based vaccines, a competitive hSBA was performed using pooled sera from mice immunized with the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA, that are known to induce functional cross-bactericidal antibody titers. The sera were preincubated with GMMA from MS11 *lgt* mutant strains used as competitors and hSBA was subsequently performed testing the sera against four heterologous gonococcal strains.

The hSBA titers against three different heterologous strains (MS11, WHO-N and WHO-G) were drastically inhibited by GMMA with a long  $\alpha$ -chain (four or five sugar residues, corresponding to structures 4HexG+, 5HexG- and 5HexG+) beyond the presence of the  $\beta$ -chain and therefore of the 2C7 epitope. The hSBA titers were less inhibited when the experiment was conducted against the F62 strain but with a comparable trend. In contrast, GMMA with structures containing only short  $\alpha$ -chains, such as 2HexG+, the structure recognized by the 2C7 mAb with the highest affinity, did not inhibit functional activity. Therefore, the results, reported in **Figure 1.17**, showed that antibodies against 4HexG+, 5HexG- and 5HexG+ LOS structures were bactericidal in hSBA for three out of four heterologous strains. These data confirm that antibodies against LOS structures with a long  $\alpha$ -chain have a majore role in the bactericidal activity of the sera obtained following administration of GMMA from the FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  strain.



**Figure 1.17.** hSBA titers measured against the indicated Gonococcus strains using a pool of sera from mice immunized twice with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA after incubation with three concentrations of each competitor: FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA, the eight MS11  $\Delta lpxL1$  LOS *lgt* mutant GMMA and hSBA buffer (white bar) that represent the "not inhibited" sample (negative control).

It is worth drawing attention to the behaviour of GMMA 4HexG-, which did not inhibit hSBA titers against all the four tested strains. If we consider the LOS phenotype of GMMA used in the mouse immunization of this tested serum, characterized by LOS glycoforms with two, four or five sugars in the  $\alpha$ -chain, together with the  $\beta$ -chain, it could plausibly be hypothesized that the antibodies elicited by these GMMA are mainly directed against structures also expressing the  $\beta$ -chain, thus explaining the strong inhibition of the titer after incubation with GMMA 4HexG+ and 5HexG+.

The data reported here appear to support the assumption that the difference in the cross-recognition of sera from GMMA 4HexG- and GMMA 4HexG+, could be possibly related not only to the presence of  $\beta$ -chain, but probably to the concomitant presence of  $\beta$ -chain and long  $\alpha$ -chain. Considering that, another possible consideration is that in the GMMA expressing the  $\beta$ -chain it is often present a small LOS population without this chain; indeed, the genetical manipulation of the *lgt* genes does not ensure that all the expressed LOS structures will be effectively substituted due to the possible transport of incomplete LOS molecules to the surface which may occur before the addition of a glycan by all *lgt*s that are fixed on. For this reason, GMMA 4HexG+ could also express a small population of 4HexG-

LOS structures and this could be the explanation for the role of anti-LOS antibodies generated by a G+GMMA on the killing of a strain like WHO-G, which expressed only LOS without  $\beta$ -chain.

Moreover, the absence of a decrease in the titer after incubation with GMMA 2HexG+ suggests the importance of expressing a long  $\alpha$ -chain to elicit functional antibodies, as sequestering the antibodies against 2HexG+ structures does not have an impact on the bactericidal titer.Furthermore, from this analysis, we observed that the incubation of this functional serum with GMMA 5HexG- resulted in a marked decrease in the bactericidal titer. In this case, it was theorized that in the immunization, functional bactericidal antibodies against epitopes present in such structures were elicited. These antibodies could possibly target an epitope involving the LOS terminal GalNAc portion, similar to the anti-LOS bactericidal antibodies that are present in the normal human serum, and this binding is not influenced by the presence of the  $\beta$ -chain. It should also be pointed out that this effect is certainly related to antibodies induced by the immunization since it is not observed in the unrelated mouse sera used as control.

These data confirmed that the key attribute for GMMA-induced functional antibodies is strictly related to the length of the  $\alpha$ -chain, beyond the presence of a  $\beta$ -chain.

#### **1.4 Discussion**

Recently, several evidence have suggested that prevention of gonorrhoea infection might be possible with a multivalent OMV based vaccine. Accordingly, our research was based on applying the Generalized Modules for Membrane Antigens (GMMA) platform strategy for *N. gonorrhoeae* vaccine development. Among the main membrane surface components evaluated as potential vaccine candidate antigens, extensive research has been carried out on the role of the gonococcal outer membrane lipooligosaccharide, primarly focusing on the impact of this antigen on the pathogenicity, host-adaptation and protection against gonococcal infection. Nevertheless, the heterogeneicity of LOS related to phase variation mechanisms involving some *lgt* genes (*lgtA*, *lgtC*, *lgtD*, and *lgtG*) responsible for the synthesis of the oligosaccharide chains, may represent a challenge. Whilst several studies have shown the role of the LOS epitopes on the immune response, little scientific work has been done to investigate the effect of each of these glycoforms on the immune response induced by a GMMA or OMV-based vaccine.

In the first evaluation that was made to select an ideal GMMA-producing strain, several GMMA have been produced in the background of different gonococcal strains expressing different LOS pattern. Among the panel of strains, GMMA from detoxified SK92 and F62 were produced and tested *in vivo*. As reported in **Table 1.9**, SK92 strain (and, hence, the corresponding detoxified GMMA) were characterized by a single prevalent LOS structure, composed of a lactose on both the  $\alpha$ -chain and the  $\beta$ -chain, representing the minimal structure required for mAb 2C7 binding. On the other side, F62 GMMA have LOS glycoforms characterized by long  $\alpha$ -chains, composed of four or five sugars, and the  $\beta$ -chain is not expressed. Interestingly, a significant difference between the two samples was observed testing in hSBA the pooled sera from mice immunized with the detoxified SK92 and F62 GMMA, resulting in F62 GMMA eliciting high SBA titers if compared to the low hSBA titers obtained from SK92 GMMA (data not shown).

Beyond this first evidence, another important finding was that sera from mice immunized with FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1$  GMMA exposing highly truncated LOS glycan structures (2HexG-/3HexG-structures, **Figure 1.13**), presented low hSBA titers towards the majority of the tested heterologous strains; on the other side, FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA displaying both the  $\beta$ -chain and long  $\alpha$ -chain structures (2HexG+, 4HexG+ and 5HexG+ structures, **Figure 1.13**) gave good bactericidal titers against the same tested strains. The observed variability in LOS isoforms expressed by these two samples could be attributed to the naturally occurring phase variation mechanism to which some of the *lgt* genes may undergo. These results provided further support for our hypothesis on a possible

relationship between the structures exposed on the GMMA surface and the cross-bactericidal activity of the derived sera.

In light of these data, this study was set out with the aim of assessing the role of the LOS oligosaccharide epitopes in a GMMA-based vaccine and, moreover, investigating the contribution of the different antigenically distinct LOS isoforms to the functional immune response elicited by a GMMA-based vaccine.

In order to understand whether and how LOS influences the GMMA immune response, GMMA from a *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 strain genetically engineered to expressing a highly truncated LOS deprived of the  $\alpha$ -chain (*Ng* FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta lgtF$ ), were tested in competitive hSBA studies using functional sera from mice immunized with *Ng* FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta rmp$ . A strong decrease in the bactericidal titers was observed incubating the sera with the  $\Delta lgtF$  GMMA and subsequently testing it against four different heterologous strains, while no effect on the bactericidal titers were observed using *Ng* FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta lgtF$  GMMA as competitors. These data suggested that antibodies directed against LOS oligosaccharide portion are relevant for the bactericidal activity against *Ng* heterologous strains of the sera derived from immunization with a gonococcal GMMA-based vaccine. Afterwards, *Ng* FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta lgtF$  GMMA were tested *in vivo*. The corresponding mouse sera showed a lower bactericidal activity for the majority of tested strains, with at least a five-fold decrease in the titer with respect to the *Ng* FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta rmp$  used as positive control. These results further confirmed the role of anti-LOS antibodies in hSBA functional response.

Subsequently, a library of gonococcal detoxified MS11 isogenic mutant strains suitably enginereed to express a distinct LOS structure was used to dissect the contribution of the different LOS epitopes on GMMA immunogenicity. Firstly, GMMA from these strains were tested *in vivo* immunizing mice with a LOS-based dose. The analysis of the corresponding sera highlighted the fundamental role of antibodies elicited by the GMMA where LOS  $\alpha$ -chain is composed of at least four monosaccharides (LNnT structures or GalNAc-LNnT), that directly correlated with higher bactericidal titers. Further support to these results was provided by the competitive hSBA studies, that showed a drastic inhibition in the functional activity of *Ng* FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta rmp$  GMMA-based vaccine derived sera after incubation with GMMA expressing a long  $\alpha$ -chain, irrespectively of the presence of the  $\beta$ -chain. In contrast no inhibition was observed by GMMA expressing a short  $\alpha$ -chain and the  $\beta$ -chain.

In conclusion, this research work made possible to establish the crucial role of LOS oligosaccharide portion on the gonococcal GMMA immune response and subsequently, to dissect the influence of the different oligosaccharide moieties on the complement-mediated bactericidal killing, thus highlighting the importance of exposing preferably LOS glycoforms with longer  $\alpha$ -chain structures to have a

promising gonococcal GMMA-based candidate vaccine, able to elicit cross-protective bactericidal antibodies against this pathogen.

In this study the serum bactericidal activity was used as a correlate of protection for the development of an effective gonococcal vaccine. As reported in the introduction, the extensive work of Gulati and colleagues on the efficacy of the 2C7 mimitope and the chimeric mAb 2C7, showing the importance of an intact terminal complement pathway to have a LOS-mediated protection, clearly highlight that complement mediated killing of the bacteria is relevant to *in vivo* protection, thus further supporting the relevance of the hSBA assay to test the functional activity. [167, 170, 218]

Nevertheless, since a potential implication of LOS in eliciting antibodies able to inhibit invasion was reported [174], a further study with more focus on the role of this antigen in the adhesion and invasion of host epithelial cells will be needed to design a full picture of the potential of LOS for the development of an effective gonococcal vaccine.

### **CHAPTER 2**

### 2.1 Aim of the study

After assessing the key role of lipooligosaccharide in GMMA-based immune response, the next step was to dissect the influence of this promising antigen in the absence of other potentially contributing membrane components and without the support of possible synergistic activity related to them. Hence, the purpose of this study was to select a delivery system capable of mimicking GMMA, either for membrane composition or for physicochemical characteristics such as size, lamellarity, bilayer fluidity, and antigen loading. In this context, liposomes provide several advantages.

The fundamental tenet in producing these *Neisseria* liposome-based vaccines is to mimic the nativelike conformation of the antigen within bacterial or GMMA/OMV membranes by intercalating the antigen within the phospholipid bilayer of the liposome.

In the last few decades, liposomes have been widely explored as vehicles for the delivery of *Neisseria* antigens, particularly because of their adjuvant activity and ease of production. Nevertheless, studies focusing on liposomes carrying *Neisseria* LOSs as antigens have been reported only in the context of *Neisseria meningitidis*. [289-291] In 1992, Petrov and colleagues [289] described the incorporation of LOS into liposomal vesicles to obtain non-toxic and highly immunogenic LPS for immunization; therefore, they demonstrated changes in the immunomodulatory activity of LOS after incorporation into liposomes. Indeed, it is well known that these safe and biodegradable systems are able to reduce antigen toxicity and to activate both innate and adaptive immune responses.

The similarity between liposomes and GMMA resides on several characteristics, such as particle size and antigen loading per particle, making these two platforms easily comparable. However, liposomes have the advantage of carrying defined antigen vaccines, whereas GMMA have a more complex antigenic heterogeneity. Another aspect related to liposomes is that they can be used as carrier exposing solely the selected antigen, thus on one side avoiding the contamination of antigens that can be potentially problematic, such as, in the case of *N. gonorrhoeae*, the Rmp protein, an antigenically invariable membrane component capable of inducing antibodies that can block bactericidal activity of other protective antigens [268], and, on the other side, reducing the toxicity related to LOS, as demonstrated by Mistretta *et al.* [266]

Accordingly, the lipid composition was chosen to create vesicles as similar as possible to the GMMA membrane, taking into consideration the possible different effects of each constituent. Moreover, the physicochemical properties of the final particles can be modified by modulating the reaction conditions in the NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup> system.
Therefore, liposomes have been prepared by inserting detoxified LOS into the lipid mixture composition, leveraging their amphiphilic properties, and thus obtaining liposomes bearing LOS, called *liposomal LOS* (or *LOS-liposomes*).

An essential step in investigating liposomes as antigen carriers is the set-up of techniques that can be easily applied to either GMMA or liposomes, allowing an easy and direct comparison between the two systems.

Eventually, in order to consider liposomes as potential carriers for LOS, it became critical to evaluate the impact of liposomal LOS on the induction of bactericidal antibodies. Both gonococcal lipooligosaccharide alone or incorporated in liposome carriers were tested *in vivo* in mice, using the corresponding GMMA as controls. Interestingly, the promising results highlighted the ability of liposomes to display gonococcal LOS in an optimal manner, also confirming the role of this antigen in eliciting a protective immune response, especially when presented in multiplicity on particles and even in the absence of other protein antigens that could contribute to the immune response.

## 2.2 Materials and Methods

## 2.2.1 LOS extraction and Western Blot

LOS was extracted from FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta rmp$  GMMA and analysed following the procedures reported in paragraph Chap 1 – Materials and Methods - LOS extraction and physicochemical and immunochemical characterization.

## 2.2.2 Preparation of LOS-liposomes

The preparation of DMPC:DMPG:Cholesterol:DMPE-mPEG2000:LOS liposomes was achieved via microfluidics (NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup>, Precision NanoSystems Inc) processes based on previously developed methods [292-294]. Briefly, DMPC:DMPG:Cholesterol:DMPE-mPEG2000 lipid stock mixture was prepared in ethanol at 20,7:2,2:55:1 molar ratio. Another solution of LOS extracted from FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta rmp$  GMMA was prepared solubilizing it in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at 1140 nmol<sub>LOS</sub>/mL. Then, the two preparations were heated up to 65°C to equilibrate and then mixed. This lipid/LOS mixture and an aqueous phase (MilliQ<sup>®</sup> water) were injected simultaneously in the micromixer. The volume of lipid (organic) and aqueous phase injected depends on the manufacturing conditions that have been selected. Herein, all formulations were prepared at 13 mg/mL initial lipid concentration (LOS excluded), 2:1 v/v aqueous:organic flow rate ratio (FRR) and 12 mL/min total flow rate (TFR) (**Table 2.1**). All newly formed liposomes (3 mL) were then subjected to buffer exchange with PBS 1x *via* PD10 desalting column.

I	Liposome composition		NanoAssemblr <sup>®</sup> conditions		
	Component	Molar ratio	Solvents	Water:Ethanol	
	DMPC	20.7		2426 (2 1)	
Liposome	DMDC	2.2	Final Volume (µL)	2136 (2 mL)	
	DIVIPO	2.2	TFR	12 mL/min	
	Cholesterol	55.4	FRR	2:1 (Aq:Lip)	
	DMPE-mPEG2000	1	Temperature	RT	
		_			
	Component	Molar ratio	Solvents	Water:Ethanol/DMSO	
	Component DMPC	Molar ratio 20.7	Solvents	Water: Ethanol / DMSO	
LOS –	Component DMPC DMPG	Molar ratio 20.7 2.2	Solvents	Water:Ethanol/DMSO	
LOS – Liposome	Component DMPC DMPG Cholesterol	Molar ratio 20.7 2.2 55.4	Solvents Final Volume (µL)	Water:Ethanol/DMSO 3060 (3 mL)	
LOS – Liposome	Component DMPC DMPG Cholesterol DMPE-mPEG2000	Molar ratio 20.7 2.2 55.4 1	Solvents Final Volume (μL) TFR	Water:Ethanol/DMSO 3060 (3 mL) 12 mL/min	
LOS – Liposome	Component DMPC DMPG Cholesterol DMPE-mPEG2000 LOS from GMMA	Molar ratio 20.7 2.2 55.4 1	Solvents Final Volume (µL) TFR FRR	Water:Ethanol/DMSO 3060 (3 mL) 12 mL/min 2:1 (Aq:Lip)	
LOS – Liposome	Component DMPC DMPG Cholesterol DMPE-mPEG2000 LOS from GMMA FA1090 ΔLpxL1 Δrmp	Molar ratio 20.7 2.2 55.4 1 1.4	Solvents Final Volume (µL) TFR FRR	Water:Ethanol/DMSO 3060 (3 mL) 12 mL/min 2:1 (Aq:Lip)	

Table 2.1 Details of the liposome formulation and NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup> conditions.

#### 2.2.3 Liposome characterization

#### **Cryoscopic Osmometer**

To measure the osmolality of formulations, an Osmomat 030 osmometer (Gonotec GmbH) was used, according to manufacturer's instructions, to evaluate the correct buffer exchange and the final osmolality of the formulation. A volume of 50  $\mu$ L/formulate was used for the measurements, the accepted osmolality range was in a range of ± 60 mOsm/Kg. The osmolality was 0.275 mOsm/Kg confirming the complete buffer exchange.

#### Negative Staining Electron Microscopy (NS-EM)

Transmission electron microscopy is a technique that allows to obtain resolution images of a biological sample and to analyze its integrity, dimension, state of aggregation, providing detailed structures. Morphological analysis of Liposome and LOS liposome was performed by Negative Staining Electron Microscopy (NS-EM). In NS-EM, heavy metal salt contrast which allows the visualization of the objects, is not applied to the object itself but to its environment. The electron microscope beam, consisting of high energy electrons, can cross biological material easier than the surrounding space, thus defining the structure of the sample.

#### Negative Staining Method

A volume 5 µL of samples in PBS 1X was loaded onto a copper 200-square mesh grid of carbon/formvar rendered hydrophilic by glow discharge (Quorum Q150R S). The excess solution was blotted off after 30 seconds using Whatman filter Paper No.1 and then the grids were negatively stained with NanoW (Nanoprobes) for 30 seconds and then blotted using Whatman filter Paper No.1 and let air dry. After air drying, the specimen is ready to be introduced into microscope. Micrographs were acquired using a Tecnai G2 Spirit Transmission Electron Microscope equipped with a CCD 2kx4k camera. The images were acquired using a Tvips TemCam-F216 (EM-Menu software).

### Dinamic light scattering (DLS) and multi-angle dynamic light scattering (MADLS)

Size determinations including Z-average and polydispersity index (PDI) were determined using methods based on dynamic light scattering. This technique measures the time-dependent fluctuations in the intensity of scattered light which occur because the particles are undergoing Brownian motion. Analysis of these intensity fluctuations enables the determination of the diffusion coefficients of the particles which are converted into a size distribution. Measurements were made at 25 °C using a Zetasizer Ultra (Malvern Panalytical Ltd., Malvern, UK) and all measurements were repeated tree times. The Z average was used to determine the hydrodynamic diameter (nm) of particles where PDI

indicates the width of size distribution and the homogeneity of the particles in the system. Dispersions with a PDI of less than 0.2–0.3 can be considered as a homogenous system, where PDI 1 shows a heterogeneous dispersion. The instrument settings were 101ppose101ed automatically by means of the ZS XPLORER software (Malvern Panalytical Ltd., UK).

The zeta potentials of the liposomes were measured on a Zetasizer Nano (Malvern Panalytical Ltd., Malvern, UK). The zeta potential of a particle is the overall charge that the particle acquires in a particular medium. Measurement of the zeta potential of samples in the Zetasizer Nano is done using the technique of laser Doppler velocimetry. In this technique, a voltage is applied across a pair of electrodes at either end of a cell containing the particle dispersion. Charged particles are attracted to the101pposetely charged electrode and their velocity is measured and expressed in unit field strength as their electrophoretic mobility.

The MADLS technology was exploited to have a precise measurement even with less material or lower concentrations. This was possible through an automated series of single-angle measurements: backscatter (173°), side scatter (90°) and forward scatter (17°), that are combined to provide a single particle size distribution. Each particle concentration result reported is the average of three or more repeat of MADLS measurements, performed with an acquisition time of approximately 200s each on a Zetasizer Ultra (Malvern Panalytical Ltd., Malvern, UK). Refractive index values were automatically assigned by ZS XPLORER software. This analysis gave also the D10, D90 and D50 measurements value that are statistical parameters that can be read directly from the cumulative particle size distribution and indicate the size below which 10%, 50% or 90% of all particles are found.

#### 2.2.4 In *vivo* studies and functional assays

#### **Immunization study**

Female six weeks old CD1 outbred mice were immunized intramuscularly 2 times at a day 1 and day 22 at a 1 nmol<sub>LOS</sub>-based dose in 50µL, either adsorbed to Alum hydroxide (3 mg/mL) or without Alum. Mice sera collected three weeks after the second dose (day 42) were analyzed in pools in hSBA assay as described in *Chapter 1* > 1.2 Materials and Methods > 1.2.5 in vivo studies and functional assays.

## 2.3 Results

## 2.3.1 Liposome as naked carrier: LOS exposed in an antigen-free delivery system

#### 2.3.1.1 Liposome formulation: composition and preparation

Over the years, liposomes have been widely studied for their potential as drug or antigen carriers in formulations or as model systems for studying the properties of biological membranes with different lipid components. [295]

As our aim was to prepare liposomes as similar as possible to an OMV membrane, the first step was to properly select the lipid composition. Cholesterol was inserted to stabilize the membrane and avoid phase transition effects caused by phospholipids, together with two different phospholipids, dimyristoyl-phosphatidylglycerol and dimyristoyl-phosphatidylcholine. The choice of liposomal phospholipids depends on different factors, that need to be balanced to obtain an efficient liposome formulation for the delivery of the antigen under consideration. Among the variables, one important consideration is to keep the fatty acid chain length constant for all phospholipid components. In our case, since LOS is an amphipathic lipid, it should be considered as an integral part of the liposome partially inserted in the liposome bilayer (Lipid A portion) and in part expressed on the surface (oligosaccharide portion); therefore, starting from this consideration, the other lipid components should have approximately 14-C or 12-C aliphatic saturated chains in the fatty acid residues of their hydrophobic tails, to be as similar as possible to LOS.

Moreover, liposome formulations can bear a PEGylated surface to extend the circulation half-life while in the body [263] and for this reason a PEGylated lipid, dimyristoyl-phosphatidylethanolamine-PEG2000, has been included in the formulation. In general, even if pegylation increases liposome circulation time, the immunological profile of the liposome needs to be balanced relative to the ligand/PEG content in order to obtain particle stability, high encapsulation, biodistribution, and presentation of the attached ligands. Herein, some of these characteristics do not represent a problem. Nevertheless, Goswami et al. observed that reduction of PEG from 2% to 0.3% in terms of molar ratio, resulted in increased mannose exposure on the LNPs. [296] For this reason, PEG in the formulation was added in a molar ratio of 1.2% with respect to the other components to obtain particles with a less probability of a PEG shield effect on the LOS oligosaccharide epitopes exposed on the surface.

The detoxified gonococcal lipooligosaccharide selected for liposome preparation was derived from GMMA of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* FA1090  $\Delta lpxLI \Delta rmp$ , obtained following an optimized waterphenol method for LOS extraction. Genetic detoxification of the lipooligosaccharide obtained by knocking out the *lpxLI* gene ensures the formation of vesicles with a low reactogenicity profile. [248-253, 297]

Moreover, we should consider that the endotoxic activity of LOS can also be reduced by its incorporation into liposomal vesicles, while its adjuvant potential and, consequently, improvement of the elicited immune response are retained. [289, 298-301]

**Figure 2.1** shows the composition and structure of the components selected for the LOS-liposome formulation.



Figure 2.1 Structures and features of the components selected for the liposome formulations.

Liposomes were prepared by leveraging microfluidic techniques using the NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup> Benchtop microfluidic instrument. NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup> technology uses laminar flow microfluidic system to achieve rapid and consistent mixing to control the conditions of solvent/antisolvent nanoprecipitation, and hence, the physicochemical properties of the desired nanoparticles with high reproducibility. The mechanism involves nanoprecipitation induced by a polarity change in the solvent environment, wherein the solvent phase containing the starting materials is rapidly merged in a NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup> microfluidic mixer with an aqueous solution, which drives liposome formation *via* nanoprecipitation. Among the parameters that may influence physicochemical characteristics, solvent and anti-solvent selection play important roles in successful formulation. In our case, according to a study by Joshi *et al.* [302] reporting how changes in the solvent and aqueous buffer can directly modulate liposome size, we chose ethanol and water as combinations of organic and aqueous phases.

Another important factor is the solubility of the starting material in the solvent, at or above the concentrations and temperatures used in the NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup> process. In our case, we must consider that lipids with saturated tail groups have stronger intramolecular interactions, that make them difficult to dissolve in some solvents, and they are also usually characterized by higher phase transition temperatures <sup>TM</sup>.

The maximum concentration of solutes (solubility limit) is also affected by temperature; therefore, both concentration and temperature require consideration when developing these types of formulations; indeed, operating within the limits of solubility contributes to consistent results. Since formulating below the  $T_m$  of a lipid can lead to much larger particles and generally poor polydispersity or a multimodal population, we overcame this problem by heating the lipid mixture at temperatures of at least 10 °C above the  $T_m$  of the lipid species with the highest  $T_m$ .

Additionally, it is important to consider the poor solubility of LOS in ethanol, which may represent a challenge. Therefore, according to the manufacturer's instructions, we used the co-solvent method, introducing a second organic solvent in small quantities to enhance the solvent power of the primary one. Herein, the selected solvent is dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), following the manufacturer's guidelines, in which it was reported a similar approach to prepare liposome composed of phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylglycerol and monophosphoryl lipid A, a compound with a nature similar to LOS. Considering the quantity of LOS in GMMA, the corresponding LOS amount in terms of nmol<sub>LOS</sub> was solubilized in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and heated at 65°C to fully dissolve. This solution was then mixed with the other lipids, previously resuspended in ethanol and equilibrated at 65°C.

These lipid mixtures were used as organic phase in the NanoAssemblr<sup>®</sup> process to successfully produce the desired liposomes. The selected liposome preparations and their corresponding reaction conditions are listed in **Figure 2.2**.

Liposome	Component	Molar ratio		Component	Molar ratio
	DMPC	20.7		DMPC	20.7
	DMPG	2.2	LOS – Liposome	DMPG	2.2
		2.2		Cholesterol	55.4
	Cholesterol	55.4		DMPE-mPEG2000	1
	DMPE-mPEG2000	1		LOS from GMMA FA1090 $\Delta LpxL1$	1.4
				$\Delta rmp$ in Diviso (65 C/ 10min)	

Figure 2.2 Composition and molar ratio of the different liposome formulations.

After assembling the liposomal vesicles, the buffer in the preparations was exchanged to PBS 1x using desalting size-exclusion chromatography pre-packed columns (PD10 desalting column), and the samples were analyzed using a cryoscopic osmometer to verify the correct occurrence of the buffer exchange.

#### 2.3.1.2 Development of techniques for the characterization of GMMA and Liposome

Liposomes have been characterized using different physicochemical techniques.

Firstly, negative staining transmission electron microscopy (NS-EM) was performed on all the samples in order to verify the correct assembly of these vesicles and to characterize their integrity, size and shape. By analyzing these liposome preparations, it was possible to confirm the presence of round-shaped unilamellar vesicles with diameter of 70-75 nm, as shown in **Figure 2.3**. Moreover, comparing the two liposome preparations, it was observed that liposomes maintained their integrity in the presence of LOS.



**Figure 2.3** NS-EM negative staining analyses of liposome and LOS-liposome samples (*on the left*). GMMA NS-EM analysis was reported to compare the vesicles size and integrity. NS-EM confirmed the similarity between size of liposomes and GMMA, as further verified by DLS.

To further confirm the size and to analyze the different liposome formulations, DLS and MADLS analyses were performed using Zetasizer Ultra, proving the presence of monodisperse small vesicles. The hydrodynamic radius dimension measured by dynamic light scattering (DLS) was comparable between GMMA and liposomes, with a range of values between 70 and 75 nm. Moreover, the value of polydispersity index (PDI) of the two sample of liposome is even lower than the GMMA, indicating that these vesicles are in a monodisperse suspension.

A more in-depth characterization of these vesicles was performed by multi-angle dynamic light scattering (MADLS). MADLS is a fully automated process that measures the correlation function in

three scattering directions – backscatter  $(173^{\circ})$ , side scatter  $(90^{\circ})$  and forward scatter  $(17^{\circ})$  – and uses that data from three angles to create an angle-independent result. This gives a particle size distribution with a higher resolution, beyond that attainable with a single-angle DLS experiment alone. The additional value is related to an extension to MADLS that affords the ability to directly test particle concentration. The measurement of particle concentration combined with the LOS quantity by SE-HPLC analysis allowed to obtain the LOS quantity/particles value, indispensable for comparing GMMA and LOS-liposome. Moreover, the D10-50-90 indicates the size below which 10%, 50% or 90% of all particles are found. The difference among the three measurements needs to be similar to have monodisperse samples. Herein, this value reflects what seen with the PDI index results, confirming the monodispersity of the sample.

The Z-potential of the liposome preparation was estimated using Zetasizer Ultra in order to verify the stability of this formulation. The zeta potential of a particle is the overall charge that the particle acquires in a particular medium. The magnitude of the zeta potential of particles in a colloidal system indicates system stability. Here, the value was around – 5mV, corresponding to what was expected according to literature data for liposomes with PEG in their formulation [303]. Indeed, starting from a value of approximately -40 mV for liposomes with PEG, by increasing the concentration of PEG in the formulation, the absolute value of Z-potential became lower until a plateau around -5 mV. This trend was confirmed by analyzing the corresponding formulation of liposomes prepared without PEG, showing a higher Z-potential value, around -11,07 mV.

As for the GMMA preparation, the analysis of the LOS content is performed by the quantification by SE-HPLC analysis of the reactive carbonyl groups of the oligosaccharide portion, derivatized with SCA after acid hydrolysis to remove the Lipid A.

The recap of the characterization of liposome, LOS-liposome and GMMA are reported in Table 2.2.

	DLS		MADLS		Z-potential		LOS quantity by HPLC analysis	LOS quantity/ particles
Sample	Z- average (d.nm)	PDI	D10- D50- D90 (nm)	Number particles (particles/mL)	Measures (mV)	Average Z-pot	LOS quantity (nmol <sub>LOS</sub> /mL)	LOS quantity (pmol <sub>LOS</sub> / particles)
Liposome	69.49	0.10	-	2.30 E+11	-3.62 -3.50 -4.91	-4.01	-	-
LOS- Liposome	72.01	0.15	68.87 70.85 72.83	3.33 E+11	-4.89 -5.11 -5.99	-5.33	38 nmol <sub>LOS</sub> /mL	0.2 pmol <sub>LOS</sub> / particles
GMMA FA1090 <i>∆lpxLI</i> ∆rmp	73.34	0.28	57.20 58.85 60.49	1.16 E+12		-	302.6 nmol <sub>LOS</sub> /mL	1.6 pmol <sub>LOS</sub> / particles

Table 2.2 Characterization of the liposome samples and GMMA through different techniques.

From a qualitative perspective, liposomes were analyzed by Dot Blot, spotting our liposome and the corresponding GMMA and using anti-LOS mAb 2C7, which is able to recognize a saccharide epitope of LOS (data not shown). Dot blot confirmed that at least a certain percentage of the oligosaccharide fraction of LOS is oriented outward and therefore allows binding by the mAb.

In addition, Western blot was performed on the sample. Firstly, a 4-12% polyacrylamide gels was run in a MES buffer to perform a Western blot using anti-LOS mAb 2C7, able to recognize all the LOS structures of the FA1090 LOS. This allowed a fast screening of the LOS presence, confirming that it is present only in the liposomal LOS and extracted LOS alone, and as expected, no bands appeared in the liposome alone line. Afterwards, the sample were tested in a 16% tris-glycine gel - Western Blot with mAb 2C7 to check if all the three structures of LOS were incorporated into the liposome, besides the differences in their oligosaccharide portion (**Figure 2.4**).



**Figure 2.4** Western Blot analyses performed on the liposome sample to check the presence of LOS and the presence of the three glycoforms recognized by mAb 2C7.

The stability of these formulations under different storage conditions (4°C, -20°C and -80°C) and at different time point (24h, 72h, a week) was evaluated analyzing the sample by DLS (Zetasizer Ultra). A slight increase in size, from 70.9 d.nm up to 75.1 d.nm, was observed for LOS-liposome after a week at 4°C, while its PDI remained similar (from 0.15 to 0.17). Storage at 4°C was the only temperature condition that allows to preserve the samples. As reported in literature, for long-term storage of these preparations storage at -20°C and -80°C of liposome might be possible using proper cryoprotectors or leveraging on freeze-drying techniques [304].

The impact of sterile filtration  $(0.22 \ \mu m)$  was also assessed. DLS analysis of the sample before and after this step showed that the formulation maintained the same size and PDI characteristics.

# 2.3.1.3 Investigation of the immunogenicity of LOS exposed in liposome carrier on the bactericidal immune response in mice

The two vaccine delivery systems were compared for their ability to induce bactericidal antibodies against different *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains.

Liposomes with and without LOS were tested together with the corresponding GMMA and free LOS as controls, by immunizing mice at a 1 nmol<sub>LOS</sub>-based dose, either adsorbed to Alum hydroxide (3 mg/mL) or without Alum (**Table 2.3**). In the case of GMMA, the dose in term of protein quantity

corresponds to  $3,7\mu g$ . In the case of the liposome scaffold, the dose matches to the corresponding number of particles of LOS Liposome, measured by MADLS.

Antigen	Dose (nmolLos)	Adjuvant
Extracted LOS from GMMA FA1090 <i>ΔlpxLI Δrmp</i>	1	-
Extracted LOS from GMMA FA1090 <i>AlpxLI Armp</i>	1	Alum hydroxide 3mg/mL
Liposome	Corresponding number of particles	Alum hydroxide 3mg/mL
LOS Liposome	1	-
LOS Liposome	1	Alum hydroxide 3mg/mL
GMMA FA1090 <i>ΔlpxLI Δrmp</i>	1	-
GMMA FA1090 ∆lpxLI ∆rmp	1	Alum hydroxide 3mg/mL

**Table 2.3** Doses and details of the samples test in this *in vivo* immunization study.

Sera were collected three weeks after the second dose (day 42) and analyzed in pools in hSBA assay. The serum antibody functionality was tested using a panel of *N. gonorrhoeae* strains, including the homologous FA1090 strainand three different heterologous gonococcal strains, F62, WHO-N and WHO-G, all displaying different LOS structure (**Table 2.4**)

**Table 2.4.** Prevalent LOS phenotypes expressed by the selected Ng strains.

Strain	LOS phenotypes						
	2HexG-	4HexG-	5HexG-	2HexG+	4HexG+	5HexG+	
FA1090				✓	✓	~	
F62		✓	✓				
WHO-N					✓	✓	
WHO-G	✓	✓					



**Figure 2.5** hSBA titers measured against the indicated Gonococcus strains on pooled sera from CD1 mice immunized twice with LOS extracted from FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA, liposomal LOS and the corresponding FA1090  $\Delta lpxL1 \Delta rmp$  GMMA. All the samples were tested either with or without Alum hydroxide (3 mg/mL) as adjuvant. Each hSBA titer is the mean of two or three different analyses.

A comparison of the results (**Figure 2.5**) revealed that LOS-liposomes induced slightly higher bactericidal responses against both the homologous FA1090 strain and the majority of the heterologous strains with respect to the LOS alone and the liposome scaffold (used as negative control). These results suggest that liposomes could be optimal carrier to be further exploited for the delivery of LOS, exposing this antigen in an ideal manner and possibly improving the response with respect to the antigen alone, similarly to what was observed in other previous studies with meningococcal LOS. [155, 289] However, in the case of the heterologous F62 strain, this effect was not observed, but the LOS alone and the liposomal LOS hSBA titers remains still comparable.

Another interesting observation that emerged from the data was that the bactericidal antibodies elicited by liposomal-LOS derived sera gave hSBA titers against the homologous FA1090 strain that are comparable to the GMMA-derived sera results. This observation is relevant especially if we consider that, in liposomes, we do not have an abundant protein component that might be able to induce an effective immune response by themselves. Moreover, when looking at the results in hSBA against the 3 heterologous strains, the liposomal LOS group reported slightly higher titers than the GMMA group. This results also indicated that the high response of the GMMA in hSBA against the gonococcal heterologous strains could be mediated by bactericidal anti-LOS antibodies.

In summary, these results provide important insights into the role of LOS in the hSBA response after immunization with a liposome or OMV/GMMA vaccine, suggesting that LOS could be a key antigen to be taken into consideration for the development of a gonococcal vaccine.

#### 2.4 Discussion

Once established the role of LOS in the GMMA-induced immune response against several gonococcal heterologous strains, the elucidation of the impact of the LOS oligosaccharide portion without any other potentially contributing OM component deserved a deep examination.

LOS-derived oligosaccharide epitopes have been considered as potential gonococcal candidates and several attempts were made to explore them as vaccine antigen. It is well-known that carbohydrate immunogens evoke T-cell independent responses, stimulating the production of low affinity IgM antibodies predominantly, without affinity maturation. For this reason, an approach that has been applied to overcome this issue is to chemically conjugate the saccharides to a carrier protein, thus switching the immune response towards a T-cell dependent one.

However, in the case of gonococcal LOS, this strategy has proved difficult to apply since the purification of the oligosaccharide portion from LOS may result in a change in configuration, and hence in its antigenicity, thereby modify immunogenicity. On the other side, the precise configurations of OS structures within intact LOSs are not known, thus making the synthetic approach difficult to be exploited and, moreover, optimizing the production of the correct isomers may not be possible without advance structural knowledge. [305]

To circumvent the potential limitations of LOS-derived oligosaccharide as vaccine antigen, we embarked on a different strategy, taking advantage of liposome as *naked* carrier. The idea was to have functionalized lipid vesicles, able to mimic GMMA, thus enabling a direct comparison of the LOS-induced hSBA response when this antigen is exposed on vesicles alone or in presence of the other OM components. This strategy allows, on one side, to confirm the impact of LOS on the hSBA response and on the other side to understand whether this effect is due entirely to this antigen or if the influence of other components may lead to a synergistic effect.

In addition, this study permits a direct comparison among these two vaccine platforms. Liposome turned out to be an interesting technology to produce vesicles exposing single and defined antigens, thus bypassing the heterogenicity related to GMMA or OMV vesicles and avoiding the presence of disadvantageous components. Moreover, in this case, another important benefit derived from the exposure in liposomal vesicles is the reduction of the toxicity of LOS [266], although the LOS that was used here for the liposome preparation was extracted from GMMA vesicles and, hence, already genetically detoxified. On the other side, GMMA constitute a straightforward platform combining the low-cost of production, high purification yields and ease of production, circumventing the steps of antigen purification and the assembly of the liposomal vesicle.

The results reported in this chapter indicated that LOS is a crucial constituent to elicit a bactericidal response against Gonococcus, especially against heterologous strains. Nevertheless, the bactericidal activity against the homologous strains was maintained testing liposomal LOS. LOS exposed in liposomes confirmed the importance of the multi-exposure of this saccharide antigen on a vesicle, showing a slightly positive trend in hSBA if compared to the hSBA titers of LOS alone.

Therefore, it was confirmed that liposomes are a promising vaccine platform to develop a LOS-based gonococcal vaccine. For a full picture, additional studies will be needed to optimize this platform for the delivery of this type of antigen playing with different parameters, such as the lipid formulation or the combination with other adjuvants. A more in-depth study of the immune response may include the comparison of antibody persistence of GMMA and LOS-Liposome and the antibody subclasses elicited and their relationship with functionality.

## CONCLUSIONS

The retrospective epidemiological study of Petousis-Harris *et al.* in 2017, reporting the potential protective immunity against gonorrhoea after a national immunization program in New Zealand with the MenB OMV vaccine MeNZB<sup>®</sup> (Novartis), was one of the first analysis leading to a renewed interest regarding the feasibility of a vaccine against *N. gonorrhoeae*. In light of this, OMV and GMMA platform represents an attractive platform to be exploited.

Among the components that turned out to be interesting as major antigens for a gonococcal vaccine, lipooligosaccharide represent one of the most studied and debated. Several studies have been focusing on the variety of effects attributable to the different LOS glycoforms, both on pathogenesis, by inducing host inflammatory responses, and on evasion of host innate immunity, through sialylation. Epitopes within LOS are also potential vaccine candidates. Indeed, a promising peptide mimic of the 2C7 epitope have been reported to elicit cross-reactive bactericidal antibodies in mice and to attenuate gonococcal vaginal colonization in a mouse model of infection. [169]

Nevertheless, little was known about the factors which are thought to contribute to elicit a protective immune response after immunization with gonococcal GMMA-based vaccine and, moreover, the influence of LOS on a gonococcal GMMA-based immune response had not been thoroughly investigated.

The present study was initially designed to determine the effect of this antigen on the immune response after vaccination with a GMMA-based vaccine. Generation of a mutant lacking the variable oligosaccharide moiety was generated to produce GMMA used to immunize mice. The findings clearly indicated that LOS has a role in promoting protection against gonococcal infection, eliciting antibodies that are bactericidal against the majority of the tested gonococcal strains. The second aim of this study was to investigate the effects of the different LOS glycoforms on the elicitation of bactericidal antibodies to assess which of them are crucial to have protection in hSBA. Data from immunization with GMMA from detoxified MS11 mutants, expressing defined lipooligosaccharide portions, highlighted the importance of long  $\alpha$ -chains LOS structures to elicit a functional response, suggesting that having these structures can lead to the development of an effective gonococcal GMMA-based vaccine.

Lastly, liposome vesicles exposing LOS have been exploited as *naked* carrier. These vesicles, formulated in order to mimic GMMA composition but exposing solely LOS as antigen, have been instrumental to establish the impact of LOS in absence of other components, that may contribute to

the immune response. The LOS-liposome results offered us a key to understand the importance of this antigen in eliciting a functional response after an immunization with vesicles.

The insights gained from this study may provide a basis to support the development of novel GMMAbased vaccine to fight *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Nevertheless, underlining the importance to further explore the use of lipid-based vesicles, this research paves the way towards design of new strategy to develop or improve vaccine against this concerning anti-microbial resistant pathogen.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Marchetti, R., et al., *Solving the structural puzzle of bacterial glycome*. Curr Opin Struct Biol, 2021.
   68: p. 74-83.
- Silhavy, T.J., D. Kahne, and S. Walker, *The bacterial cell envelope*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2010. 2(5): p. a000414.
- 3. Filloux, A. and C. Whitfield, *Editorial: The many wonders of the bacterial cell surface*. FEMS Microbiol Rev, 2016. **40**(2): p. 161-3.
- 4. Costantino, P., R. Rappuoli, and F. Berti, *The design of semi-synthetic and synthetic glycoconjugate vaccines*. Expert Opin. Drug Discov., 2011. **6**(10): p. 1045-1066.
- 5. Pollard, A.J., K.P. Perrett, and P.C. Beverley, *Maintaining protection against invasive bacteria with protein-polysaccharide conjugate vaccines*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2009. **9**(3): p. 213-20.
- 6. Andreano, E., et al., *Vaccine Evolution and Its Application to Fight Modern Threats*. Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 1722.
- 7. Rosini, R., et al., *Vaccines Against Antimicrobial Resistance*. Front Immunol, 2020. **11**: p. 1048.
- 8. Plotkin, S.L. and S.A. Plotkin, *1 A short history of vaccination*, in *Vaccines (Sixth Edition)*, S.A. Plotkin, W.A. Orenstein, and P.A. Offit, Editors. 2013, W.B. Saunders: London. p. 1-13.
- 9. Abraham, E.P. and E. Chain, *An enzyme from bacteria able to destroy penicillin. 1940.* Rev Infect Dis, 1988. **10**(4): p. 677-8.
- 10. Lobanovska, M. and G. Pilla, *Penicillin's Discovery and Antibiotic Resistance: Lessons for the Future?* Yale J Biol Med, 2017. **90**(1): p. 135-145.
- Lowy, F.D., Antimicrobial resistance: the example of Staphylococcus aureus. J Clin Invest, 2003. 111(9): p. 1265-73.
- 12. Micoli, F., et al., *The role of vaccines in combatting antimicrobial resistance*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2021. **19**(5): p. 287-302.
- Mladenovic-Antic, S., et al., Correlation between antimicrobial consumption and antimicrobial resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in a hospital setting: a 10-year study. J Clin Pharm Ther, 2016. 41(5): p. 532-7.
- 14. CDC, Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States. CDC Report, 2019.
- 15. Patel, A., *Tackling Antimicrobial Resistance in the Shadow of COVID-19.* mBio, 2021. **12**(4): p. e0047321.
- 16. CDC, COVID-19: U.S. Impact on Antimicrobial Resistance, Special Report 2022. CDC Report, 2022.
- 17. Prestinaci, F., P. Pezzotti, and A. Pantosti, *Antimicrobial resistance: a global multifaceted phenomenon.* Pathogens and global health, 2015. **109**(7): p. 309-318.

- 18. Organization, W.H., Global action plan on antimicrobial resistance. 2015.
- 19. Kennedy, D.A. and A.F. Read, *Why the evolution of vaccine resistance is less of a concern than the evolution of drug resistance.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2018. **115**(51): p. 12878-12886.
- 20. Finco, O. and R. Rappuoli, *Designing vaccines for the twenty-first century society*. Front Immunol, 2014. **5**: p. 12.
- 21. Organization, W.H., *Prioritization of pathogens to guide discovery, research and development of new antibiotics for drug-resistant bacterial infections, including tuberculosis.* 2017.
- 22. Rowley, J., et al., *Chlamydia, gonorrhoea, trichomoniasis and syphilis: global prevalence and incidence estimates, 2016.* Bull World Health Organ, 2019. **97**(8): p. 548-562p.
- 23. CDC. *Sexually Transmitted Disease Surveillance, 2020 Gonorrhea.* 2022 [cited 2022 5 September]; Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/std/statistics/2020/overview.htm#Gonorrhea</u>.
- 24. Unemo, M., et al., *Gonorrhoea*. Nat Rev Dis Primers, 2019. **5**(1): p. 79.
- 25. WHO, *Global action plan to control the spread and impact of antimicrobial resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* World Health Organization Report, 2012.
- 26. WHO, Enhanced Gonococcal Antimicrobial Surveillance Programme (EGASP): general protocol. World Health Organization Report, 2021.
- 27. Petousis-Harris, H., et al., *Effectiveness of a group B outer membrane vesicle meningococcal vaccine against gonorrhoea in New Zealand: a retrospective case-control study.* Lancet, 2017. **390**(10102): p. 1603-1610.
- 28. Azze, R.F.O., *A meningococcal B vaccine induces cross-protection against gonorrhea*. Clin Exp Vaccine Res, 2019. **8**(2): p. 110-115.
- 29. Whelan, J., et al., *Ecologic Study of Meningococcal B Vaccine and Neisseria gonorrhoeae Infection, Norway.* Emerg Infect Dis, 2016. **22**(6): p. 1137-9.
- 30. Paynter, J., et al., *Effectiveness of a Group B Outer Membrane Vesicle Meningococcal Vaccine in Preventing Hospitalization from Gonorrhea in New Zealand: A Retrospective Cohort Study.* Vaccines (Basel), 2019. 7(1).
- 31. Semchenko, E.A., et al., *The Serogroup B Meningococcal Vaccine Bexsero Elicits Antibodies to Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* Clin Infect Dis, 2019. **69**(7): p. 1101-1111.
- 32. Leduc, I., et al., *The serogroup B meningococcal outer membrane vesicle-based vaccine 4CMenB induces cross-species protection against Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* PLoS Pathog, 2020. **16**(12): p. e1008602.
- 33. Longtin, J., et al., Possible Impact of Wide-scale Vaccination Against Serogroup B Neisseria Meningitidis on Gonorrhea Incidence Rates in One Region of Quebec, Canada. Open Forum Infectious Diseases, 2017. 4(suppl\_1): p. S734-S735.

- 34. Looker, K.J., et al., *The potential public health impact of adolescent 4CMenB vaccination on Neisseria gonorrhoeae infection in England: a modelling study.* BMC Public Health, 2023. **23**(1): p. 1.
- 35. Elias, J.F., Vogel, U., in *Manual of Clinical Microbiology 12th edn*, C.C.e.a. Carroll, Editor. 2019, American Society for Microbiology. p. 640–655.
- 36. Adeolu, M. and R.S. Gupta, *Phylogenomics and molecular signatures for the order Neisseriales:* proposal for division of the order Neisseriales into the emended family Neisseriaceae and *Chromobacteriaceae fam. nov.* Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 2013. **104**: p. 1-24.
- 37. Tønjum, T.v.P., J., in *Infectious Diseases 4th edn*, J. Cohen, Powderly, W. G. & Steven M. Opal, Editor. 2016, Elsevier. p. 1553-1564.
- Johnson, A.P., *The pathogenic potential of commensal species of Neisseria*. J Clin Pathol, 1983. 36(2): p. 213-23.
- 39. Liu, G., C.M. Tang, and R.M. Exley, *Non-pathogenic Neisseria: members of an abundant, multi-habitat, diverse genus.* Microbiology (Reading), 2015. **161**(7): p. 1297-1312.
- 40. Seifert, H.S., *Location, Location, Commensalism, Damage and Evolution of the Pathogenic Neisseria.* J Mol Biol, 2019. **431**(16): p. 3010-3014.
- 41. P., G., *The Ebers Papyrus: a new English translation, commentaries and glossaries.* Academy of Scientific Research and Technology, Cairo, 1987.
- 42. Edwards, J.L. and M.A. Apicella, *The molecular mechanisms used by Neisseria gonorrhoeae to initiate infection differ between men and women*. Clin Microbiol Rev, 2004. **17**(4): p. 965-81, table of contents.
- 43. Piszczek, J., R. St Jean, and Y. Khaliq, *Gonorrhea: treatment update for an increasingly resistant organism.* Can Pharm J (Ott), 2015. **148**(2): p. 82-9.
- 44. Lee, J.S., et al., *Gonococcal keratoconjunctivitis in adults*. Eye (Lond), 2002. 16(5): p. 646-9.
- 45. Noble, R.C., R.M. Cooper, and B.R. Miller, *Pharyngeal colonisation by Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Neisseria meningitidis in black and white patients attending a venereal disease clinic.* Br J Vener Dis, 1979. **55**(1): p. 14-9.
- 46. Danby, C.S., et al., *Patterns of extragenital chlamydia and gonorrhea in women and men who have sex with men reporting a history of receptive anal intercourse.* Sex Transm Dis, 2016. **43**(2): p. 105-9.
- 47. Hung, M.C. and M. Christodoulides, *The biology of Neisseria adhesins*. Biology (Basel), 2013. **2**(3): p. 1054-109.
- 48. Walker, C.K. and R.L. Sweet, *Gonorrhea infection in women: prevalence, effects, screening, and management.* Int J Womens Health, 2011. **3**: p. 197-206.
- 49. Hill, S.A., T.L. Masters, and J. Wachter, *Gonorrhea an evolving disease of the new millennium*. Microb Cell, 2016. **3**(9): p. 371-389.

- Densen, P., L.A. MacKeen, and R.A. Clark, Dissemination of gonococcal infection is associated with delayed stimulation of complement-dependent neutrophil chemotaxis in vitro. Infect Immun, 1982. 38(2): p. 563-72.
- 51. Densen, P., *Interaction of complement with Neisseria meningitidis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Clin Microbiol Rev, 1989. **2 Suppl**: p. S11-7.
- 52. Little, J.W., *Gonorrhea: update*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod, 2006. **101**(2): p. 137-43.
- 53. Masi, A.T. and B.I. Eisenstein, *Disseminated gonococcal infection (DGI) and gonococcal arthritis (GCA): II. Clinical manifestations, diagnosis, complications, treatment, and prevention.* Semin Arthritis Rheum, 1981. **10**(3): p. 173-97.
- 54. Kampmeier, R.H., *Identification of the gonococcus by Albert Neisser*. 1879. Sex Transm Dis, 1978.
   5(2): p. 71-2.
- 55. Julia S. Bennett, H.B.B., Carina Brehony, Odile B. Harrison, Martin C. J. Maiden, *The genus Neisseria*. The Prokaryotes, 2014: p. 881-900.
- 56. Isabella, V.M. and V.L. Clark, *Identification of a conserved protein involved in anaerobic unsaturated fatty acid synthesis in Neisseria gonorrhoeae: implications for facultative and obligate anaerobes that lack FabA*. Mol Microbiol, 2011. **82**(2): p. 489-501.
- 57. Johnston, K.H., K.K. Holmes, and E.C. Gotschlich, *The serological classification of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. *I. Isolation of the outer membrane complex responsible for serotypic specificity*. J Exp Med, 1976. **143**(4): p. 741-58.
- 58. Gotschlich, E.C., et al., *Porin protein of Neisseria gonorrhoeae: cloning and gene structure*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1987. **84**(22): p. 8135-9.
- 59. Derrick, J.P., et al., *Structural and evolutionary inference from molecular variation in Neisseria porins*. Infect Immun, 1999. **67**(5): p. 2406-13.
- Haines, K.A., et al., Protein I, a translocatable ion channel from Neisseria gonorrhoeae, selectively inhibits exocytosis from human neutrophils without inhibiting O2- generation. J Biol Chem, 1988.
   263(2): p. 945-51.
- 61. Ram, S., et al., *Binding of complement factor H to loop 5 of porin protein 1A: a molecular mechanism of serum resistance of nonsialylated Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* J Exp Med, 1998. **188**(4): p. 671-80.
- 62. Ram, S., et al., *A novel sialic acid binding site on factor H mediates serum resistance of sialylated Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* J Exp Med, 1998. **187**(5): p. 743-52.
- 63. Ram, S., et al., *Binding of C4b-binding protein to porin: a molecular mechanism of serum resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* J Exp Med, 2001. **193**(3): p. 281-95.
- 64. Madico, G., et al., *Factor H binding and function in sialylated pathogenic neisseriae is influenced by gonococcal, but not meningococcal, porin.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(7): p. 4489-97.

- 65. Ngampasutadol, J., et al., *Human factor H interacts selectively with Neisseria gonorrhoeae and results in species-specific complement evasion.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(5): p. 3426-35.
- 66. Muller, A., et al., *Neisserial porin (PorB) causes rapid calcium influx in target cells and induces apoptosis by the activation of cysteine proteases.* EMBO J, 1999. **18**(2): p. 339-52.
- 67. Muller, A., et al., *Targeting of the pro-apoptotic VDAC-like porin (PorB) of Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to mitochondria of infected cells. EMBO J, 2000. **19**(20): p. 5332-43.
- 68. Binnicker, M.J., R.D. Williams, and M.A. Apicella, *Gonococcal porin IB activates NF-kappaB in human urethral epithelium and increases the expression of host antiapoptotic factors*. Infect Immun, 2004. **72**(11): p. 6408-17.
- 69. Kozjak-Pavlovic, V., et al., *Bacterial porin disrupts mitochondrial membrane potential and sensitizes host cells to apoptosis.* PLoS Pathog, 2009. **5**(10): p. e1000629.
- 70. van Putten, J.P., T.D. Duensing, and J. Carlson, *Gonococcal invasion of epithelial cells driven by P.IA*, *a bacterial ion channel with GTP binding properties*. J Exp Med, 1998. **188**(5): p. 941-52.
- 71. Lorenzen, D.R., et al., *Neisseria gonorrhoeae porin modifies the oxidative burst of human professional phagocytes*. Infect Immun, 2000. **68**(11): p. 6215-22.
- 72. Bjerknes, R., et al., *Neisserial porins inhibit human neutrophil actin polymerization, degranulation, opsonin receptor expression, and phagocytosis but prime the neutrophils to increase their oxidative burst.* Infect Immun, 1995. **63**(1): p. 160-7.
- 73. Knapp, J.S., et al., Serological classification of Neisseria gonorrhoeae with use of monoclonal antibodies to gonococcal outer membrane protein I. J Infect Dis, 1984. **150**(1): p. 44-8.
- 74. van der Ley, P., et al., *Topology of outer membrane porins in pathogenic Neisseria spp.* Infect Immun, 1991. **59**(9): p. 2963-71.
- 75. Helaine, S., et al., *3D structure/function analysis of PilX reveals how minor pilins can modulate the virulence properties of type IV pili.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(40): p. 15888-93.
- 76. Eriksson, J., et al., *Characterization of motility and piliation in pathogenic Neisseria*. BMC Microbiol, 2015. **15**: p. 92.
- 77. Koomey, M., et al., *Effects of recA mutations on pilus antigenic variation and phase transitions in Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* Genetics, 1987. **117**(3): p. 391-8.
- 78. Sadarangani, M., A.J. Pollard, and S.D. Gray-Owen, *Opa proteins and CEACAMs: pathways of immune engagement for pathogenic Neisseria*. FEMS Microbiol Rev, 2011. **35**(3): p. 498-514.
- 79. Stern, A., et al., *Opacity genes in Neisseria gonorrhoeae: control of phase and antigenic variation*. Cell, 1986. **47**(1): p. 61-71.
- 80. Bhat, K.S., et al., *The opacity proteins of Neisseria gonorrhoeae strain MS11 are encoded by a family of 11 complete genes.* Mol Microbiol, 1991. **5**(8): p. 1889-901.

- 81. Swanson, J., *Studies on gonococcus infection. XIV. Cell wall protein differences among color/opacity colony variants of Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* Infect Immun, 1978. **21**(1): p. 292-302.
- 82. Swanson, J. and O. Barrera, *Immunological characteristics of gonococcal outer membrane protein II assessed by immunoprecipitation, immunoblotting, and coagglutination.* J Exp Med, 1983. **157**(5): p. 1405-20.
- 83. Blake, M.S., et al., Gonococcal opacity: lectin-like interactions between Opa proteins and lipooligosaccharide. Infect Immun, 1995. 63(4): p. 1434-9.
- 84. Draper, D.L., et al., Comparison of virulence markers of peritoneal and fallopian tube isolates with endocervical Neisseria gonorrhoeae isolates from women with acute salpingitis. Infect Immun, 1980. 27(3): p. 882-8.
- 85. Apicella, M.A., et al., *Phenotypic variation in epitope expression of the Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide*. Infect Immun, 1987. **55**(8): p. 1755-61.
- 86. Wetzler, L.M., et al., *Gonococcal lipooligosaccharide sialylation prevents complement-dependent killing by immune sera*. Infect Immun, 1992. **60**(1): p. 39-43.
- 87. Judd, R.C., *125I-peptide mapping of protein III isolated from four strains of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun, 1982. **37**(2): p. 622-31.
- 88. Newhall, W.J., W.D. Sawyer, and R.A. Haak, *Cross-linking analysis of the outer membrane proteins* of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Infect Immun, 1980. **28**(3): p. 785-91.
- 89. Swanson, J., L.W. Mayer, and M.R. Tam, *Antigenicity of Neisseria gonorrhoeae outer membrane protein(s) III detected by immunoprecipitation and Western blot transfer with a monoclonal antibody.* Infect Immun, 1982. **38**(2): p. 668-72.
- 90. Rice, P.A., et al., Serum resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Does it thwart the inflammatory response and facilitate the transmission of infection? Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1994. **730**: p. 7-14.
- 91. Plummer, F.A., et al., *Antibody to Rmp (outer membrane protein 3) increases susceptibility to gonococcal infection.* J Clin Invest, 1993. **91**(1): p. 339-43.
- 92. Rice, P.A., *Molecular basis for serum resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Clin Microbiol Rev, 1989.
  2 Suppl(Suppl): p. S112-7.
- 93. Quillin, S.J. and H.S. Seifert, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae host adaptation and pathogenesis*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2018. **16**(4): p. 226-240.
- 94. Hooper, R.R., et al., Cohort study of venereal disease. I: the risk of gonorrhea transmission from infected women to men. Am J Epidemiol, 1978. **108**(2): p. 136-44.
- 95. Price, M.A., et al., Addition of treatment for trichomoniasis to syndromic management of urethritis in Malawi: a randomized clinical trial. Sex Transm Dis, 2003. **30**(6): p. 516-22.
- 96. Cohen, M.S., et al., Reduction of concentration of HIV-1 in semen after treatment of urethritis: implications for prevention of sexual transmission of HIV-1. AIDSCAP Malawi Research Group. Lancet, 1997. **349**(9069): p. 1868-73.

- 97. Melly, M.A., Z.A. McGee, and R.S. Rosenthal, *Ability of monomeric peptidoglycan fragments from Neisseria gonorrhoeae to damage human fallopian-tube mucosa.* J Infect Dis, 1984. **149**(3): p. 378-86.
- 98. Melly, M.A., C.R. Gregg, and Z.A. McGee, *Studies of toxicity of Neisseria gonorrhoeae for human fallopian tube mucosa*. J Infect Dis, 1981. **143**(3): p. 423-31.
- 99. Swanson, J., et al., *Gene conversion variations generate structurally distinct pilin polypeptides in* Neisseria gonorrhoeae. J Exp Med, 1987. **165**(4): p. 1016-25.
- 100. Virji, M. and J.E. Heckels, *The role of common and type-specific pilus antigenic domains in adhesion and virulence of gonococci for human epithelial cells.* J Gen Microbiol, 1984. **130**(5): p. 1089-95.
- 101. Swanson, J., Studies on gonococcus infection. IV. Pili: their role in attachment of gonococci to tissue culture cells. J Exp Med, 1973. **137**(3): p. 571-89.
- 102. Kellogg, D.S., Jr., et al., *Neisseria gonorrhoeae. II. Colonial variation and pathogenicity during 35 months in vitro.* J Bacteriol, 1968. **96**(3): p. 596-605.
- 103. Higashi, D.L., et al., *Dynamics of Neisseria gonorrhoeae attachment: microcolony development, cortical plaque formation, and cytoprotection.* Infect Immun, 2007. **75**(10): p. 4743-53.
- 104. Virji, M., et al., *Carcinoembryonic antigens (CD66) on epithelial cells and neutrophils are receptors for Opa proteins of pathogenic neisseriae.* Mol Microbiol, 1996. **22**(5): p. 941-50.
- 105. Chen, T., et al., *Adherence of pilus- Opa+ gonococci to epithelial cells in vitro involves heparan sulfate.* J Exp Med, 1995. **182**(2): p. 511-7.
- 106. Harvey, H.A., et al., *Receptor-mediated endocytosis of Neisseria gonorrhoeae into primary human urethral epithelial cells: the role of the asialoglycoprotein receptor.* Mol Microbiol, 2001. **42**(3): p. 659-72.
- 107. Edwards, J.L., et al., *The role of complement receptor 3 (CR3) in Neisseria gonorrhoeae infection of human cervical epithelia*. Cell Microbiol, 2001. **3**(9): p. 611-22.
- 108. Doherty, C.P., Host-pathogen interactions: the role of iron. J Nutr, 2007. 137(5): p. 1341-4.
- 109. Cassat, J.E. and E.P. Skaar, *Iron in infection and immunity*. Cell Host Microbe, 2013. **13**(5): p. 509-519.
- 110. Criss, A.K. and H.S. Seifert, *A bacterial siren song: intimate interactions between Neisseria and neutrophils*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2012. **10**(3): p. 178-90.
- Apicella, M.A., et al., *The pathogenesis of gonococcal urethritis in men: confocal and immunoelectron microscopic analysis of urethral exudates from men infected with Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Infect Dis, 1996. **173**(3): p. 636-46.
- 112. Fowler, T., et al., *Previous history of gonococcal infection as a risk factor in patients presenting with gonorrhoea.* Int J STD AIDS, 2010. **21**(4): p. 277-8.

- 113. Petersen, B.H., J.A. Graham, and G.F. Brooks, *Human deficiency of the eighth component of complement. The requirement of C8 for serum Neisseria gonorrhoeae bactericidal activity.* J Clin Invest, 1976. **57**(2): p. 283-90.
- 114. Figueroa, J., J. Andreoni, and P. Densen, *Complement deficiency states and meningococcal disease*. Immunol Res, 1993. **12**(3): p. 295-311.
- 115. Charles A Janeway, J., Paul Travers, Mark Walport, and Mark J Shlomchik, *The immune system in health and disease. Immunobiology, 5th edition.* 2001.
- Schweinle, J.E., et al., Interaction of Neisseria gonorrhoeae with classical complement components, C1-inhibitor, and a monoclonal antibody directed against the Neisserial H.8 antigen. J Clin Invest, 1989. 83(2): p. 397-403.
- Edwards, J.L. and M.A. Apicella, *The role of lipooligosaccharide in Neisseria gonorrhoeae pathogenesis of cervical epithelia: lipid A serves as a C3 acceptor molecule.* Cell Microbiol, 2002. 4(9): p. 585-98.
- Edwards, J.L., et al., A co-operative interaction between Neisseria gonorrhoeae and complement receptor 3 mediates infection of primary cervical epithelial cells. Cell Microbiol, 2002. 4(9): p. 571-84.
- 119. Parsons, N.J., et al., *Cytidine 5'-monophospho-N-acetyl neuraminic acid and a low molecular weight factor from human blood cells induce lipopolysaccharide alteration in gonococci when conferring resistance to killing by human serum.* Microb Pathog, 1988. **5**(4): p. 303-9.
- 120. Mandrell, R.E., et al., *In vitro and in vivo modification of Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide epitope structure by sialylation.* J Exp Med, 1990. **171**(5): p. 1649-64.
- 121. Ram, S., et al., *Gonococcal lipooligosaccharide sialylation: virulence factor and target for novel immunotherapeutics.* Pathog Dis, 2017. **75**(4).
- 122. Rice, P.A., *Molecular basis for serum resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Clin Microbiol Rev, 1989.
   2 Suppl: p. S112-7.
- 123. Ward, M.E., P.J. Watt, and A.A. Glynn, *Gonococci in urethral exudates possess a virulence factor lost on subculture*. Nature, 1970. **227**(5256): p. 382-4.
- 124. Ram, S., et al., *The contrasting mechanisms of serum resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae and group B Neisseria meningitidis.* Mol Immunol, 1999. **36**(13-14): p. 915-28.
- 125. Fujita, T., I. Gigli, and V. Nussenzweig, *Human C4-binding protein. II. Role in proteolysis of C4b by C3b-inactivator.* J Exp Med, 1978. **148**(4): p. 1044-51.
- 126. Gigli, I., T. Fujita, and V. Nussenzweig, *Modulation of the classical pathway C3 convertase by plasma proteins C4 binding protein and C3b inactivator*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1979. **76**(12): p. 6596-600.
- 127. Bettoni, S., et al., *C4BP-IgM protein as a therapeutic approach to treat Neisseria gonorrhoeae infections.* JCI Insight, 2019. **4**(23).

- 128. Johnson, M.B. and A.K. Criss, *Resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae to neutrophils*. Front Microbiol, 2011. **2**: p. 77.
- 129. Borregaard, N., Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes. Immunity, 2010. 33(5): p. 657-70.
- 130. Ramsey, K.H., et al., *Inflammatory cytokines produced in response to experimental human gonorrhea*. J Infect Dis, 1995. **172**(1): p. 186-91.
- 131. Groves, E., et al., *Molecular mechanisms of phagocytic uptake in mammalian cells*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2008. **65**(13): p. 1957-76.
- 132. Schmitter, T., et al., *Granulocyte CEACAM3 is a phagocytic receptor of the innate immune system that mediates recognition and elimination of human-specific pathogens.* J Exp Med, 2004. **199**(1): p. 35-46.
- 133. Sarantis, H. and S.D. Gray-Owen, *The specific innate immune receptor CEACAM3 triggers neutrophil bactericidal activities via a Syk kinase-dependent pathway.* Cell Microbiol, 2007. **9**(9): p. 2167-80.
- 134. Lewis, L.A., et al., *Phosphoethanolamine substitution of lipid A and resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae to cationic antimicrobial peptides and complement-mediated killing by normal human serum.* Infect Immun, 2009. 77(3): p. 1112-20.
- 135. Shafer, W.M., V.C. Onunka, and L.E. Martin, *Antigonococcal activity of human neutrophil cathepsin G.* Infect Immun, 1986. **54**(1): p. 184-8.
- 136. Warner, D.M., W.M. Shafer, and A.E. Jerse, *Clinically relevant mutations that cause derepression of the Neisseria gonorrhoeae MtrC-MtrD-MtrE Efflux pump system confer different levels of antimicrobial resistance and in vivo fitness.* Mol Microbiol, 2008. **70**(2): p. 462-78.
- 137. Rice, P.A. and D.L. Kasper, *Characterization of gonococcal antigens responsible for induction of bactericidal antibody in disseminated infection.* J Clin Invest, 1977. **60**(5): p. 1149-58.
- Stead, A., et al., Studies on lipopolysaccharides isolated from strains of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. J Gen Microbiol, 1975. 88(1): p. 123-31.
- 139. Zhou, D., et al., *Lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis in pathogenic Neisseria. Cloning, identification, and characterization of the phosphoglucomutase gene.* J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(15): p. 11162-9.
- 140. Petricoin, E.F., 3rd, R.J. Danaher, and D.C. Stein, *Analysis of the lsi region involved in lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis in Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* J Bacteriol, 1991. **173**(24): p. 7896-902.
- 141. Gibson, B.W., et al., Investigation of the structural heterogeneity of lipooligosaccharides from pathogenic Haemophilus and Neisseria species and of R-type lipopolysaccharides from Salmonella typhimurium by electrospray mass spectrometry. J Bacteriol, 1993. **175**(9): p. 2702-12.
- 142. Gotschlich, E.C., *Genetic locus for the biosynthesis of the variable portion of Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide*. J Exp Med, 1994. **180**(6): p. 2181-90.
- 143. Kahler, C.M., et al., *Two glycosyltransferase genes, lgtF and rfaK, constitute the lipooligosaccharide ice (inner core extension) biosynthesis operon of Neisseria meningitidis.* J Bacteriol, 1996. 178(23): p. 6677-84.

- 144. John, C.M., et al., *The structural basis for pyocin resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharides.* J Biol Chem, 1991. **266**(29): p. 19303-11.
- 145. Yamasaki, R., et al., *Structural and immunochemical characterization of a Neisseria gonorrhoeae* epitope defined by a monoclonal antibody 2C7; the antibody recognizes a conserved epitope on specific lipo-oligosaccharides in spite of the presence of human carbohydrate epitopes. J Biol Chem, 1999. **274**(51): p. 36550-8.
- 146. Jennings, M.P., et al., *Molecular analysis of a locus for the biosynthesis and phase-variable expression* of the lacto-N-neotetraose terminal lipopolysaccharide structure in Neisseria meningitidis. Mol Microbiol, 1995. **18**(4): p. 729-40.
- 147. Danaher, R.J., et al., *Genetic basis of Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide antigenic variation*. J Bacteriol, 1995. **177**(24): p. 7275-9.
- Yang, Q.L. and E.C. Gotschlich, Variation of gonococcal lipooligosaccharide structure is due to alterations in poly-G tracts in lgt genes encoding glycosyl transferases. J Exp Med, 1996. 183(1): p. 323-7.
- 149. Banerjee, A., et al., Identification of the gene (lgtG) encoding the lipooligosaccharide beta chain synthesizing glucosyl transferase from Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998.
  95(18): p. 10872-7.
- 150. Mandrell, R., et al., *Antigenic and physical diversity of Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharides*. Infect Immun, 1986. **54**(1): p. 63-9.
- 151. Schneider, H., et al., *Instability of expression of lipooligosaccharides and their epitopes in Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun, 1988. **56**(4): p. 942-6.
- 152. Schneider, H., et al., *Expression of paragloboside-like lipooligosaccharides may be a necessary component of gonococcal pathogenesis in men.* J Exp Med, 1991. **174**(6): p. 1601-5.
- 153. Apicella, M.A., et al., Monoclonal antibody analysis of lipopolysaccharide from Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Neisseria meningitidis. Infect Immun, 1981. **34**(3): p. 751-6.
- 154. Mandrell, R.E., J.M. Griffiss, and B.A. Macher, *Lipooligosaccharides (LOS) of Neisseria* gonorrhoeae and Neisseria meningitidis have components that are immunochemically similar to precursors of human blood group antigens. Carbohydrate sequence specificity of the mouse monoclonal antibodies that recognize crossreacting antigens on LOS and human erythrocytes. J Exp Med, 1988. **168**(1): p. 107-26.
- 155. Zollinger, W.D., et al., *Phase I study of a Neisseria meningitidis liposomal vaccine containing purified outer membrane proteins and detoxified lipooligosaccharide.* Vaccine, 2012. **30**(4): p. 712-21.
- 156. Perez-Vilar, S., et al., Safety surveillance of meningococcal group B vaccine (Bexsero®), Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System, 2015-2018. Vaccine, 2022. 40(2): p. 247-254.
- 157. Zollinger, W.D. and R.E. Mandrell, *Importance of complement source in bactericidal activity of human antibody and murine monoclonal antibody to meningococcal group B polysaccharide*. Infect Immun, 1983. **40**(1): p. 257-64.

- 158. Schneider, H., et al., *Heterogeneity of molecular size and antigenic expression within lipooligosaccharides of individual strains of Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Neisseria meningitidis.* Infect Immun, 1984. **45**(3): p. 544-9.
- 159. Schneider, H., et al., *Elaboration of a 3.6-kilodalton lipooligosaccharide, antibody against which is absent from human sera, is associated with serum resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* Infect Immun, 1985. **50**(3): p. 672-7.
- 160. Gulati, S., et al., *Immunogenicity of Neisseria gonorrhoeae Lipooligosaccharide Epitope 2C7, Widely Expressed In Vivo with No Immunochemical Similarity to Human Glycosphingolipids.* The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 1996. **174**(6): p. 1223-1237.
- Chakraborti, S., et al., *Phase-Variable Heptose I Glycan Extensions Modulate Efficacy of 2C7 Vaccine* Antibody Directed against Neisseria gonorrhoeae Lipooligosaccharide. J Immunol, 2016. 196(11): p. 4576-86.
- 162. Ram, S., et al., *A Novel Sialylation Site on Neisseria gonorrhoeae Lipooligosaccharide Links Heptose II Lactose Expression with Pathogenicity.* Infect Immun, 2018. **86**(8).
- 163. Kogan, G., et al., *Structural basis of the Neisseria meningitidis immunotypes including the L4 and L7 immunotypes.* Carbohydr Res, 1997. **298**(3): p. 191-9.
- 164. Rahman, M.M., et al., The lipooligosaccharide (LOS) of Neisseria meningitidis serogroup B strain NMB contains L2, L3, and novel oligosaccharides, and lacks the lipid-A 4'-phosphate substituent. Carbohydr Res, 1998. 307(3-4): p. 311-24.
- 165. Gulati, S., et al., *Immunization against a Saccharide Epitope Accelerates Clearance of Experimental Gonococcal Infection*. PLOS Pathogens, 2013. **9**(8): p. e1003559.
- 166. Gulati, S., et al., *Properdin Is Critical for Antibody-Dependent Bactericidal Activity against Neisseria gonorrhoeae That Recruit C4b-Binding Protein*. The Journal of Immunology, 2012. **188**(7): p. 3416-3425.
- 167. Gulati, S., et al., *Complement alone drives efficacy of a chimeric antigonococcal monoclonal antibody*. PLOS Biology, 2019. **17**(6): p. e3000323.
- Parzych, E.M., et al., Synthetic DNA Delivery of an Optimized and Engineered Monoclonal Antibody Provides Rapid and Prolonged Protection against Experimental Gonococcal Infection. mBio, 2021. 12(2).
- 169. Ngampasutadol, J., et al., *Characterization of a peptide vaccine candidate mimicking an oligosaccharide epitope of Neisseria gonorrhoeae and resultant immune responses and function.* Vaccine, 2006. **24**(2): p. 157-70.
- 170. Lewis, L.A., et al., *Efficacy of an Experimental Gonococcal Lipooligosaccharide Mimitope Vaccine Requires Terminal Complement.* J Infect Dis, 2022. **225**(10): p. 1861-1864.
- 171. McLaughlin, S.E., et al., *Urethral exudates of men with Neisseria gonorrhoeae infections select a restricted lipooligosaccharide phenotype during transmission.* J Infect Dis, 2012. **206**(8): p. 1227-32.

- 172. van Vliet, S.J., et al., Variation of Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide directs dendritic cellinduced T helper responses. PLoS Pathog, 2009. **5**(10): p. e1000625.
- 173. Balthazar, J.T., et al., *Lipooligosaccharide Structure is an Important Determinant in the Resistance of Neisseria Gonorrhoeae to Antimicrobial Agents of Innate Host Defense*. Front Microbiol, 2011. 2: p. 30.
- 174. Song, W., et al., *Role of lipooligosaccharide in Opa-independent invasion of Neisseria gonorrhoeae into human epithelial cells.* J Exp Med, 2000. **191**(6): p. 949-60.
- 175. Schneider, H., et al., *Experimental Human Gonococcal Urethritis: 250 Neisseria gonorrhoeae MS11mkC Are Infective.* The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 1995. **172**(1): p. 180-185.
- 176. Chakraborti, S., et al., Bypassing Phase Variation of Lipooligosaccharide (LOS): Using Heptose 1 Glycan Mutants To Establish Widespread Efficacy of Gonococcal Anti-LOS Monoclonal Antibody 2C7. Infect Immun, 2020. 88(2).
- 177. Shell, D.M., et al., *The Neisseria lipooligosaccharide-specific alpha-2,3-sialyltransferase is a surfaceexposed outer membrane protein.* Infect Immun, 2002. **70**(7): p. 3744-51.
- 178. Martin, P.M., et al., *Induction in gonococci of phenotypic resistance to killing by human serum by human genital secretions.* Br J Vener Dis, 1982. **58**(6): p. 363-5.
- 179. Smith, H., J.A. Cole, and N.J. Parsons, *The sialylation of gonococcal lipopolysaccharide by host factors: a major impact on pathogenicity.* FEMS Microbiol Lett, 1992. **100**(1-3): p. 287-92.
- 180. Nairn, C.A., et al., Cytidine 5'-monophospho-N-acetylneuraminic acid or a related compound is the low Mr factor from human red blood cells which induces gonococcal resistance to killing by human serum. J Gen Microbiol, 1988. 134(12): p. 3295-306.
- 181. McGee, D.J. and R.F. Rest, *Regulation of gonococcal sialyltransferase, lipooligosaccharide, and serum resistance by glucose, pyruvate, and lactate.* Infect Immun, 1996. **64**(11): p. 4630-7.
- 182. Parsons, N.J., et al., Lactate enhancement of sialylation of gonococcal lipopolysaccharide and of induction of serum resistance by CMP-NANA is not due to direct activation of the sialyltransferase: metabolic events are involved. Microb Pathog, 1996. **21**(3): p. 193-204.
- Parsons, N.J., et al., Lactic acid is the factor in blood cell extracts which enhances the ability of CMP-NANA to sialylate gonococcal lipopolysaccharide and induce serum resistance. Microb Pathog, 1996.
   20(2): p. 87-100.
- 184. Regan, T., et al., Regulation of the lipopolysaccharide-specific sialyltransferase activity of gonococci by the growth state of the bacteria, but not by carbon source, catabolite repression or oxygen supply. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek, 1999. 75(4): p. 369-79.
- 185. Ingwer, I., B.H. Petersen, and G. Brooks, *Serum bactericidal action and activation of the classic and alternate complement pathways by Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Lab Clin Med, 1978. **92**(2): p. 211-20.
- 186. Gulati, S., et al., *Antibody to reduction modifiable protein increases the bacterial burden and the duration of gonococcal infection in a mouse model.* J Infect Dis, 2015. **212**(2): p. 311-5.

- 187. Elkins, C., et al., Antibodies to N-terminal peptides of gonococcal porin are bactericidal when gonococcal lipopolysaccharide is not sialylated. Mol Microbiol, 1992. **6**(18): p. 2617-28.
- 188. Estabrook, M.M., et al., *Mannose-binding lectin binds to two major outer membrane proteins, opacity protein and porin, of Neisseria meningitidis.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(6): p. 3784-92.
- 189. Gulati, S., et al., *Regulation of the mannan-binding lectin pathway of complement on Neisseria gonorrhoeae by C1-inhibitor and alpha 2-macroglobulin.* J Immunol, 2002. **168**(8): p. 4078-86.
- 190. Gulati, S., et al., Enhanced factor H binding to sialylated Gonococci is restricted to the sialylated lacto-N-neotetraose lipooligosaccharide species: implications for serum resistance and evidence for a bifunctional lipooligosaccharide sialyltransferase in Gonococci. Infect Immun, 2005. **73**(11): p. 7390-7.
- 191. Gulati, S., et al., *Targeting Lipooligosaccharide (LOS) for a Gonococcal Vaccine*. Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 321.
- 192. Lewis, L.A., et al., *Defining targets for complement components C4b and C3b on the pathogenic neisseriae.* Infect Immun, 2008. **76**(1): p. 339-50.
- 193. Rest, R.F., et al., Interactions of Neisseria gonorrhoeae with human neutrophils: effects of serum and gonococcal opacity on phagocyte killing and chemiluminescence. Infect Immun, 1982. 36(2): p. 737-44.
- 194. Kim, J.J., et al., *Effect of exogenous sialylation of the lipooligosaccharide of Neisseria gonorrhoeae on opsonophagocytosis.* Infect Immun, 1992. **60**(10): p. 4439-42.
- 195. Rest, R.F. and J.V. Frangipane, *Growth of Neisseria gonorrhoeae in CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid inhibits nonopsonic (opacity-associated outer membrane protein-mediated) interactions with human neutrophils.* Infect Immun, 1992. **60**(3): p. 989-97.
- 196. Gill, M.J., et al., *Functional characterization of a sialyltransferase-deficient mutant of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun, 1996. **64**(8): p. 3374-8.
- 197. Jarvis, G.A., Analysis of C3 deposition and degradation on Neisseria meningitidis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Infect Immun, 1994. **62**(5): p. 1755-60.
- 198. van Putten, J.P., *Phase variation of lipopolysaccharide directs interconversion of invasive and immuno-resistant phenotypes of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Embo j, 1993. **12**(11): p. 4043-51.
- 199. Apicella, M.A., et al., *Modification by sialic acid of Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide epitope expression in human urethral exudates: an immunoelectron microscopic analysis.* J Infect Dis, 1990. **162**(2): p. 506-12.
- 200. Wu, H. and A.E. Jerse, *Alpha-2,3-sialyltransferase enhances Neisseria gonorrhoeae survival during experimental murine genital tract infection.* Infect Immun, 2006. **74**(7): p. 4094-103.
- 201. Lewis, L.A., et al.,  $\alpha$ -2,3-sialyltransferase expression level impacts the kinetics of lipooligosaccharide sialylation, complement resistance, and the ability of Neisseria gonorrhoeae to colonize the murine genital tract. mBio, 2015. **6**(1).

- 202. Schneider, H., et al., *Sialylation lessens the infectivity of Neisseria gonorrhoeae MS11mkC*. J Infect Dis, 1996. **173**(6): p. 1422-7.
- 203. Ketterer, M.R., et al., Desialylation of Neisseria gonorrhoeae Lipooligosaccharide by Cervicovaginal Microbiome Sialidases: The Potential for Enhancing Infectivity in Men. J Infect Dis, 2016. 214(11): p. 1621-1628.
- 204. Jones, C., M. Virji, and P.R. Crocker, *Recognition of sialylated meningococcal lipopolysaccharide by siglecs expressed on myeloid cells leads to enhanced bacterial uptake.* Mol Microbiol, 2003. **49**(5): p. 1213-25.
- 205. Greiner, L.L., et al., *Biofilm Formation by Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun, 2005. **73**(4): p. 1964-70.
- 206. Eyre, J.H. and B. Stewart, *THE TREATMENT OF GONOCOCCUS INFECTIONS BY VACCINES*. The Lancet, 1909. **174**(4480): p. 76-81.
- 207. Greenberg, L., et al., *Gonococcal vaccine studies in Inuvik*. Can J Public Health, 1974. **65**(1): p. 29-33.
- Boslego, J.W., et al., *Efficacy trial of a parenteral gonococcal pilus vaccine in men.* Vaccine, 1991.
   9(3): p. 154-162.
- 209. Tramont, E.C., Gonococcal vaccines. Clin Microbiol Rev, 1989. 2 Suppl(Suppl): p. S74-7.
- 210. Rice, P.A., et al., *Neisseria gonorrhoeae: Drug Resistance, Mouse Models, and Vaccine Development.* Annu Rev Microbiol, 2017. **71**: p. 665-686.
- 211. Gottlieb, S.L., et al., *The global roadmap for advancing development of vaccines against sexually transmitted infections: Update and next steps.* Vaccine, 2016. **34**(26): p. 2939-2947.
- 212. Vincent, L.R. and A.E. Jerse, *Biological feasibility and importance of a gonorrhea vaccine for global public health.* Vaccine, 2019. **37**(50): p. 7419-7426.
- 213. Rice, P.A., et al., *Immunoglobulin G antibodies directed against protein III block killing of serum*resistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae by immune serum. J Exp Med, 1986. **164**(5): p. 1735-48.
- 214. Ram, S., et al., *Binding of C4b-binding protein to porin: a molecular mechanism of serum resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae.* J Exp Med, 2001. **193**(3): p. 281-95.
- 215. Liu, Y., N.K. Egilmez, and M.W. Russell, *Enhancement of adaptive immunity to Neisseria* gonorrhoeae by local intravaginal administration of microencapsulated interleukin 12. J Infect Dis, 2013. **208**(11): p. 1821-9.
- 216. Liu, Y., et al., *Experimental vaccine induces Th1-driven immune responses and resistance to Neisseria gonorrhoeae infection in a murine model*. Mucosal Immunol, 2017. **10**(6): p. 1594-1608.
- 217. Liu, Y., et al., Intravaginal Administration of Interleukin 12 during Genital Gonococcal Infection in Mice Induces Immunity to Heterologous Strains of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. mSphere, 2018. **3**(1).

- 218. Gulati, S., et al., *Preclinical Efficacy of a Lipooligosaccharide Peptide Mimic Candidate Gonococcal Vaccine*. mBio, 2019. **10**(6).
- 219. Gala, R.P., et al., Novel Whole-Cell Inactivated Neisseria Gonorrhoeae Microparticles as Vaccine Formulation in Microneedle-Based Transdermal Immunization. Vaccines (Basel), 2018. **6**(3).
- 220. Jiao, H., et al., *Design and immune characterization of a novel Neisseria gonorrhoeae DNA vaccine using bacterial ghosts as vector and adjuvant.* Vaccine, 2018. **36**(30): p. 4532-4539.
- 221. Wang, L., et al., *Structure-based design of ferritin nanoparticle immunogens displaying antigenic loops of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. FEBS Open Bio, 2017. **7**(8): p. 1196-1207.
- 222. Kanekiyo, M., et al., *Self-assembling influenza nanoparticle vaccines elicit broadly neutralizing H1N1 antibodies*. Nature, 2013. **499**(7456): p. 102-6.
- 223. Kanekiyo, M., et al., *Rational Design of an Epstein-Barr Virus Vaccine Targeting the Receptor-Binding Site*. Cell, 2015. **162**(5): p. 1090-100.
- Tinsley, C.R. and X. Nassif, Analysis of the genetic differences between Neisseria meningitidis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae: two closely related bacteria expressing two different pathogenicities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1996. 93(20): p. 11109-11114.
- 225. Jen, F.E., et al., *The Neisseria gonorrhoeae Methionine Sulfoxide Reductase (MsrA/B) Is a Surface Exposed, Immunogenic, Vaccine Candidate.* Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 137.
- 226. Registry, A.N.Z.C.T.R. Identifier ACTRN12619001478101. MenGO: Does the Licensed Meningococcal Vaccine Bexsero®Provide Cross-Protection against Gonorrhoea in Gay and Bisexual Men? 25 October 2019 [cited 5 September 2022]; Available from: https://www.anzctr.org.au/ACTRN12619001478101.aspx
- 227. ClinicalTrials.gov. Identifier NCT04415424. Efficacy Study of 4CMenB (Bexsero®) to Prevent Gonorrhoea Infection in Gay and Bisexual Men (GoGoVax). 4 June 2020 [cited 5 September 2022]; Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT04415424
- 228. ClinicalTrials.gov. Identifier NCT04398849. Immunisation for Adolescents against Serious Communicable Diseases (B Part of it NT). 21 May 2020 [cited 5 September 2022]; Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT04398849
- 229. Kulkarni, H.M. and M.V. Jagannadham, *Biogenesis and multifaceted roles of outer membrane vesicles from Gram-negative bacteria*. Microbiology, 2014. **160**(10): p. 2109-2121.
- 230. Kuehn, M., J., and Kesty ,N., C., *Bacterial outer membrane vesicles and the host-pathogen interaction*. GENES & DEVELOPMENT 2015. **19**: p. 2645-2655.
- 231. Ferrari, G., et al., Outer membrane vesicles from group B Neisseria meningitidis delta gna33 mutant: proteomic and immunological comparison with detergent-derived outer membrane vesicles. Proteomics, 2006. 6(6): p. 1856-66.
- 232. Berlanda Scorza, F., et al., *High yield production process for Shigella outer membrane particles*. PLoS One, 2012. 7(6): p. e35616.

- 233. Rossi, O., et al., *Modulation of endotoxicity of Shigella generalized modules for membrane antigens* (GMMA) by genetic lipid A modifications: relative activation of TLR4 and TLR2 pathways in different mutants. J Biol Chem, 2014. **289**(36): p. 24922-35.
- 234. Bernadac, A., et al., *Escherichia coli tol-pal Mutants Form Outer Membrane Vesicles*. Journal of Bacteriology 1998. **180**: p. 4872-4878.
- 235. Kis, Z., et al., *Emerging Technologies for Low-Cost, Rapid Vaccine Manufacture*. Biotechnol J, 2019. **14**(7): p. 1-2.
- 236. Micoli, F., et al., *Comparative immunogenicity and efficacy of equivalent outer membrane vesicle and glycoconjugate vaccines against nontyphoidal Salmonella*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2018. 115(41): p. 10428-10433.
- De Benedetto, G., et al., Characterization of O-antigen delivered by Generalized Modules for Membrane Antigens (GMMA) vaccine candidates against nontyphoidal Salmonella. Vaccine, 2017. 35(3): p. 419-426.
- 238. Gerke, C., et al., Production of a Shigella sonnei Vaccine Based on Generalized Modules for Membrane Antigens (GMMA), 1790GAHB. PLoS One, 2015. 10(8): p. e0134478.
- 239. Schager, A.E., et al., *IgG Responses to Porins and Lipopolysaccharide within an Outer Membrane-Based Vaccine against Nontyphoidal Salmonella Develop at Discordant Rates.* mBio, 2018. **9**(2).
- 240. Koeberling, O., et al., A broadly-protective vaccine against meningococcal disease in sub-Saharan Africa based on generalized modules for membrane antigens (GMMA). Vaccine, 2014. **32**(23): p. 2688-95.
- 241. van der Pol, L., M. Stork, and P. van der Ley, *Outer membrane vesicles as platform vaccine technology*. Biotechnol J, 2015. **10**(11): p. 1689-706.
- 242. Mancini, F., et al., *OMV Vaccines and the Role of TLR Agonists in Immune Response*. Int J Mol Sci, 2020. **21**(12).
- 243. Zepp, F., Principles of vaccine design-Lessons from nature. Vaccine, 2010. 28 Suppl 3: p. C14-24.
- 244. Rossi, O., F. Citiulo, and F. Mancini, *Outer membrane vesicles: moving within the intricate labyrinth of assays that can predict risks of reactogenicity in humans.* Hum Vaccin Immunother, 2020: p. 1-13.
- 245. Seydel, U., et al., *Intrinsic conformation of lipid A is responsible for agonistic and antagonistic activity*. Eur J Biochem, 2000. **267**(10): p. 3032-9.
- 246. Schromm, A.B., et al., *Biological activities of lipopolysaccharides are determined by the shape of their lipid A portion*. Eur J Biochem, 2000. **267**(7): p. 2008-13.
- 247. Rietschel, E.T., et al., *Bacterial endotoxin: molecular relationships of structure to activity and function*. Faseb j, 1994. **8**(2): p. 217-25.
- 248. Weynants, V., et al., Genetically modified L3,7 and L2 lipooligosaccharides from Neisseria meningitidis serogroup B confer a broad cross-bactericidal response. Infect Immun, 2009. 77(5): p. 2084-93.

- 249. van de Waterbeemd, B., et al., *Improved OMV vaccine against Neisseria meningitidis using genetically engineered strains and a detergent-free purification process.* Vaccine, 2010. **28**(30): p. 4810-6.
- van der Ley, P., et al., Modification of lipid A biosynthesis in Neisseria meningitidis lpxL mutants: influence on lipopolysaccharide structure, toxicity, and adjuvant activity. Infect Immun, 2001. 69(10): p. 5981-90.
- 251. Mehta, O.H., et al., Adjuvant effects elicited by novel oligosaccharide variants of detoxified meningococcal lipopolysaccharides on Neisseria meningitidis recombinant PorA protein: a comparison in mice. PLoS One, 2014. 9(12): p. e115713.
- Jones, H.E., et al., LOS oligosaccharide modification enhances dendritic cell responses to meningococcal native outer membrane vesicles expressing a non-toxic lipid A. Cell Microbiol, 2014. 16(4): p. 519-34.
- 253. Fisseha, M., et al., *Characterization of native outer membrane vesicles from lpxL mutant strains of Neisseria meningitidis for use in parenteral vaccination.* Infect Immun, 2005. **73**(7): p. 4070-80.
- 254. Rossi, O., et al., *Toll-Like Receptor Activation by Generalized Modules for Membrane Antigens from Lipid A Mutants of Salmonella enterica Serovars Typhimurium and Enteritidis*. Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2016. **23**(4): p. 304-14.
- 255. Leitner, D.R., et al., *A combined vaccine approach against Vibrio cholerae and ETEC based on outer membrane vesicles.* Front Microbiol, 2015. **6**: p. 823.
- 256. Leitner, D.R., et al., *Lipopolysaccharide modifications of a cholera vaccine candidate based on outer membrane vesicles reduce endotoxicity and reveal the major protective antigen*. Infect Immun, 2013.
   81(7): p. 2379-93.
- 257. Micoli, F., et al., *GMMA Is a Versatile Platform to Design Effective Multivalent Combination Vaccines*. Vaccines (Basel), 2020. **8**(3).
- 258. Bangham, A.D., M.M. Standish, and J.C. Watkins, *Diffusion of univalent ions across the lamellae of swollen phospholipids*. J Mol Biol, 1965. **13**(1): p. 238-52.
- Allison, A.G. and G. Gregoriadis, *Liposomes as immunological adjuvants*. Nature, 1974. 252(5480):
   p. 252.
- 260. Wang, N., M. Chen, and T. Wang, *Liposomes used as a vaccine adjuvant-delivery system: From basics to clinical immunization.* J Control Release, 2019. **303**: p. 130-150.
- 261. Bozzuto, G. and A. Molinari, *Liposomes as nanomedical devices*. Int J Nanomedicine, 2015. **10**: p. 975-99.
- 262. Aldosari, B.N., I.M. Alfagih, and A.S. Almurshedi, *Lipid Nanoparticles as Delivery Systems for RNA-Based Vaccines*. Pharmaceutics, 2021. **13**(2).
- 263. Chatzikleanthous, D., D.T. O'Hagan, and R. Adamo, *Lipid-Based Nanoparticles for Delivery of Vaccine Adjuvants and Antigens: Toward Multicomponent Vaccines.* Mol Pharm, 2021. **18**(8): p. 2867-2888.

- 264. Shah, S., et al., *Liposomes: Advancements and innovation in the manufacturing process.* Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2020. **154-155**: p. 102-122.
- 265. Jahn, A., et al., *Microfluidic directed formation of liposomes of controlled size*. Langmuir, 2007.
   23(11): p. 6289-93.
- 266. Mistretta, N., et al., Improvement of immunogenicity of meningococcal lipooligosaccharide by coformulation with lipidated transferrin-binding protein B in liposomes: implications for vaccine development. Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2012. **19**(5): p. 711-22.
- 267. Rotman, E. and H.S. Seifert, *The Genetics of Neisseria Species*. Annual Review of Genetics, 2014.
   48(1): p. 405-431.
- 268. Rice, P.A., et al., Immunoglobulin G antibodies directed against protein III block killing of serumresistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae by immune serum. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1986. 164(5): p. 1735-1748.
- 269. Densen, P., S. Gulati, and P.A. Rice, *Specificity of antibodies against Neisseria gonorrhoeae that stimulate neutrophil chemotaxis. Role of antibodies directed against lipooligosaccharides.* The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1987. **80**(1): p. 78-87.
- 270. Apicella, M.A., et al., *Bactericidal antibody response of normal human serum to the lipooligosaccharide of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Infect Dis, 1986. **153**(3): p. 520-6.
- 271. Schmidt, K.A., et al., *Experimental Gonococcal Urethritis and Reinfection with Homologous Gonococci in Male Volunteers*. Sexually Transmitted Diseases, 2001. **28**(10): p. 555-564.
- 272. Wolfgang, M., et al., Components and dynamics of fiber formation define a ubiquitous biogenesis pathway for bacterial pili. Embo j, 2000. **19**(23): p. 6408-18.
- 273. Sambrook J, F.E., Maniatis T, *Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1989. **2nd ed**.
- 274. Klock, H.E. and S.A. Lesley, *The Polymerase Incomplete Primer Extension (PIPE) method applied to high-throughput cloning and site-directed mutagenesis.* Methods Mol Biol, 2009. **498**: p. 91-103.
- 275. Dillard, J.P., *Genetic Manipulation of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Curr Protoc Microbiol, 2011. Chapter
  4: p. Unit4A.2.
- 276. MacGee, J. and M. Doudoroff, *A NEW PHOSPHORYLATED INTERMEDIATE IN GLUCOSE OXIDATION*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1954. **210**(2): p. 617-626.
- 277. Micoli, F., et al., *O:2-CRM197 Conjugates against Salmonella Paratyphi A*. PLOS ONE, 2012. 7(11): p. e47039.
- 278. McLeod Griffiss, J., et al., *Structural relationships and sialylation among meningococcal L1, L8, and L3,7 lipooligosaccharide serotypes.* J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(13): p. 9716-24.
- 279. Dudas, K.C. and M.A. Apicella, *Selection and immunochemical analysis of lipooligosaccharide mutants of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infection and Immunity, 1988. **56**(2): p. 499-504.
- De Benedetto, G., et al., Multiple Techniques for Size Determination of Generalized Modules for Membrane Antigens from Salmonella typhimurium and Salmonella enteritidis. ACS Omega, 2017. 2(11): p. 8282-8289.
- 281. Yamasaki, R., et al., *The structure of lipooligosaccharide produced by Neisseria gonorrhoeae, strain* 15253, isolated from a patient with disseminated infection. Evidence for a new glycosylation pathway of the gonococcal lipooligosaccharide. J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(48): p. 30345-51.
- 282. Koeberling, O., A. Seubert, and D.M. Granoff, *Bactericidal antibody responses elicited by a meningococcal outer membrane vesicle vaccine with overexpressed factor H-binding protein and genetically attenuated endotoxin.* J Infect Dis, 2008. **198**(2): p. 262-70.
- 283. Zariri, A., et al., *Meningococcal Outer Membrane Vesicle Composition-Dependent Activation of the Innate Immune Response.* Infect Immun, 2016. **84**(10): p. 3024-33.
- 284. Hellum, M., et al., *The Neisseria meningitidis lpxL1 mutant induces less tissue factor expression and activity in primary human monocytes and monocyte-derived microvesicles than the wild type meningococcus.* Innate Immun, 2017. **23**(2): p. 196-205.
- 285. John, C.M., et al., *Lack of Lipid A Pyrophosphorylation and Functional lptA Reduces Inflammation by Neisseria Commensals.* Infection and Immunity, 2012. **80**(11): p. 4014-4026.
- Braun, D.C. and D.C. Stein, *The lgtABCDE gene cluster, involved in lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis in Neisseria gonorrhoeae, contains multiple promoter sequences.* J Bacteriol, 2004. 186(4): p. 1038-49.
- 287. Burch, C.L., R.J. Danaher, and D.C. Stein, *Antigenic variation in Neisseria gonorrhoeae: production of multiple lipooligosaccharides.* J Bacteriol, 1997. **179**(3): p. 982-6.
- 288. Piekarowicz, A. and D.C. Stein, *Biochemical properties of Neisseria gonorrhoeae LgtE*. J Bacteriol, 2002. **184**(23): p. 6410-6.
- 289. Petrov, A.B., et al., *Toxicity and immunogenicity of Neisseria meningitidis lipopolysaccharide incorporated into liposomes.* Infect Immun, 1992. **60**(9): p. 3897-903.
- 290. Petrov, A.B., et al., *Non-specific modulation of the immune response with liposomal meningococcal lipopolysaccharide: role of different cells and cytokines.* Vaccine, 1994. **12**(12): p. 1064-70.
- 291. Zakirov, M.M., et al., [The immunological activity of Neisseria meningitidis lipo-oligosaccharide incorporated into liposomes]. Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol, 1995(1): p. 49-53.
- 292. Joshi, S., et al., *Microfluidics based manufacture of liposomes simultaneously entrapping hydrophilic and lipophilic drugs*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2016. **514**(1): p. 160-168.
- 293. Guimarães Sá Correia, M., et al., *Microfluidic manufacturing of phospholipid nanoparticles: Stability, encapsulation efficacy, and drug release.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2017. **516**(1): p. 91-99.
- 294. Chatzikleanthous, D., et al., *Synthesis of protein conjugates adsorbed on cationic liposomes surface*. MethodsX, 2020. 7: p. 100942.

- 295. Sessa, G. and G. Weissmann, *Phospholipid spherules (liposomes) as a model for biological membranes.* J Lipid Res, 1968. **9**(3): p. 310-8.
- 296. Goswami, R., et al., Conjugation of Mannans to Enhance the Potency of Liposome Nanoparticles for the Delivery of RNA Vaccines. Pharmaceutics, 2021. 13(2).
- 297. Ellis, C.D., et al., *The Neisseria gonorrhoeae lpxLII gene encodes for a late-functioning lauroyl acyl transferase, and a null mutation within the gene has a significant effect on the induction of acute inflammatory responses.* Mol Microbiol, 2001. **42**(1): p. 167-81.
- 298. Chhibber, S., S. Wadhwa, and V. Yadav, *Protective role of liposome incorporated lipopolysaccharide antigen of Klebsiella pneumoniae in a rat model of lobar pneumonia.* Jpn J Infect Dis, 2004. **57**(4): p. 150-5.
- 299. Desiderio, J.V. and S.G. Campbell, *Immunization against experimental murine salmonellosis with liposome-associated O-antigen*. Infect Immun, 1985. **48**(3): p. 658-63.
- 300. Guzman, C.A., et al., *Antibody responses in the serum and respiratory tract of mice following oral vaccination with liposomes coated with filamentous hemagglutinin and pertussis toxoid.* Infect Immun, 1993. **61**(2): p. 573-9.
- 301. Richards, R.L., et al., *Liposomes containing lipid A serve as an adjuvant for induction of antibody and cytotoxic T-cell responses against RTS,S malaria antigen.* Infect Immun, 1998. **66**(6): p. 2859-65.
- 302. Joshi, S., et al., *Microfluidics based manufacture of liposomes simultaneously entrapping hydrophilic and lipophilic drugs*. Int J Pharm, 2016. **514**(1): p. 160-168.
- 303. Panalytical, M. Liposomes and The Use of Zeta Potential Measurements to Study Sterically Stabilized Liposomes. 2019 [cited 11 november 2022]; Available from: https://www.azonano.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=1214.
- 304. Guimarães, D., et al., *Protective Effect of Saccharides on Freeze-Dried Liposomes Encapsulating Drugs*. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology, 2019. 7.
- 305. Gulati, S., et al., *Strategies for mimicking Neisserial saccharide epitopes as vaccines*. Int Rev Immunol, 2001. **20**(2): p. 229-50.

## DISCLAIMER

## TRANSPARENCY STATEMENT

This work was sponsored by GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals SA. Rossella Cuffaro is a PhD student at the University of Siena and partecipates in a post graduate studentship program at GSK, Siena, Italy.

## ANIMAL SAMPLES

All animal sera used in this study derived from mouse immunization experiments performed at the GSK Animal Facility in Siena, Italy, in compliance with the ARRIVE guidelines, the current Italian legislation on the care and use of animals in experimentation (Italian Legislative Decree 116/92) and consecutive ministerial newsletter (Circolare Ministeriale n.8 del 22 Aprile 1994), and with the GSK Animal Welfare Policy and Standards. The animal protocol was approved by the Animal Welfare Body of GSK Vaccines, Siena, Italy, and by the Italian Ministry of Health.

## AKNOWLEDGMENTS

Ringrazio il Dipartimento di Biotecnologie, Chimica e Farmacia dell'Università di Siena e GSK Vaccines per avermi dato la possibilità di intraprendere questo percorso di dottorato.

Un ringraziamento sincero ai miei relatori, il Professor Alessandro Donati, la Dottoressa Maria Rosaria Romano e il Dottor Filippo Carboni per avermi guidato e supportato nella realizzazione di questo progetto.

Infine, un ringraziamento speciale a tutte le persone che negli anni sono state coinvolte nel progetto dando il proprio contributo alla realizzazione dello stesso. In particolare la Dott.ssa Daniela Proietti, la Dott.ssa Maria Giuliani, il Dott. Giacomo Romagnoli, la Dott.ssa Giada Buffi e la Dott.ssa Giulia Brogioni e tutto il mio gruppo di ricerca.